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Accelerated digitalization  has become KMF’s natural response to COVID 
restrictions. In a short period of time, the pandemic has mobilized digital 
potential, giving our customers a new level of opportunity and comfort. 
During 2020-2021, the Company jump-started the implementation 
of many digital solutions, both for remote customer service and for 
interaction with employees. The society and people’s behavior patterns 
are changing all the time, and the digitalization of all business processes 
in KMF does not stop, either. Using the digitalization fruits, such as remote 
sales channels and digital services, will improve work efficiency, but also 
raises the issue of more thorough protection of IT processes and systems. 
Cyber-security is becoming another relevant issue, which, with the 
introduction of an increasing number of digital services, will be playing a 
bigger role.

Find more  about digitalization in KMF on page 20

CONTENTS

Key Performance Indicators 3

Landmark Events of 2021 5

Message from the CEO 6

1.0 ABOUT THE COMPANY 8
 ▼ About KMF MFI 9

 ▼ Business Model 10

 ▼ Operations 11

 ▼ Business Strategy 12

 ▼ Geographic Footprint 14

 ▼ History 15

2.0 SERVICE AND DIGITALIZATION 18

3.0 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 21

4.0 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 29

5.0 RISK MANAGEMENT 47

6.0 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 58 
 ▼ Personnel Management 59

 ▼ Charity and Sponsorship 63

 ▼ Environmental Policy 65

7.0 APPENDICES 66
 ▼ Audit Report 69

 ▼ Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 71

Addresses and Details 93
  

Scan
QR code
  

and get

additional

information

about the report



3
h t t p : / / w w w . kmf.kz Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

       

01. FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 

182.9bln  

147.6 154.3

DEBT SECURITIES 

10.37bln 

NET % INCOME

38.0bln 

33.4 32.5

LOAN PORTFOLIO

162.5bln 

134.8 136.2

AUTHORIZED CAPITAL

14.4bln 

14.4 14.4

LIABILITIES  

140.5bln  

111 106.8

NET PROFIT   

14bln 

12.7 11.1

2019

2019

2019 2019

2019

2019 20192020

2020

2020 2020

2020
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

       

02. RELATIVE 03. OPERATIONAL 04. SOCIAL 

ROA

8.5 

 

9% 7,2%

BRANCHES AND OUTLETS 

110 

 

110 110

STAFF

1,990 

 

1,960 1,811

ROE

30 

40.2% 27.2%

ACTIVE CLIENTS

230,091 

248,006 222,098 

NIM (interest margin)

25 

25% 22%

2019 2019 2019

2019 2019

2019

2020 2020 2020

2020 2020

2020
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LANDMARK EVENTS OF 2021

The company provided a grace period to 

SME clients for the period from April 1 to 

June 30, 2021.

April

KMF and Samsung signed a 

memorandum of cooperation in Almaty. 

KMF has acquired Knox Configure 

software, a cloud-based service that 

allows businesses to remotely configure 

and customize Samsung devices and 

quickly and easily adapts devices to 

specific business needs.

November

December

KMF held a “KMF Isker hanymy 2021” 

(“KMF Business Lady 2021”) competition 

for women entrepreneurs. More than 

1,000 applications were accepted, 

and during the selection process the 

number of categories was expanded 

from 5 to 14, and the prize fund was 

increased  to 3.9 million tenge.  

Fitch Ratings assigned KMF a long-term 

issuer default rating at ‘B+’, with stable 

outlook. KMF’s Long-Term National 

Rating from ‘BBB-(kaz)’, ‘Stable’ outlook.

June

The company launched car loans 

through the partner car dealerships and 

automated scoring of all applications 

from loan officers.

July

KMF entered the top 100 Best 

Employers in Kazakhstan. According 

to a study by Universum, the Swedish 

company, Kazakhstani students rated 

KMF as one of the best employers in 

2020. The Employer Attractiveness 

Survey is conducted in 50 countries, and 

its purpose is to assess the level of trust 

in organizations and the image of the 

largest companies in the employment 

market. This time, about 7 thousand 

students from 38 universities took part 

in the survey.

According to the survey results,  KMF 

came 60th in the “Business” category. In 

the rating of employers, our company 

outranked some major financial market 

players, such as the largest retail banks. 

Until 2023, KMF has an ambitious goal 

to get into the top 50 most attractive 

employers in Kazakhstan.

February

The results of the competition for 

children “Heritage of Abay” have been 

summed up. KMF-Demeu Fund and 

KMF MFI organized a large-scale online 

competition “Heritage of Abay” for 

children and teenagers from all regions 

of Kazakhstan. The main goal of the 

competition was to expand and deepen 

the knowledge of schoolchildren about 

the life and work of the great poet, 

to support schoolchildren during the 

pandemic and online learning, and to 

encourage them for self-development. 

Everyone could take part in any of four 

categories: “Abay’s childhood on canvas”, 

“Reading Abay”, “Songs of Abay”, and 

«Dedication to the poet”. In total, the 

online competition gathered more 

than 285 children and teenagers, aged 

6 to 18 years old, from different regions 

and cities of the country. The winners 

and nominees received valuable prizes 

and gifts: graphic tablets, artist’s kits, 

smartphones, headphones, as well as the 

masterwork of Kunanbayev, “Words of 

Edification”.

January

The company went public on the stock 

exchange.  As a result of two bond 

issues, KMF raised 10 billion tenge on 

the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (KASE) 

with a coupon rate of 13% and a maturity 

of two years.

September

The company signed an agreement 

with Kassa 24, thanks to which KMF 

customers can repay their loans without 

additional costs or fees..

December
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MESSAGE FROM

THE CEO

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, PARTNERS AND CLIENTS!

In the Kazakhstan market, KMF MFI is the largest company, the market 
leader with a wide range of microfinance products, serving entrepreneurs, 
including the SME sector, mainly in remote areas of the country.

The company successfully interacts with local and international lenders, 
including the world’s largest financial institutions, and acts as a provider of 
affordable financing for a large number of rural residents, self-employed 
people of Kazakhstan, thereby fulfilling a significant social mission 
to support and develop entrepreneurship, and create and maintain 
jobs. The company continues to succeed in the development of its 
business, providing customers with modern, high-quality and high-tech 
microfinance products.

In 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect the economy of 
Kazakhstan, hence, KMF and our clients – micro-entrepreneurs.

Even under the difficulties of 2021, KMF was ready to hold up against all 
challenges, having a motivated and experienced team, solid liquidity, a 
large capital buffer, rapidly developing digital tools and an adaptive HR 
policy. Thanks to systematic work and anti-crisis measures implemented 
in 2020-2021, KMF managed to stabilize its positions, but also to continue 
developing in all strategic areas, which helped KMF demonstrate strong 
financial and operational results in 2021.

FINANCIAL STABILITY

Despite the unstable economic situation in 2021, the Company’s net profit 
exceeded the 2020 figure by 27% to reach 35% of the total net profit of  
the entire MFI sector. This became possible thanks to the implementation 
of the strategy of digitalization of business processes and channels used 
to deliver financing to the final borrower. In 2021, the Company managed 
to ensure a rapid 19% growth of the portfolio in the context of a phased 
market recovery. The growth rate of the loan portfolio is due to the 
demand for KMF products. The company has increased its active client 
base to 230,000 people.

At the same time, we keep on improving our efficiency. Last year,  
the growth rate of income outstripped the growth rate of expenses.  
The yield of the loan portfolio increased by 1.2% compared to 2020. 
Another significant milestone for the Company was the listing on KASE, 
which resulted in a lower cost of funding.

Shalkar  

Zhussupov 

Chairman of the Management Board
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During the year, we were focused on monitoring the situation and 
supporting our customers. The company continued to provide repayment 
deferrals to those categories of customers who needed it. We have 
also implemented a program of subsidized micro-lending for women 
entrepreneurs, manufacturers and farmers who were affected by the 
drought in the summer.

Thanks to conservative decisions in previous periods, based on a 
balanced approach to risk-taking, the Company has proven itself as a 
reliable and stable enterprise. The share of NPLs decreased dramatically 
to 2.2%. The company has made a sufficient amount of provisions for 
expected credit losses.

In 2021, net interest income grew by 17%. It is noteworthy that NIM and 
interest spread have recovered to pre-pandemic levels (25% and 20%, 
accordingly).

The company maintains a high level of liquidity and financial 
sustainability. Prudential capital adequacy ratios k1 and k2 are more 
than twice the standards set by the National Bank of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan.

PANDEMIC CHALLENGES

In 2021, after the lifting of a number of restrictions and the weakening 
of quarantine, the financial stability of clients has increased significantly. 
The high adaptability of micro-entrepreneurs in this case proved to be a 
huge advantage. Nevertheless, KMF has been promptly responding to 
customer requests throughout the year. Without requesting state money, 

we have developed in-house measures to support our borrowers. We also 
refinanced the debts of a large pool of clients, subsidized up to half of the 
interest rate to certain categories of clients, and provided additional loans, 
if the clients needed it. Moreover, the company revised the terms of the 
programs every three months, trying to expand the number of eligible 
participants.

KMF fully participated in the governmental actions to support 
entrepreneurs and the general public. We have received thousands 
of requests for deferred payments, and in almost all cases it has been 
granted.

The company went on implementing the green financing project for its 
customers, who could purchase energy efficient equipment and get a 
cashback of 10% of the amount spent.

Last year, KMF also continued to successfully develop car lending in 
partnership with the largest car dealerships in Kazakhstan.

KMF is still in the process of its digital transformation, which started in 
2020 with the launch of a mobile application. In 2021, the app has been 
updated with improved design and expanded features.

We have moved to digital communication channels faster. This became 
possible, among other things, thanks to the efforts that the Company 
made as part of the strategic course for digitalization. Our IT team was 
fully prepared for this challenge. In particular, we have strengthened the 
operation of our call center, which switched to round-the-clock mode.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

In the face of increasing competition, KMF has focused on qualitative 
transformations as part of its long-term development strategy. The first 
priority of our strategy is to create a flexible system of first-class service. 
The second priority is to develop business processes. This includes, first 
of all, a bigger share of non-cash disbursements and repayments, the 
development of new products and additional services.

The third priority area of development for KMF is to improve distance sales 
and increase the share of online applications using biometrics technology

These strategic initiatives help maintain KMF’s leading position in the MFI 
market.

Shalkar 
Zhussupov

Chairman of the Management Board
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1.1 ABOUT KMF

KMF is the market leader and the largest microfinance institution in 
Kazakhstan that has successfully adapted to the economy of Kazakhstan, 
with a business model of a classic microfinance company focused on 
financing micro and small businesses, mainly in rural areas.

Since its founding in 1997, KMF has invested more than a trillion tenge in 
the economy of Kazakhstan, having disbursed more than 2 million loans, 
primarily in rural areas. KMF is internationally recognized as socially oriented 
entity acting in line with the client protection principles.

KMF has a developed a branch network (110 outlets across the country), 
and is also actively embedding elements typical of fintech companies in 
the relationship with its clients. 

The development of KMF would not have been possible without the support 
of reliable creditors. For many years the company has been cooperating with 
such international development institutions as IFC, EBRD, OeEB, SIFEM, 
Proparco, ADB, EIB.

Among the MIV (Microfinance Investment Vehicle) partners are well-known 
names from the world of microfinance: responsAbility, Triodos, Triple Jump, 
Incofin, DWM, BlueOrchard, Symbiotics, Frankfurt School.

Local financial institutions – Altyn Bank, Halyk Bank, ForteBank, as well as 
DAMU Entrepreneurship Fund – have also contributed to the development 
of KMF clients.

MISSION

The Best Microfinance for Your Prosperity.

To achieve coverage of target customers: representatives of micro-, small 
and agribusiness, applying the best microfinance practices: accumulated 
experience, methodology, services, customer service. 

Based on the top-notch microfinance practices, the company aims to 
develop a culture of the best microfinance services, increasing quality 
and diversity through continuous development, effective feedback and 
evaluation. In addition, by applying these practices, the company contributes 
to the prosperity of its clients. 

VISION

World Leader in Microfinance.

We strive to expand the boundaries of our activities in order to expand 
opportunities for our customers and employees.
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1.2 BUSINESS MODEL

LENDING LANDSCAPE LENDING PRINCIPLES

The company lends to its clients while observing seven principles of social 
lending.

7 principles of social lending

1. Appropriate product design and delivery (examining customer needs 
and “selling” loans correctly)

2. Prevention of over-indebtedness (assessment of debt service capacity 
and creditworthiness of the client)

3. Transparency (identification of all expenses of the client before 
disbursing a loan, correct familiarization with all the terms of the 
agreement)

4. Responsible pricing (setting the correct interest, which is affordable 
for the client and gives the stability of the company)

5. Fair and respectful treatment of clients (inadmissibility of violating the 
ethics of working with clients at all stages, including debt issues)

6. Privacy of client data (observance of the secrecy of microloan and 
privacy of personal data)

7. Mechanisms for complaint resolution (presence of a clear system: 
where to file complaints, how they are taken into account, considered, 
the timing and satisfaction of the client following the complaint 
resolution)

 Lending to SMEs for up to 

five years, up to 60 million 

tenge

 Consumer lending for up 

to five years, unsecured – 

up to 2 million tenge and 

secured – up to 10 million 

tenge

 Lending to micro-

entrepreneurs, including 

those engaged in 

agriculture, for up to five 

years, up to 10 million tenge

 Group lending  – unique 

product for the Kazakhstan 

market, for a group of 2 to 10 

people for up to five years, up 

to 6 million tenge for each 

group member

Green financing  for 

up to seven years, up to 

50 million tenge, for the 

purchase of energy-

efficient and energy-saving 

equipment, with the 

possibility of receiving a 

cashback of up to 10% of 

the microloan amount

 Online loans  in 15 

minutes in a mobile 

application for up to 3 

three years, up to 2 million 

tenge

 Car lending through the 

networks of leading car 

dealers in Kazakhstan

1

5 6 7

2 3 4
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1.3 OPERATIONS

MFI MARKET ANALYSIS

At the end of Q4 2021, there were 237 MFIs in the market. That being said, in 
2021, 33 companies were closed and 43 new MFIs were opened. KMF’s share 
in terms of the loan portfolio amounted to 22.43%; the company keeps the 
lead in the market. According to the results of 2021, KMF’s loan portfolio has 
grown by 18.5%, while the entire MFI sector demonstrated an increase of 
+65.8% for the same year.

MARKET TRENDS

 ▼ The expansion of the product range still remains a continuing trend 
in the local MFI market, following the formalization of additional types 
of activities in the current legislation of Kazakhstan. For example, MFIs 
are now entitled to operate as agents of an electronic money issuer, 
insurance companies and others.

 ▼ Changes in regulatory requirements for MFI market players that came 
into force in 2021:

- effective January 1, 2021, MFIs are classified as financial institutions just 
as the commercial banks. Along with this, organizations engaged in 
microfinance activities must have a relevant license;
- effective May 2021, the financial institutions have to meet more stringent 
borrower identification requirements when disbursing an online 
microloan, such as carrying out mandatory biometric identification 
when a borrower signs up in his/her personal account for the first 
time;
- effective October 1, 2021, the legislation requires following a 
mandatory debt settlement procedure in relation to insolvent debtors, 
which implies that if the borrower falls in arrears, the lender is obliged 
to send him/her a notification with a proposal to apply to the MFI 

for resolving the dispute. Only after completing this procedure and 
in the absence of a compromise, the MFIs are allowed to take debt 
collection actions.
- the legislation has also set the cap for interest on unsecured payday 
loans in the amount of 25% of the amount disbursed. Currently, the 
regulator considers reducing this cap from 25% to 5.5% of the loan 
amount. This measure would limit the level of interest within the 
current annual effective interest rate of 56%. 

 ▼ The Regulator also considered such issues as tightening the 
requirements for calculating the borrower’s debt ratio; reducing the 
interest cap on short-term online microloans; changing the procedure 
for issuing consents to provision of information to/from a credit bureau. 
In 2022, after the end of the reporting period, the Regulator prohibited 
disbursing microloans without calculating debt ratio first, in case the 
borrower has an outstanding loan, and introduced amendments to cut 
in half the amount of overpayment on payday loans and oblige online 
lenders to renew the loan agreements only on improving terms.

 ▼ The pandemic has set a strong trend for remote interaction with 
consumers, which will continue in the future. Companies are expected 
to focus on developing more digital services. Most of the market players 
will continue to invest in the development of the online market and 
business digitalization in order not to lose the clients that no longer 
come to sales offices. 

 ▼ The EBRD’s Women in Business program operates in Kazakhstan and 
provides funding and counseling for women, including workshops, a 
support system and concessional loans. The EBRD is implementing 
the program in Kazakhstan through its partners – banks and MFIs. 
The project includes financial and non-financial measures, information 
support, trainings and other. 

136 411 339

191 520 755

MFI DISBURSEMENT DYNAMICS IN 2021, KZT K
Long-term loansShort-term loans

36,411,339

67,647,637

Q1 2021

194,434,368

111,292,325

Q2 2021

166,824,297

129,345,109

Q3 2021 Q4 2021

191,520,755

138,451,821

MFI DISBURSEMENT DYNAMICS IN 2021, LOANS
Long-term loansShort-term loans

1,651,485

35,495

Q1 2021

1,815,616

77,525

Q2 2021

1,641,014

98,313

Q3 2021 Q4 2021

1,786,572

112,253
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1.4 BUSINESS STRATEGY

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

We are developing three key areas:

 ▼  Our clients
 ▼  Our employees
 ▼  Entrepreneurship development 

KMF continues its course towards providing services in the business sector 
of the Republic of Kazakhstan, while maintaining its leading position in the 
microfinance industry.

We are developing a technologically advanced financial structure with a 
stable client base and a strong corporate culture with high potential for 
sustainable and long-term growth.

While accepting the existing limitations, possible risks and realizing the 
emerging challenges, we are ready to meet the expectations of our clients, 
creating and increasing the value of cooperation with KMF for their business.

STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS OF ACTIVITY

Product development

The policy of a microfinance institution should be flexible and easily 
transformable depending on the various conditions dictated by the market. 
Only in this case, a MFI can become a relevant and affordable tool to support 
its regular and potential clients.

KMF continues to develop the most accessible and convenient loan 
products, changing and adapting their conditions in a timely manner in 
line with the demand of all categories of customers.

Client-oriented business model

Further scaling of the business will be achieved through the creation of 
additional value for customers, namely, increasing the speed of service 
while ensuring quality and high standards of customer service and care.

All transformations being implemented to increase the profitability and 
efficiency of the business will be aimed at maintaining a stable client base 
as the basis of our long-term growth.

Digitalization of products and services

Considering the needs of our customers, we continue the technological 
transition to a digital format for the provision of our products and services.

By developing new online products and providing easy and understandable 
access to digital channels, we enrich the customer experience for borrowers, 
making the choice of digital products more attractive.

Feasibility of business processes

KMF strives for stable growth by providing quality transformations in all 
areas of activity.

The scale of the volume of operations and their predicted growth require 
a conceptual revision of the level of feasibility of business processes, the 
transition from a “paper” to a “digital” trace.

Strong corporate culture and HR brand

By building a sustainable business model, the company is developing the 
key-note asset of KMF – its staff. By strengthening the corporate culture and 
increasing the recognition and importance of the HR brand, the company 
seeks to strengthen its competitive advantages in the market.
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1 2 TO INCREASE THE 
LOAN PORTFOLIO BY

30

TO INCREASE 
THE NUMBER OF 
BORROWERS BY

10-12
TO EXPAND ENTREPRENEURS’ 
ACCESS TO FINANCING BY OPENING 
OUTLETS IN REMOTE AREAS

STRATEGIC TASKS FOR 2022

1 2 3
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1.5 GEOGRAPHIC FOOTPRINT

OFFICE NETWORK

 

 
.

  

  

   

- total number of offices

 
- number of offices in the city

 
- office in a locality
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1.6 HISTORY

CREATING THE HISTORY OF MICROFINANCE 
IN KAZAKHSTAN

1997 year  ▼ November 20 – Establishment of the Kazakhstan Loan 
Fund (KLF). Opening of a branch in Taldykorgan. 21 
people were granted group microloans with joint liability 
in the amount of $100 (7,500 tenge). 

1998 year  ▼  The number of fund clients grew to 1,000.
 ▼  The first issue of Isker client edition was published.

1999 year  ▼ The first three-year strategy of the company: defining 
the mission, the main goals of the company. 

 ▼ Start of scaling the micro-lending model in the regions.

2000 year  ▼ Opening of a branch in Shymkent.

2001 year  ▼ Opening of a branch in Almaty.
 ▼ Introduction of the methodology of individual micro-

lending.  

2002 year  ▼ The company celebrated its fifth anniversary. The number 
of clients reached 4,487 people, and the loan portfolio 
increased to 217.5 million tenge.

 ▼ Introduction of the methodology of micro-lending for 
consumer purposes.

2003 year  ▼ Opening of branches in Turkestan and Taraz, opening of 
the first office in a district center.

2004 year  ▼ The company confirmed its first financial rating from the 
international rating agency M-Сrill (India) twice (in 2003-
2004) with an ‘Alpha’ rating: “The company has good 
performance in governance, management and financial 
parameters”, which corresponds to the global practice in 
the microfinance market.

2005 year  ▼ Opening of a branch in Astana (currently known as Nur-
Sultan). 

 ▼ Introduction of the methodology of micro-lending for 
agricultural producers.

2006 year  ▼ Opening of branches in Kostanay and Kyzylorda.
 ▼ Kazakhstan Loan Fund changed its status, having 

become a “Kazakhstan Loan Fund” Microcredit Company, 
while remaining a non-profit organization. At the end 
of 2006, the Fund established a commercial subsidiary 
KazMicroFinance MCC LLC (KMF). All clients and 
employees of Kazakhstan Loan Fund were transferred to 
a new organization. 

 ▼ The company received the highest rating – “Five 
Diamonds” by MixMarket, which is a global information 
platform for microfinance institutions, founded on 
the initiative of CGAP at the World Bank, where KMF 
ranked third by loan portfolio quality among the top 100 
microfinance institutions worldwide

2007 year  ▼ Forbes (USA) included KazMicroFinance MCC LLC into the 
50 Top Microfinance Institutions, ranking the company 
37th.

2008 year  ▼ By decision of the founder, US corporation ACDI/VOCA, 
KMF / Kazakhstan Loan Fund MCC was transformed into 
KMF-Demeu Corporate Fund.
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2009 year  ▼ USAID recognized KazMicroFinance MCC as the best 
organization in Kazakhstan in the field of economics and 
presented it an award “For effective management and 
leadership in financial inclusion for micro-entrepreneurs”.

 ▼ KazMicroFinance MCC has completed the transition of 
the company to the short logo “KMF” both in external 
and internal design.

2010 year  ▼ Opening of branches in Ust-Kamenogorsk, Kokshetau, 
Pavlodar, Semey.

 ▼ The company has been awarded global awards twice: 
“For success in protecting the rights of clients” by IFC and 
Smart Campaign; “The Best MFI” by Smart Campaign for 
efforts made to avoid over-indebtedness of clients.

2011 year  ▼ Opening of a branch in Aktobe.
 ▼ By the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders 

of the company, in 2011, KMF MCC LLC formed and 
approved the composition of the Supervisory Board, 
consisting of qualified and experienced professionals 
leading the development of the strategy and managing 
the company. KMF has also strengthened the risk 
management system.

2012 year  ▼ 15th anniversary of the company. 
 ▼ By November 2012, KMF’s loan portfolio reached 12 billion 

tenge.

2013 year  ▼ Opening of a branch in Uralsk.
 ▼ Together with KMF-Demeu Corporate Fund, the 

company launched a project to improve the financial 
literacy of the people of Kazakhstan. The project includes 
free brochures with lessons and a presentation in the 
company’s offices for the company’s borrowers. Lessons 
are also available in Russian and Kazakh languages on the 
website of KMF-Demeu. Since 2013, more than 150,000 
people have taken lessons.

2014 year  ▼ Opening of a branch in Petropavlovsk.
 ▼ For the first time on the market, the company 

attracted international capital investments amounting 
to $13.6 million. The largest international funds 
involved in investing in microfinance became KMF 
shareholders: responsAbility Management Company 
S.A., responsAbility SICAV (Lux), Triodos Custody B.V., 
TRIODOS SICAV II. At that time, it was one of the largest 
private investments in a microfinance institution.

2015 year  ▼ KMF became the first in Kazakhstan and the 31st in 
the world to receive the Smart Campaign certificate. 
This is a confirmation that the processes, policies 
and management system of the company comply 
with seven principles of social protection of clients: 
appropriate product design and delivery, prevention of 
over-indebtedness, transparency, responsible pricing, 
fair and respectful treatment of clients, privacy of client 
data, mechanisms for complaint resolution.

2016 year  ▼ KMF legally changed its status from a microcredit 
company (MCC) and re-registered as a microfinance 
institution (MFI).

 ▼ The status of the largest MFI was confirmed not only in 
Kazakhstan, but also in the CIS. Over 225k borrowers, 
loan portfolio over 105 billion tenge or about 300 million 
dollars. In terms of volume, the company holds 54% of the 
loan portfolio of the entire market, in terms of quantity – 
disburses two out of three microloans in Kazakhstan.

 ▼ KMF started cooperation with the European Bank for 
Reconstruction and Development under “Women in 
Business” project to finance women entrepreneurs and 
managers whose business is located in the regions: cities 
and rural areas.

 ▼ The company started cooperation with DAMU Fund in 
three areas of lending to micro-entrepreneurs: direct 
financing, financing under a guarantee and financing as 
an operator.
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2017 year  ▼ 20th anniversary of KMF. The company’s loan portfolio 
has exceeded 80 billion tenge, the number of borrowers 
reached 200 thousand people.

 ▼ KMF organized the first international financial literacy 
conference in Kazakhstan.

 ▼ The company disbursed 1.7 million micro-loans worth 
over 560 billion tenge.

2018 year  ▼ KMF received the largest syndicated loan in the history 
of the MFI market in the amount of $44 million from IFC, 
a member of the World Bank Group.

2019 year  ▼ KMF received the first EBRD syndicated loan in 
Kazakhstan in the amount of US$50 million to finance 
micro, small and medium enterprises.

 ▼ KMF got into the shortlist for the prestigious European 
Microfinance Award 2019, entering the top three MFIs 
worldwide with the Mobile Expert project.

2020 year  ▼ The company successfully coped with the COVID-19 
challenges. Amid economic volatility, KMF received 
a loan from the EBRD in the amount of $40 million in 
tenge. The loan helped domestic entrepreneurs to keep 
their business and save jobs.

 ▼ KMF launched a mobile app for clients, which at the end 
of 2020 had over 150k users.

 ▼ The company developed and successfully implemented 
a borrower support program that included a variety of 
measures and reached thousands of clients.

 ▼ KMF received an award from the EBRD for its success 
in the implementation of sustainable development 
projects in the field of gender and economic integration.

 ▼ A new “green micro-lending” initiative was launched in 
cooperation with the EBRD. KMF became the first local 
partner of the EBRD among financial institutions in 
Kazakhstan and received a credit line in the amount of 
$5 million in tenge.

2021 year  ▼ The company went public on the stock exchange. As a 
result of two bond issues, KMF raised 10 billion tenge on 
the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (KASE) with a coupon 
rate of 13% and a maturity of two years.

 ▼ The company launched car loans through the partner 
car dealerships and automated scoring of all applications 
from loan officers.

 ▼ Fitch Ratings assigned KMF a long-term issuer default 
rating at ‘B+’, with stable outlook.
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2.1 SERVICE DEVELOPMENT

The company assigns high priority to the quality of customer service.

Considering that the company is committed to international principles of 
customer protection, these activities are carried out on a systemic level.

The company has established service quality standards, a service training 
system for employees, and a service quality assessment system that 
measures how far the business process meets customer expectations. This 
service quality assessment system consists of:

 ▼ rating of the service, given by the client;
 ▼ verification of compliance with given service standards through a 

checklist system;
 ▼ justified complaints tracking system. 

The compliance of the service is verified locally through checklists and the 
mystery shopper system. 

Timely and high-quality response to client’s grievances allows not only 
building long-term cooperation, but also changing business processes in 
good time for the better.

KMF has a customer grievances handling system. For the convenience 
of customers, the company has developed various grievance channels, 
including a QR code. The company accepts oral, written, electronic 
complaints from customers, processes them in the system and provides 
feedback to the customer. Also, the customer satisfaction system ensures 
obtaining feedback on satisfaction with the processing of complaints.
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2.2 DIGITALIZATION

The pandemic-driven surge in the use of information and communication 
technologies (ICTs) has coincided with the continued digitalization of the 
global economy over the past decade. Changing consumer behavior and 
the lingering pandemic have launched a long-term process of introducing 
new types of ICT goods and services. The pandemic has forced many to 
make online purchases – some doing it for the first time: in March 2020, 
e-commerce went up by 25%. At the same time, the growth potential of the 
digital sector, including online trading and financial services in Kazakhstan, 
as shown by the pandemic-related crisis, outstrips the global average.

Accelerated digitalization has become the Company’s natural response to 
COVID restrictions. In a short period of time, the pandemic has mobilized 
digital potential, giving KMF customers a new level of opportunity and 
comfort.

During 2020-2021, KMF jump-started the implementation of many digital 
solutions, both for remote customer service and for interaction with 
employees.

The launch and development of a mobile application had the biggest result 
for the company. The mobile application was actively supplemented with 
new functions: filing consents and applications for deferrals, possibility to 
view a new repayment schedule after a deferral, loan disbursements. To 
make it easier for the clients to understand the new features of the mobile 
application, we have prepared short videos and simple check lists. 

In 2021, the application was updated and included biometric identification.

The company is also investing many efforts to digitize internal business 
processes related to the submission of customer applications and ensure 
their automated processing and decision-making on disbursement.

Yet another element in the extension of online communications was the 
development of telemarketing and the strengthening of the role of the call 
center in customer interaction: not only consulting, but also the acceptance 
of an application and the loan disbursement, as well as post-sale service.

For its employees, the Company introduced an electronic document 
management system, which made it possible to convert all official 
correspondence and HR records document management into an electronic 
format using the employees’ EDS. In addition, a new mobile version of 
the internal portal has been designed, which is available both from work 
computers and personal mobile devices of employees and allows staying 
informed of the company’s developments while working remotely, being 
on a business trip or vacation.

The society and people’s behavior patterns are changing all the time, and 
the digitalization of all business processes in KMF also does not stop. Using 
the digitalization fruits, such as remote sales channels and digital services, 
will improve work efficiency, but also raises the issue of more thorough 
protection of IT processes and systems. Cyber-security is becoming another 
relevant issue, which, with the introduction of an increasing number of 
digital services, will play a bigger role.

115,000

Two months after the launch, the number of application users 
increased to 115,000. 
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3.1 ASSETS

The dynamics of the Company’s assets shows stable growth, which is mainly 
driven by the growth of the loan portfolio. As of the reporting date, assets 
amounted to 183 billion tenge, up by 29 billion tenge (+19%) yoy.

According to the results of 2021, in the context of a gradual recovery of the 
market, the company managed to ensure a rapid growth of the portfolio by 
26 billion tenge (+19%). Timely customer support measures in 2020 made 
it possible to keep the client base financially stable and set the base for 
development in 2021. In addition, in 2021, the company expanded its product 
line with the Auto Loan product. 

At the end of 2021, ROA has recovered after a decline in 2020 due to the 
negative impact of the pandemic.

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

ASSETS VS. LOANS, BN TENGE
Loan portfolio ROA, %Assets

129.2

118.4

2018

147.6

134.8

2019

154.3

136.2

2020 2021

182.9

162.5

8.9
9

7.2
8.5

The liquidity level is maintained at 5.5-6%. The company keeps the required 
level of liquidity in order to ensure the permanent availability of funds 
necessary to meet all obligations as they fall due and strives to actively 
support a diversified and stable structure of funding sources

Since 2020, under the new legislation, the Company has diversified the 
placement of funds into securities and repo transactions.

The placed liquidity yield in 2021 was 8–9%.

0,4

6,2%
33%

2018 2019 2020 2021

5.5
6.2

5.8
6.0

HIGHLY LIQUID ASSETS VS INVESTMENT RETURNS*
Securities Deposits REPO Yield, %

Liquidity level, %

Cash on hand

2021

6.6

9.0

8.4 8.1

*Interest on deposits net of CIT
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3.2  LOAN PORTFOLIO AND CLIENT BASE

The loan portfolio growth rate is explained by the demand for KMF products 
and the construction of processes aimed at improving the efficiency and 
productivity of employees.

The total active client base as of December 31, 21 is

In the structure of the loan portfolio, the consumer lending tends to fall with 
a shift towards agricultural lending. The company focuses on developing 
business in the agricultural sector. All changes in the portfolio structure are 
in line with the Company’s strategic goals. 

Coverage of rural areas is also one of the company’s priorities. More than half 
of the client base is represented by villagers.

 

    BORROWERS

230,000

147,6

LP AND CLIENT BASE DYNAMICS
Active clientsLoan portfolio, mn tenge

67%

 

51%

14%

33%

2018 2019 2020 2021

134,848
118,430

136,242
162,533

243,714 248,006
222,098

230,91

51% 51% 52%

LP STRUCTURE, BY INDUSTRIES
Agricultural loansConsumer loans

Loans for retail business, services and production

15%

34%

51%

2018

51%

35%

14%

2019

14%

35%

51%

2020

9%

40%

51%

40%

2021

8%

52%

67% 67% 68% 68%

 

51% 51% 51% 52%

14%

CLIENT BASE STRUCTURE, URBAN / RURAL
RuralUrban

33%

67%

2018 2019 2020

32%

2021

33%

67%

32%

68% 68%
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3.3  PORTFOLIO QUALITY

Overdue loans decreased by 0.3 billion tenge (-4%).

The company takes a responsible approach to assessing its asset risks.  
The asset provisioning methods are fully compliant with IFRS 9 and confirmed 
by E&Y.

down 0.24 billion tenge (-3%) ytd.

Despite the severe consequences of the pandemic in 2020, the 
company managed to keep the quality of the portfolio at an acceptable 
level thanks to timely measures taken as part of a promptly developed 
anti-crisis program.

Based on the results of 2021, the share of NPLs at 90+ bucket decreased 
from 3.2% in 2020 to 2.2% as of the reporting date.

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

RESERVES VS OVERDUE LOANS / GROSS PORTFOLIO, KZT MN
Overdue loan balance* Coverage by provisions, %Provisions

3,005
3,707

2018

5,368

6,499

2019

7,800
8,704

2020 2021

7,559
8,391

81 83

90 90

* Overdue loans are shown at book value, with outstanding principal and accrued interest

147,6

NPL 90+, MN TENGE
NPL 90+, %NPL 90+

67%

 

51%

33%

2018 2019 2020 2021

3,281

1,780

4,294

3,570

1.5
2.4 2.2

3.2

LOAN LOSS PROVISIONS AMOUNTED TO 

7.6 BILLION 

OVERDUE LOANS ARE PROVISIONED FOR A HIGH 

90
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3.4  DISBURSEMENTS

IN 2021, THE COMPANY DISBURSED 286K LOANS FOR A 
TOTAL OF 211 BILLION TENGE (SAME PERIOD LAST YEAR – 
224K LOANS FOR A TOTAL OF 149 BILLION TENGE).

In 2021, the Company hit a record high volume of loans disbursed for the 
year. This was facilitated by a number of activities aimed at increasing sales 
and launching new products.

In 2021, KMF launched an Auto Loan product.

KMF is actively developing online sales channels and is constantly improving 
its digital interaction with customers.

 

 

STRUCTURE OF LOANS DISBURSED, TYPES, %

Agrocultural loans

Loans for retail business, services and production Consumer loans

2018

52

51

52

53

40

42

34

33

8

7

14

14

2021

2020

2019

147,6

LOANS DISBURSED
Quantity, th.Amount, mn tenge

67%

 

51%

14%

33%

2018 2019 2020 2021

190,576
175,915

149,286
210,977

342
336

224

286

THE SHARE OF KMF IN THE NUMBER
OF LOANS ISSUED IN THE MFI SECTOR
BY THE END OF 2021

31

THE SHARE OF KMF IN THE NUMBER
OF LOANS ISSUED IN THE MFI SECTOR
BY THE END OF 2021

24
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3.5  LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL

The Company’s liabilities amounted to 140.5 billion tenge, up by 34.0 billion 
tenge (+31.6%) ytd.

The structure of liabilities hasn’t changed much; the share of the borrowings 
portfolio as of the reporting date was 95%.

The liabilities-to-assets ratio at the reporting date was 77%, up by 8 pp ytd, 
following the payment of dividends.

The company has a fairly extensive list of funding sources, represented by 
international financial institutions and local banks.

In 2021, the company continued to diversify its portfolio of borrowings 
by increasing the share of funding from local FIs. Thus, the share of local 
financing in the portfolio increased from 14% in 2020 to 26% in 2021.

In addition, the company still adheres to a prudent policy regarding FX loans 
with a view to reduce FX risks. The major portion of the portfolio (87%) is 
represented by tenge loans.

In 2021, ROE increased from 27.2% to 30.0%, which is due to an increase in 
net profit.

The capital adequacy ratio was 21.9%, which is twice as high  as the prudential 
standards set by the regulator.

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

LIABILITIES VS. BORROWED LOANS, BN TENGE
Loans Liabilities to assets, %Liabilities

100 96.5

2018

111.1 106.5

2019

106.8 101.8

2020 2021

140.5
123.9

77.4 75.3
69.2

76.8

67%
Foreign financing

26%
Local financing

7%
Issued bonds

147,6

EQUITY VS EFFICIENCY
Adequacy (NBK), % ROE, %Equity

67%

 

51%

14%

2018 2019 2020 2021

36.5

29.2

47.5

42.5

41 40.2

30
27.2

22.6 24.8 21.9
28.1
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3.6  INCOME STATEMENT

Net interest income at the end of 2021 amounted to 38.0 billion tenge, up by 
5.5 billion tenge (+17%) yoy.

NIM and interest spread have recovered to pre-pandemic levels.

Interest income received amounted to 54.5 billion tenge, including 0.8 billion 
tenge (1.6%) of income earned from placed liquidity.

Interest expenses amounted to 16.5 billion tenge, which is 4% less compared 
to 2020.

147,6

Net interest income, bn tenge, % Interest spread INIM

67%

 

51%

14%

2018 2019 2020 2021

33.4

27.5

32.5

38

25% 25% 25%

22%

21% 20% 20%17%

OPEX amounted to 18.4 billion tenge, which is 5.2 billion tenge more (+40%) 
than in 2020.

At the end of 2021, the staff comprised 1,990 employees, having increased 
by 179 people since the beginning of the year. The share of staff of the credit 
section was 46%.

Net profit at the end of 2021 amounted to 14.0 billion tenge (23% of the entire 
MFI sector in Kazakhstan). The loan portfolio yield in terms of net profit 
improved by 1.4 percentage points (vs 9.7% in the same period last year).

CIR is maintained below 50%.

147,6

Net pro�t, bn tenge CIR, %

67%

 

51%

33%

2018 2019 2020 2021

12.7

10
11.1

14

46.2
44.3 49.6

40.8

67% 67% 68% 68%

 

51% 51% 51% 52%

14%

Interest income Financial margin Financial margin

43.3

27.6
32.533.4

38

2018 2019 2021

51.9

2020

49.8 54.5
15.7 18.5 17.3 16.5

 

 

OPEX STRUCTURE AS OF DEC 31, 2021

O�ce expenses

Security

Other taxes

Amortization

Outsourced services

Personnel expenses

Other expenses

Communication expenses

71%

4%

2%
1%

2%

6%
12%
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At the end of 2020, the capital adequacy ratio was 28.1%, which significantly 
exceeds the lower limit set by the National Bank of the Republic of  
Kazakhstan. The company diligently manages its capital adequacy in order 
to protect itself against the risks inherent in its operation.

As at December 31, 2021, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the company was in  
compliance with all external statutory capital requirements.

3.6  INCOME STATEMENT

EFFECTIVE JAN 1, 2021 

50,000,000
EFFECTIVE JAN 1, 2022 

70,000,000
EFFECTIVE JAN 1, 2023 

100,000,000

PRUDENTIAL RATIOS №

Estimated equity

Leverage ratio05

Capital adequacy ratio03

Paid-up authorized capital01

02

Maximum exposure per borrower ratio 

ACTUAL

42,453 mln tenge

3.309

0.219

14,431 mln tenge

0.003

COMPLIANCE

04

STANDARD

>=50 mln tenge

k3 < = 10

k1 > = 0,1

>=50 mln tenge

k2 < = 0,25

РАЗМЕР УСТАВНОГО КАПИТАЛА, УСТАНАВЛИВАЕТСЯ:

continuation
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Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

4.1  CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

SUPERVISORY BOARD
The body exercising control over the activities of the collegial 
executive body 

Collegial executive body MANAGEMENT BOARD

SUPERIOR BODY 
General meeting of shareholders (participants) 
(General Meeting)

BODIES OF KMF MFI ARE:
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4.2  SUPERVISORY BOARD

As of December 31, 2021, the Supervisory Board consists of five people, including the Chairperson and members of the Supervisory Board, one of whom is an 
independent member.

FULL NAME OF THE MEMBER OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD TITLE ELECTION DATE MEMBERSHIP IN THE COMMITTEES

Gulnara 
Shamshiyeva

Chairperson of the Supervisory Board – 
representative of the shareholder’s interests 

Geoffrey Morris 
Chalmers

Member of the Supervisory Board - 
representative of the shareholder’s interests 

Joachim 
Bald

Member of the Supervisory Board - 
independent member 21.12.2021

Pilipp 
Pott

Member of the Supervisory Board - 
representative of the shareholder’s interests 

Andrew 
Pospielovsky

Member of the Supervisory Board - representative 
of the shareholder’s interests 

STRUCTURE, MEMBERSHIP OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MEMBERSHIP IN THE COMMITTEES 
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Term of office of the members of the Supervisory Board expires on December 30, 2022.
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Gulnara Shamshiyeva

Chairperson of the Supervisory Board

Career summary:

December 18, 2014, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Kazakhstan, Chairperson of 
the Supervisory Board and member of the Audit Committee and the HR and 
Remuneration Committee.

May 21, 2018, till present – Kyrgyz Investment and Credit Bank CJSB, 
Kyrgyzstan, member of the Management Board, Financial Manager.

April 11, 2001 – October 18, 2017 – Bai Tushum Bank OJSC, Kyrgyzstan, CEO.

February 1, 2001 – April 11, 2001 – Bai Tushum Microfinance Fund, Kyrgyzstan, 
Internal Auditor.

August 1, 1996 – October 30, 2002 – USAID program of monetization and 
establishment of credit associations in Kyrgyzstan, Osh region, Accountant.

May 1, 1995 – July 31, 1996 – Tax Police of Osh region, Kyrgyzstan, Head of the 
General Department.

November 1, 1992 – April 30, 1995 – Prosecutor’s Office of Osh region, 
Kyrgyzstan, Technical Secretary.

June 1, 1983 – October 31, 1992 – Consumer Cooperation of Osh region, 
Kyrgyzstan, Process Engineer.

Education:

1978–1983 – Frunze Polytechnic Institute, Kyrgyzstan.

1993–1995 – Kyrgyz National State University, Kyrgyzstan.  

Geoffrey Morris  
Chalmers 

Member of the Supervisory Board

Career summary:

December 18, 2014, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Kazakhstan, member of the 
Supervisory Board, Chairperson of the Remuneration and HR Committee.

September 1, 2009, till present – ACDI/VOCA, USA, Vice-President. 

September 1, 2005 – August 31, 2009 – U.S. Agency for International Development, 
Mexico, Financial Development Advisor.

February 11, 2001 – August 31, 2005 – U.S. Agency for International Development, 
Microenterprise Development Advisor.

October 1, 1999 – February 10, 2001 – Inter-American Development Bank, 
Microenterprise Development Specialist.

September 1, 1997 – August 31, 1998 – BASICS, Program Assistant.

January 1, 1996 – August 31, 1997 – Solar Tours, Tour Manager.

Education:

1990–1994 – Tufts University, USA.
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Joachim Bald 

Member of the Supervisory Board

Career summary:

July 16, 2018, till present – EFA Group, Singapore, Director of FIDEF (Financial 
Institutions Development Fund).

December 18, 2014, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Kazakhstan, member of the 
Supervisory Board, Chairperson of the Risk Committee, member of the Audit 
Committee and the Remuneration and HR Committee.

December 20, 2003, till present – Bai Tushum Bank OJSC, Kyrgyzstan, 
member of the Supervisory Board.

August 1, 2004, till present – Frankfurt School of Finance and Management, 
Germany, Consultant, Trainer, Lecturer.

August 1, 2004, till present – home office in Oregon, USA, self-employed 
development finance consultant and trainer.

April 1, 2001 – July 31, 2004 – Deutsche Boerse Systems Inc., Chicago, Illinois, 
USA, Vice President and General Manager.

October 21, 1999 – March 31, 2001 – Deutsche Börse Systems AG, Frankfurt, 
Germany, IT Project Manager.

December 1, 1995 – October 20, 1999 – Oregon State University, Corvallis, 
Oregon, USA, Head of International Internship Programs, Lecturer in Finance.

June 10, 1990 – July 31, 1995 – Commerzbank AG, Frankfurt, Germany, Assistant 
Regional Manager for CIS countries.

Education:

1983–1989 – Dortmund University, Germany, certified economist.

1991–1994 – Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Germany, PhD in Economics.

Philipp Georg Pott 

Member of the Supervisory Board

Career summary:

07.08.2015, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Kazakhstan, member of the Supervisory 
Board, member of the Risk Committee. 

30.11.2014, till present – I.D. Inspiring Development GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany, 
Managing Partner.

July 1, 2013 – December 1, 2014 – SME Bank JSC, Freelance Consultant.

December 1, 2011 – July 31, 2012 – ProCredit Bank, Kyiv, Ukraine, Executive Director.

February 1, 2011 – June 30, 2013 – ProCredit Academy, Fuerth, Germany, Managing 
Director.

March 1, 2010 – June 30, 2013 – ProCredit Holding, Frankfurt, Germany, Head of 
Business Development Group.

May 1, 2006 – June 30, 2010 – ProCredit Bank, Tbilisi, Georgia, Executive Director.

February 1, 2005 – April 30, 2006 – ProCredit Bank, Kyiv, Ukraine, Executive Retail 
Manager.

February 1, 2003 – January 31, 2005 – ProCredit Bank, Chisinau, Moldova, Executive 
Director.

October 1, 2001 – January 31, 2003 – Micro Enterprise Credit (MEC), Chisinau, 
Moldova, Branch Advisor and Regional Development Coordinator.

January 10, 2001 – September 30, 2001 – Internationale Projekt Consult (IPC), 
Frankfurt, Germany, Consultant. 

Education:

1995–2000 – University of Basel, Switzerland, Master (Licentiate in Philosophy) in 
Eastern European History.

2000–2005 – University of Basel, Switzerland, PhD in Philosophy.
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Andrew Pospielovsky 

Member of the Supervisory Board

Career summary:

June 1, 2021, till present – Yelo Bank, Azerbaijan, member of the Supervisory 
Board, Chairperson of the Risk Committee.

March 1, 2021, till present – Opportunity Banka, Serbia, Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board, member of the Audit Committee. 

November 1, 2018, till present – Bank Lviv, Ukraine, Chairperson of the 
Supervisory Board, member of the Audit Committee. 

January 1, 2019, till present – Credo Bank, Georgia, member of the Supervisory 
Board, Chairperson of the Risk Committee and member of the Audit 
Committee.

February 20, 2015, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Kazakhstan, member of the 
Supervisory Board, Chairperson of the Audit Committee and member of the 
Risk Committee.

December 1, 2012 – June 30, 2019 – IFC – World Bank Group, Senior 
Microfinance Specialist (short-term consultant).

April 1, 2010 – December 12, 2019 – AccessBank Tajikistan CJSC, member of the 
Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee.

June 1, 2006 – August 30, 2012 – AccessBank Azerbaijan CJSC, CEO.

April 1, 2000 – May 31, 2006 – DAI Europe, London, Banking Consultant, Team 
Leader.

November 15, 1999 – March 31, 2000 – Delegation of the European Union, 
Moscow, Head of the EU project on capacity development in the field of election 
monitoring.

September 1, 1998 – November 14, 1999 – Highlife Ltd, London, Emerging 
Markets Analyst. 

 
Education:

1982–1986  – University of Western Ontario, Canada.

1987–1990  – University of London, UK. 

1991–1999  – University of London, UK, Ph.D.
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4.3  ACTIVITIES OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board exercises control over the activities of the 
Management Board, acts in the interests of KMF MFI and its participants, 
and is accountable to the General Meeting.

In its activities, the Supervisory Board is guided by the LLC Law, the Charter of 
KMF MFI, the Statute of the Supervisory Board and other internal documents 
of KMF MFI, approved by the General Meeting and the Supervisory Board.

Members of the Supervisory Board are elected by the General Meeting of 
KMF MFI in the amount of not more than seven people, for a period of two 
years with the right of re-election.

The requirements for members of the Supervisory Board are established by 
the LLC Law, the Law on Microfinance Activities and the Charter of KMF MFI.

The competence of the Supervisory Board of KMF MFI includes the following issues:

1. determination and approval of annual and long-term strategic plans and priority business development areas of the Company and related principal business issues of the 

Company, including approval of the annual Business Plan and/or budget and any changes thereto;

2. approval of any financial obligations or costs in excess of 10% of the net asset value of KMF MFI in one or a series of related transactions, regardless of whether they were 

included in the Annual Business Plan; provided that no additional approval is required for financial obligations or costs approved as a separate line item in the Annual Business 

Plan;

3. proposal of appointment or dismissal of the CEO and any changes in the structure and number of members of the Management Board prior to the approval thereof by the 

General Meeting;

4. preliminary approval of the Company’s net profit distribution issues, including determination of amounts and time for their payment to the shareholders, and the matters of a 

full or partial buyout by the Company of the participatory interests from the shareholders prior to their approval by the General Meeting;

5. preliminary approval of the resolution on increasing the Company’s charter capital and adjusting the amounts of the shareholders’ participatory interests prior to its approval by 

the General Meeting;

6. preliminary approval of the resolutions on amending the Company’s Charter or reorganizing the Company (e.g. through merger, consolidation or other reorganization) prior to 

their approval by the General Meeting;

7. adoption of any resolution on delegating any of the powers of the Supervisory Board; 

8. adoption of any resolution on acquisition, lease, sale, transfer or any other disposal of the Company’s property or assets exceeding 25% (twenty five percent) of the Company’s 

net asset value;

9. adoption of any resolution on approval of a loan, making of disbursement or any other transaction with interested parties, including any participants, employees or directors of 

KMF MFI, if such transactions are not carried out in the normal course of business, or if such transactions are provided for in applicable policies or under the conditions of the 

plan for the participation of employees of KMF MFI in the authorized capital, approved by the Supervisory Board;

10. adoption of a preliminary resolution on the acquisition of shares of or participatory interests in another company, enterprise, venture and/or any other legal equity or any other 

legal structure to be submitted to the General Meeting; 

11. other issues as may be provided for by the applicable laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Charter, internal regulations or resolution of the General Meeting of the Company.
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During 2021, KMF MFI held 17 in-person and absentee meetings of the 
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board considered the following issues, 
which were also pre-reviewed by the committees of the Supervisory Board: 

 ▼ quarterly risk management reports and internal audit reports.
 ▼ semi-annual HR reports;
 ▼ issues of payment of remuneration and bonuses to the heads of KMF 

MFI.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board considered the quarterly reports of the CEO on 
the financial and management activities of KMF MFI and received monthly 
performance reports of the Company.

In 2021, the Supervisory Board considered and approved the business plan  
for 2021-2023, the strategy and budget for 2022, the first bond program of  
KMF MFI in the amount of 20 billion tenge. Also, the Supervisory Board 
approved the borrowing of a loan from DAMU Entrepreneurship Development 
Fund JSC in the amount of 5 billion tenge to be lent to micro and small 
businesses for working capital financing and investments. 

The effectiveness of the Supervisory Board is expressed in the fact that the 
quarterly meetings of the Supervisory Board were held in accordance with 
the approved schedule of meetings for 2021 with the participation of all five 
members of the Supervisory Board, as well as with the timely and complete 
consideration of all issues on the agenda of in-person and absentee meetings 
of the Supervisory Board.

As of December 31, 2021, the Supervisory Board includes the following 
Committees, which members are also members of the Supervisory Board:

 ▼ Audit Committee;
 ▼ Risk Management Committee;
 ▼ Remuneration and HR Committee.

The Committees are accountable to the Supervisory Board and are 
established to examine the affairs on the specific most important issues 
within their competence and subject to their preliminary consideration. 
Decisions of the Committees are recommendatory for the Supervisory 
Board, other management and control bodies of KMF MFI.

In 2021, the Committees were held quarterly with the participation of all 
members of the Supervisory Board. 

4.3  ACTIVITIES OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

continuation
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FULL NAME OF THE MEMBER OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD TITLE ELECTION DATE MEMBERSHIP IN THE COMMITTEES

4.4  MANAGEMENT BOARD

The Management Board is a collegial executive body of KMF MFI and, 
under the leadership of the CEO, carries out current management of KMF 
MFI within the competence determined by the charter of KMF MFI and its 
internal documents.

Members of the Management Board are elected by the General Meeting in 
the amount of not more than seven people, for a term of up to five years. 
The same person may be elected to the Management Board an unlimited 
number of times.

The requirements for members of the Supervisory Board are established by 
the LLC Law, the Law on Microfinance Activities and the Charter of KMF MFI.

As of December 31, 2021, the Management Board consists of six people, 
including the CEO and members of the Management Board. 

In 2021, the composition of the Management Board was expanded to 6 
people. On March 26, 2021, Olga Yugay, CFO of KMF MFI, was elected the 
6th member of the Management Board as per the decision of the General 
Meeting. Six members of the Management Board include 5 women and 1 
man.

Shalkar  
Zhussupov

CEO

01.11.2017

Almira  
Abenova

First Deputy CEO

Gulshat  
Akimzhanova

Deputy CEO

Karlygash  
Raikhanova

Deputy CEO

Kulsara  
Saparbekova

Deputy CEO
01.04.2019

Olga  
Yugay

CFO
26.03.2021

STRUCTURE, MEMBERSHIP OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND MEMBERSHIP IN THE COMMITTEES

Term of office of the members of the Management Board is 5 years since election by the General Meeting of KMF 

MFI.

   Committee membership

As
se

t a
nd

 L
iab

ilit
y M

an
ag

em
en

t C
om

m
itt

ee

Cr
ed

it 
an

d O
pe

ra
tio

na
l R

isk
 C

om
m

itt
ee

HR
 C

om
m

itt
ee



38
h t t p : / / w w w . kmf.kz Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

03
Financial PerformanceAbout KMF MFI

01
Service and Digitalization

02
Corporate Governance

04
Risk Management

05 
Social Responsibility

06 
Appendices

07 

Shalkar Zhussupov 

CEO

Career summary:

January 5, 2015, till present – KMF MFI LLC, CEO.

January 3, 2007 – January 1, 2015 – KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, CEO.

June 26, 2008 – April 19, 2011 – KMF-Demeu Corporate Fund, CEO.

June 21, 2006 – June 25, 2008 – KLF Corporate Fund, CEO.

November 9, 2001 – June 20, 2006 – Kazakhstan Loan Fund CF, CEO.

October 13, 1997 – November 8, 2001 – Kazakhstan Communities Loan Fund, 
Chief Accountant, Program Director.

Education:

1987–1994 – Kazakh State Academy of Architecture and Civil Engineering, 
Kazakhstan, civil engineer.
1995–1997 – Market Institute at the Kazakh State Academy of Management, 
economist. 

Almira Abenova 

First Deputy CEO

Career summary:

October 1, 2015, till present – KMF MFI LLC, First Deputy CEO.

January 3, 2008 – September 30, 2015, KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, Deputy 
CEO.

January 3, 2007 – January 2, 2008, KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, Director of 
Financial Unit.

March 9, 2004 – January 2, 2007, Kazakhstan Loan Fund CF, CFO.

February 19, 2004 – March 8, 2004, Kazakhstan Loan Fund CF, Chief 
Accountant.

December 6, 2001 – February 18, 2004, Shymkent Branch of Kazakhstan 
Communities Loan Fund, Chief Accountant.

Education:

1981–1985 – Tashkent Order of Friendship of Peoples Institute of National 
Economy, Tashkent, Economist.

4.4  MANAGEMENT BOARD

continuation
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Kulsara Saparbekova 

Deputy CEO

Career summary:

April 1, 2019, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Deputy CEO.

December 4, 2017 – March 31, 2019 – KMF MFI LLC, Managing Director.

July 1, 2016 – December 3, 2017 – KMF MFI LLC, Director of Regional Network 
Development Department, Director of Credit Department. 

August 22, 2006 – June 30, 2016 – Kazakhstan Loan Fund MCC Corporate 
Fund, KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, KMF MFI LLC, Director of Shymkent Branch. 

January 3, 1999 – August 21, 2006 – Shymkent Branch of Kazakhstan 
Communities Loan Fund, Kazakhstan Loan Fund CF, Chief Accountant, Manager 
of Shymkent Branch.

Education:

1987–1992 – Alma-Ata Institute of National Economy, Economist.

4.4  MANAGEMENT BOARD

Gulshat Akimzhanova 

Deputy CEO

Career summary:

October 1, 2015, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Deputy CEO.

January 3, 2008 – September 30, 2015 – KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, Deputy 
CEO.

January 3, 2007 – January 2, 2008, KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, Director of 
Financial Unit.

February 2, 2006 – January 2, 2007 – Kazakhstan Communities Loan Fund in 
Almaty, Director of Credit Department.

April 1, 2003 – February 1, 2006 – Kazakhstan Communities Loan Fund in 
Almaty, Operational Director.

November 1, 1999 – March 31, 2003 – Shymkent and Almaty Branches of 
Kazakhstan Communities Loan Fund, Branch Manager.

August 1, 1998 – October 31, 1999 – Taldykorgan Branch of Kazakhstan 
Communities Loan Fund, Chief Accountant.

Education:

1978–1982 – Alma-Ata Institute of National Economy, Economist.

continuation
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Karlygash Raikhanova 

Deputy CEO

Career summary:

November 1, 2012, till present – KMF MFI LLC, Deputy CEO.

January 3, 2007 – October 31, 2012, Kazakhstan Communities Loan Fund CF, 
KazMicroFinance MCC LLC, Manager of Treasury Section, Managing Director, 
Director of Treasury and Risk Management Department.

May 11, 1998 – January 2, 2007 – Kazakhstan Communities Loan Fund CF, 
Credit Inspector, Deputy Program Director, Manager of Taldykorgan and Taraz 
Branches, Investment Manager.

Education:

1997–2002 – Zhetysu Institute of Economics, Financial Economist. 
2011–2011 – Kazakhstan Institute of Management, Economics and Strategic 
Research, Master of Business Administration (Finance).

Olga Yugay 

CFO

Career summary:

April 1, 2021, till present – KMF MFI LLC, member of the Management Board, 
CFO.

March 1, 2012 – March 31, 2021 – KMF MFI LLC, Chief Accountant, CFO. 

February 1, 2011 – February 28, 2012 – Tsentraudit-Kazakhstan NAC JSC, Almaty, 
Chief Specialist.

May 1, 2004 – January 1, 2011 – Accounting and Audit LLP, Almaty, CFO / Chief 
Accountant.

January 1, 2003 – April 1, 2004 – Sunkar Agro-Industrial Concern LLP, Almaty, 
Accountant.

Education:

1995–2000 – Almaty Institute of Energy and Communications, engineer-
economist.
2000–2002 – Kazakh State University, lawyer.
2000–2003 – Institute of Energy and Communications, postgraduate study. 
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10,856,306,102
4.5  INFORMATION ABOUT REMUNERATIONS

In 2021, in accordance with the decision of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders dated July 21, 2021, KMF MFI paid dividends from net profit 

for 2020 in two tranches of 5,428,153,051 tenge each to all shareholders of 
KMF MFI. 

Also, by the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders dated 
November 5, 2021, all shareholders of KMF MFI were paid dividends for 
2019 in the amount of 8,276,732,1984 tenge.

369,033,875.87 tenge was paid to the 

members of the Supervisory Board and 

the Management Board as remuneration 

for 2021, including compensation and all 

types of monetary incentives.

10,856,306,102
TO ALL PARTICIPANTS OF THE KMF MFI

MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGEMENT BOARD OF THE KMF MFI

369,033,875
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4.6  ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

The organizational structure of the Company consists of the Head Office 
and 14 branches, which cover 12 regions of Kazakhstan.

GENERAL MEETING

SUPERVISORY BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Corporate Secretary

Assets and Liabilities Committee

Credit and Operational Risk Committee

Staff Committee

Risk Management Committee

Remuneration and HR Committee

Audit Committee

Internal Audit Unit 

 ▼ Akmola Branch (including Petropavlovsk)
 ▼ Aktobe Branch (including Uralsk)
 ▼ Almaty Branch

 ▼ East Kazakhstan Branch
 ▼ Zhambyl Branch
 ▼ Karaganda Branch

 ▼ Kostanay Branch
 ▼ Kyzylorda Branch
 ▼ Pavlodar Branch

 ▼ Semey Branch
 ▼ Turkestan Branch
 ▼ Nur-Sultan Branch 
 ▼ Shymkent Branch

Managing Director

Innovations 
Department        

Marketing 
Department

Project Office Managing Director

Risk 
Management 
Department  

 Support 
DepartmentHR Department Service  

Support 
Department          

Applications 
Development 
Department   

Accounting 
Department

Financial 
Planning and 
Reporting 
Department

Security Unit
Regional Network Sales  
and Development Department

Deputy CEO Deputy CEO         Chief Financial OfficerFirst Deputy CEO for Development
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4.6  PARTICIPANTS LPP

As of December 31, 2021, the authorized capital of KMF MFI is held by the 
following participants:

4.7  RIGHTS OF MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS

The Civil Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the LLC Law and the Charter 
of KMF MFI assigns the following rights to the shareholders of KMF MFI:

 ▼ to participate in managing the affairs of KMF MFI in the manner 
prescribed by law and this Charter;

 ▼ to nominate candidates for the governing bodies of KMF MFI;
 ▼ to receive information about the activities of MFI  KMF and get acquainted 

with its accounting and other documentation in the manner prescribed 
by the Charter and internal documents of KMF MFI;

 ▼ to receive income from KMF MFI’s operations in accordance with the 
laws, the Charter and resolutions of its General Meeting;

 ▼ to receive, in case of KMF MFI’s liquidation, the value of part of the 
property remaining after settlement of accounts with creditors or, upon 
agreement of all of KMF MFI’s shareholders, any part thereof in kind;

 ▼ to withdraw from KMF MFI by disposing of its interest therein in such 
manner as provided by the laws;

 ▼ to challenge in court the resolutions of KMF MFI’s bodies infringing the 
rights of the participant vested by the laws and/or the Charter.  

Корпоративный фонд «KMF-Демеу»

MultiConcept Fund Management S.A., действующая от собственного имени для фонда responsAbility 

Global Micro and SME Finance Fund

Legal Owner Triodos Funds B.V., в качестве кастодиана фонда TRIODOS FAIR SHARE FUND

Triodos SICAV II, действующая в отношении субфонда TRIODOS MICROFINANCE FUND

50 физических лиц

responsAbility SICAV (Lux), действующая для своего субфонда responsAbility SICAV (Lux) Micro and SME 

Finance Leaders

45,435

18,127

12,085

12,085

6,226

6,042

The authorized capital of KMF MFI as of December 31, 2021, amounted to 
14,430,993,204 tenge.

The book value of the share in the authorized capital of KMF MFI as of 
January 1, 2022 is 42,452,504,267 tenge.

During 2021, General Meeting had five meetings, including one regular and 
four extraordinary meetings.

At the meetings of the General Meeting held in 2021, the participants 
considered and approved the following issues:

 ▼ approved changes to the Charter;
 ▼ approved the annual financial statements of KMF MFI for 2020, confirmed 

by the external auditor Ernst & Young LLP;
 ▼ approved the procedure for distributing profits for 2020 and the amount 

of payment of dividends to participants of KMF MFI;
 ▼ approved the expansion of the Management Board to six people;
 ▼ approved the new versions of the internal documents, such as the 

regulation on confidential information, the rules for providing microloans 
and the AML/CFT internal control rules;

 ▼ approved the amendments to the Statute of the Management Board 
of KMF MFI;

 ▼ approved the payment of dividends from net profit for 2019 to the 
participants of KMF MFI.

KMF-Demeu Corporate Fund

MultiConcept Fund Management S.A., acting on its own behalf for responsAbility Global Micro and 
SME Finance Fund

Legal Owner Triodos Funds B.V., as a custodian for TRIODOS FAIR SHARE FUND

Triodos SICAV II, acting for its sub-fund TRIODOS MICROFINANCE FUND»

50 individuals

responsAbility SICAV (Lux), acting for its sub-fund responsAbility SICAV (Lux) Micro and SME Finance Leaders
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4.8  INFORMATION ON SIGNIFICANTE TRANSACTIONS

In 2021, the Supervisory Board of KMF MFI approved the following significant 
transactions:

 ▼ Borrowing of a $40mn senior loan from BlueOrchard Microfinance 
Fund;

 ▼ Conclusion of a $25mn loan agreement with IFC in tenge;
 ▼ Borrowing of a $15mn loan from INCOFIN CVSO;
 ▼ Borrowing of up to EUR 10mn senior loan from shareholders of KMF 

MFI: Legal Owner Triodos Funds B.V. and Triodos SICAV II;
 ▼ Borrowing of KZT 5bn loan from DAMU Entrepreneurship Development 

Fund JSC to be lent to micro and small businesses for working capital 
financing and investments. 

4.9  INTERNAL CONTROL AND AUDIT

The internal control system is organized and controlled by KMF management. 
Responsibilities for internal control of supervised areas are included in the 
job descriptions of all managers, trainings are held to clarify the duties and 
responsibilities of employees in internal control.

In general, internal control is built into day-to-day activities of all KMF 
processes and is based on three lines of defense: 1st line – business process 
owners, 2nd line – subdivisions responsible for risk management, security, 
compliance, legal support, and 3rd line of defense is ensured by a standalone 
structural subdivision – the Internal Audit Unit.

The Unit includes sections in charge of audit of branches, head office, 
information technology and information security. 

In its activities, the Unit is governed by the current legislation, regulatory 
legal acts of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Company’s charter and internal 
normative documents. 

When conducting audits, the Unit mainly uses a process approach.

Audits include providing advice and assurance to all parties involved.

One of the mandatory types of audit is a compliance audit, which is carried 
out on an ongoing basis – issues of compliance with the law and internal 
normative documents are included in each audit. Once every three years, 
the Unit conducts a special compliance audit, the purpose of which is to 
ensure that all the key processes and documents of the Company meet the 
requirements of the legislation.

First issue under the first bond program, ISIN KZ2P00007883

Total number of bonds 10,000,000 units

Face value 1,000

Number of placed bonds 10,000,000 units

Number of redeemed bonds 0 units

Principal amount 10,000,000,000 tenge

Circulation start date Sep 8, 2021

State registration of issue H45, ISIN KZ2P00007883

Repayment date Sep 8, 2023

Interest rate 13 %

Coupon payment frequency  Semi-annual

Purpose of the issue Raising funds to finance the issuer’s microlending 
activities

TYPE OF ISSUED BONDS COUPON BONDS, 
UNSECURED



45
h t t p : / / w w w . kmf.kz Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

03
Financial PerformanceAbout KMF MFI

01
Service and Digitalization

02
Corporate Governance

04
Risk Management

05 
Social Responsibility

06 
Appendices

07 

In addition, it is important that the Unit strives to operate in line with the 
international framework of professional practice developed by the Institute 
of Internal Auditors.

The mission of Unit is to maintain and increase the value of the Company by 
evaluating the internal control system, conducting objective internal audits 
based on a risk-based approach, providing recommendations and sharing 
knowledge.

The purpose of the Unit activity is to provide the Supervisory Board of KMF 
with independent and objective assessments aimed at improving the 
activities of the organization. 

The Company provides for direct interaction between the Internal Audit 
Unit and the Audit Committee, which makes decisions on personnel issues, 
planning and performance evaluation, and analyzes the reports of the Unit.

The Unit creates real added value for the Company by providing effective 
recommendations for improving processes and follow-up monitoring of 
their implementation.

In order to ensure the required level of professionalism, the team of internal 
auditors constantly improves their qualifications through self-education 
and participation in internal and external trainings.

4.9  INTERNAL CONTROL AND AUDIT 4.10  LIAISON WITH STAKEHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDERS

The implementation of our strategy is consistent with the goal of providing 
long-term sustainable returns to the shareholders.

We interacted with our shareholders through a General Meeting of 
Shareholders and provided an opportunity for feedback and voting on key 
decisions.

KMF provides high-quality financial and non-financial reporting in order 
to give the shareholders and creditors an in-depth understanding of its 
business.

CLIENTS

The interests of the client are at the heart of everything we do. Innovation, 
digitalization of all business processes, development and delivery of 
products, improvement of the quality of service, reliability are the priorities 
of our strategy.

KMF employees in all outlets and branches throughout Kazakhstan are a 
key link in interaction with our clients. We receive important information on 
how our clients feel about our service and what we can do better.

When developing and introducing our products, we do so based on the 
Smart Campaign social ranking standards, and strive for a customer-centric 
approach.

Last year, in particular, we worked on the digitalization of products and 
improving the quality of service.

KMF strives to create value for all its stakeholders and ensure a balanced 
development taking into account their interests, both in the short and long 
term. We liaise with our stakeholders to keep them as informed as possible 
about our activities and to deliver the best results for them.

Liaison with stakeholders is a key element for the Company’s management 
to make responsible decisions.

We give everyone the opportunity to provide feedback on the Company’s 
performance through various forums and channels to help shape our 
business development strategy in line with the needs and expectations of 
our stakeholders.

By delivering quality stakeholder engagement, we strive to build mutual 
trust, promote commitment, support sound risk management, and 
ultimately make decisions that are in the best interest of our stakeholders.

Through open dialogue with stakeholders, we have developed a clearer 
understanding of the wishes and key interests of stakeholders and how we 
can best meet those needs.

continuation
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EMPLOYEES

Our people are the main value of KMF. We create a corporate environment 
that provides comfortable and equal development opportunities and the 
best working conditions for everyone.

Throughout the year, we communicated with our employees through 
various channels to collect their thoughts, opinions and feedback, while 
they could also ask questions directly to KMF’s senior management.

We strive to build a culture of open communication based on KMF Life 
corporate portal, corporate trips and trainings for standalone subdivisions 
and branches.

KMF employees are interested in receiving a decent remuneration for their 
work and a social package, as well as in having fair and objective procedures 
for interacting with the company at all stages of cooperation.

We aim to create a strong corporate culture based on KMF values and a 
comfortable team atmosphere. An important direction is the creation of 
effective incentive for employees and high-quality social support.

KMF pays significant attention to training and advanced training of 
employees in order to expand their career opportunities and unlock their 
potential.

In addition, we give consideration to the development of IT infrastructure to 
improve the comfort of the staff.

COMMUNITY

We make decisions and do business to ensure that our clients, shareholders, 
colleagues and the communities in which we operate have access to a 
prosperous and sustainable future.

We are in constant dialogue with the relevant Association of Microfinance 
Institutions, the media, and other members of the public in order to improve 
our understanding of emerging issues and to see areas that require our 
active involvement. We also maintain regular open communication with 
the regulator, ensuring business transparency and exchanging opinions 
and expectations.

An important aspect of our activity is the strict observance of legislation 
on socio-economic and environmental issues. We ensure transparency and 
openness in our activities and take into account the interests of various social 
groups when making decisions.

4.10  LIAISON WITH STAKEHOLDERS

4.11  FRAUD MANAGEMENT

KMF pursues a strict policy to counteract illegal actions of employees 
aimed at causing material damage to the organization and/or discrediting 
its business reputation. KMF has a zero tolerance policy for committing or 
covering up fraudulent or illegal activities.

continuation

The purpose of anti-fraud measures is to maintain zero tolerance for any 
manifestations of fraud and abuse of power by employees, regardless of 
their position and the amount of damage caused.

The anti-fraud policy covers internal policies, procedures, job performance 
and professional competence of employees. 
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Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

The key priorities of the company’s credit policy are as follows (each item is documented and confirmed by our real actions taken during almost 25 years):

 ▼ Customer needs and stability come 
first

 ▼ Focus on service quality and 
customer satisfaction

 ▼ Customer support during difficult 
times

 ▼ Stability and availability of funding, 
even in times of crisis

 ▼ Protecting customer data

 ▼ Honesty and openness in 
communications

Focus on customers 
and their needs

 ▼ Zero tolerance for credit policy 
violations and fraud

 ▼ Documentation and automation of 
decision making

 ▼ System of credit committees and 
limits

 ▼ Internal independent control over 
the credit process

 ▼ Independent channels of 
communication with clients

 ▼ Compliance of the company’s 
activities with the requirements 
of the regulator, zero tolerance for 
violations

Transparency in decision-
making and compliance 
with regulator’s 
requirements 

 ▼ Strict adherence to the principles of 
quality disbursements

 ▼ Development of useful products

 ▼ Responsible financing, 
consideration of possible future risk 
factors

 ▼ Lending methodology shaped by 
decades of expertise in the financial 
analysis of micro customers

Protecting clients from 
over-indebtedness

 ▼ Focus on long-term results

 ▼ Permanent adherence to the mission 
and values, even in difficult times

 ▼ Business development and customer 
prosperity are our key priorities

 ▼ Development for helping clients and 
their businesses, while keeping the 
traditions of classical lending, 

 ▼ Contribution to society by providing 
access to responsible financing and 
supporting clients’ businesses

Long-term partnerships with 
customers and society

KMF determines the risk management approach and risk appetite based 
on its mission and strategic goals.

KMF will not engage in activities, transactions with trading instruments or 
otherwise assume risks that are not clearly related to the mission of the 
company or support of KMF in fulfilling its obligations to the company’s 
shareholders and clients in terms of ensuring reliability, social promotion 
and growth, financial inclusion and sustainable profitability.

The basis of the company’s credit risk management and a recipe for our 
success throughout the lifetime of the company has been the high-quality 
disbursements and the social responsibility to the Kazakh society and the 
government. The company adheres to the classical approach in assessing 
the debt service capacity of the client, based on confirmed data obtained 
from a visit to the customers’ place of business*,as well as based on the 
customer protection principles.

Along with classic offline lending, the company is developing online sales 
channels and car loans, which will allow keeping its leading market share 
in the future, while these segments are intensively growing in recent years. 
Risk management in these areas is carried out in line with industry-wide 
standards, using scoring models and state-of-the-art risk management 
tools. The risk in these segments is higher than in the classic offline portfolio, 
but given the lower operating costs, it is considered promising.

* In the manner determined by the internal documents of the company 
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01. CREDIT RISK

Counterparty credit risk

Concentration risk

Portfolio credit risk

02. LIQUIDITY RISK

Risk of termination of funding

Concentration risk

Gap risk

03. INTEREST RISK

Risk of loss from changes in interest 
rates

04. CURRENCY RISK

Risk of loss from changes in 
interest rates 

05. BUSINESS RISKS

Reputational risk

Regulatory risk

Legal risk

Competition risk

STRATEGIC RISKS

OPERATIONAL RISKS
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5.1  LANDMARK EVENTS OF 2020 AND 2021

In 2019, the company has launched a business continuity management 
policy (and it was done just in time, as the course of events has shown), 
which has been constantly improved and adjusted given the plenty of 
circumstances in recent years. The actions of the company’s employees 
and management have proven to be systemically diligent in times of crisis, 
especially in 2020, when the business activity of the company’s customers 
and points of sale was almost completely suspended. The company quickly 
set up the Emergency Management Office, elaborated anti-crisis measures 
in all areas of the company’s activities, including a large-scale program to 
support our customers at that difficult time.

The employees of the credit section were urgently trained and reoriented 
to provide lending in a crisis situation, despite that the businesses of our 
clients were heavily affected. So far, the loans disbursed in 2020 demonstrate 
excellent credit quality and prove that a responsible approach to financing 
and social responsibility towards customers and community ensures not 
only a moral message, but also a specific indicative financial result in the 
long term. 

The company also adhered to a policy of transparency and building 
awareness; all the permanent creditors supported the company, so its’ 
liquidity was not affected and remained in line with internal requirements.

The implementation of that program continued in 2021, which became a year 
of adjustment after the crisis year of 2020, when the company implemented 
a COVID-19 stress scenario. The company has consolidated its function of 
risk management and business continuity management even further and 
finalized the guidelines and instructions devoted to crisis management 
and incident response. The health safety of employees and customers was 
continuously managed as required by sanitary doctors, adjusted for the 
regional specifics of the company’s wide network.

The restructured portfolio decreased from the highest values of spring 2020 
(56% of the portfolio) to 7% of the loan portfolio in 2021. About 1% of the 
average loan portfolio for 2021 was written-off, while the Par30+ amounted 
to 2.56% of the loan portfolio for the same year.

In 2021, the company continued to diversify its products; in the summer, it 
launched a car loan, which looks promising for the next few years. The risk 
profile of this product is higher than that of standard classic offline portfolio, 
but given the cost of the product and the recoverability of collateral, is 
manageable.

The company also proceeded to improve its mobile application for customers 
and biometric identification system, which allows developing an online 
sales channel, providing a convenient service to customers and maintaining 
a competitive advantage in the era of digitalization of services. 
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1.  Separation of responsibility for risk management and 
independent control 

In KMF, the practice of risk management in the context of the organizational 
structure is based on the model of 3 lines of defense (Figure 1):

Line 1 is functional subdivisions and management that directly 
implements activities and monitors risks. Risk management is part of 
the day-to-day activities of business subdivisions and management. 
They ensure an ongoing process for identifying and assessing risks, 
implementing and evaluating the effectiveness of control procedures.

Line 2 is standalone analytical subdivision that ensures and coordinates 
the risk management process, including the development of 
methods, rules and procedures, the implementation of effective tools 
for identifying, assessing, monitoring, controlling and reporting in 
the field of risk management, as well as controlling and coordinating 
actions taken at the first line of defense. In KMF, the second line of 
defense is represented by the Risk Management Department.

Line 3 is the Internal Audit Unit and external audit. The goals of this line 
are to evaluate and verify the effectiveness of the risk management 
system at both the first and second lines of defense.

5.2 BASIC PRINCIPLES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

2. 	Avoiding	conflicts	of	interest	

KMF does not allow conflicts of interest in the risk management 
process and ensures the split of control functions (middle and back 
office) and front office functions (sales and customer service).

This also implies a strict separation between standalone analytical 
duties and the compliance function and the functions of the key 
subdivisions on the first line of defense.

The risk management process involves all KMF employees, so 
everyone participates in the identification, analysis and assessment 
of risks and taking measures to reduce the risks of the company, in 
line with the responsibility inherent in their position. 

3.  Risk-oriented corporate culture

KMF develops and maintains a culture of understanding risk, 
recognizing the importance of risk management, as well as 
recognizing personal responsibility for identifying and managing 
risks among employees, in line with the responsibility inherent in 
their position. 

4.  Effectiveness of communications

Internal communications in the context of risk management are 
part of the corporate culture of KMF and include communications 
on risk tolerance levels and limits, a reporting system and feedback 
in the risk management process from all levels of the organization.

5.  Risk-based remuneration

The KMF staff remuneration system considers the success of 
achieving the targets, with a mandatory adjustment for the risk of 
the main process – credit risk. In a front office remuneration system, 
PaR directly affects monthly remuneration payments, so the higher 
the portfolio risk, the lower the remuneration.

6. Regulation and control

KMF ensures compliance with the requirements of regulatory 
authorities for the availability of risk management system in terms 
of its structure, scope and self-sufficiency.

7. Data privacy

KMF operates an information confidentiality policy that describes 
the mechanism for disclosing information to all parties involved.

8.  Economic feasibility  

Risk management in KMF is carried out on the basis of economic 
feasibility, when the cost of risk control measures should not exceed 
the amount of possible losses from this risk. 
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FIGURE 1. KMF 3 LINES OF DEFENSE PRINCIPLE
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EFFECTIVENESS OF THE SYSTEM
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The risk management process is designed to keep KMF risks within acceptable limits and consists of the following components, as shown in  
Figure 2 below:

FIGURE 2. RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS AT KMF

Risk management in KMF, in the context of each type of risk, is carried 
out in strict accordance with the stages described below, which ensures 
the continuity and controllability of the process:

 ▼  Formation of a risk management system (framework) – creation 
of policy, goals, risk management obligations, stimulation of a 
risk management-oriented corporate culture, inclusion of risk 
management in the overall strategy, operational policy and activities 
of KMF.

 ▼  Risk identification – the process of finding, recognizing and 
describing risk.

 ▼  Risk analysis – the process of understanding the nature of risk and 
determining the level of risk, measuring risk.

 ▼  Risk assessment – determination of criteria for the significance and 
priority of risks, how critical the risk is for the company / structural 
subdivision.

 ▼  Risk management (risk treatment) – development of action 
plans for reducing, controlling, hedging, insuring and other 
ways of influencing risks, within acceptable tolerance levels, 
with the definition of deadlines and responsible persons for the 
implementation of measures.

 ▼  Monitoring and review – a process of constant review, critical 
observation and rethinking of risk management, with subsequent 
adjustment of the process for improvement.

 ▼  Communications and consultations — the process of providing, 
exchanging and acquiring information both within and between 
structural subdivisions and employees of KMF, and with third parties 
concerned. 

5.3 RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
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The order of risk management by types of risk is defined in the relevant 
policies.

The Supervisory Board, which receives regular reports on KMF’s exposure 
to credit risk as part of quarterly reports, plays an important role in the risk 
management process. Members of the Risk Committee of the Supervisory 
Board assess violations of limits and restrictions on credit risk, if any, the 
causes and duration of violations, as well as all available risk indicators. By 
evaluating risk reports, members of the Risk Committee of the Supervisory 
Board can generate recommendations and preventive measures to reduce 
the level of risks and strengthen control of risky areas.

CREDIT RISKS

KMF business model involves lending exclusively in tenge to owners of 
micro and small enterprises and individuals through its branch network 
throughout Kazakhstan, as well as a small share of lending of online 
products and car loans. Geographically, KMF is present both in cities 
and in the regions of Kazakhstan, with a strong focus on rural areas.

KMF is not only a financial institution, but also a social development 
institution, which is reflected in the Company’s credit policy and 
determines its social responsibility to customers, as well as to stakeholders 
and the environment. Our responsible attitude towards customers has 
a positive effect on credit risk and prevents the client from becoming 
over-indebted.

5.3 RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

  

1.9%

1.9%

3.12%
3.20%

3.28%

3.60%

3.14%

2.86%

3.34%

3.91%

3.80%

3.84% 3.84%

3.58%

3.74% 3.81% 3.80%

3.59%

3.55%

3.45%
3.39%

2.89%
2.77%

2.74%

2.62% 2.56%

1.9%

16.4%

55.7%
100.00%

50.00%

20.00%

10.00%

5.00%

2.00%

4.00%

3.50%

2.50%

2.00%

3.00%

51.8%

49.1% 45.0%

39.9% 35.7%
31.8%

28.1%

25.9% 23.1% 20.5%

18.0% 16.1%

14.6%

13.1%
11.7%

10.3%
9.2%

8.1% 7.3%

20
20

-0
1-

31

20
20

-0
2-

29

20
20

-0
3-

31

20
20

-0
4-

30

20
20

-0
5-

31

20
20

-0
6-

30

20
20

-0
7-

31

20
20

-0
8-

31

20
20

-0
9-

30

20
20

-1
0-

31

20
20

-1
1-

30

20
20

-1
2-

31

20
21

-0
1-

31

20
21

-0
2-

28

20
21

-0
3-

31

20
21

-0
4-

30

20
21

-0
5-

31

20
21

-0
6-

30

20
21

-0
7-

31

20
21

-0
8-

31

20
21

-0
9-

30

20
21

-1
0-

31

20
21

-1
1-

30

20
21

-1
2-

31

Pa
R3

0+
Sh

ar
e 

of
 re

st
ru

ct
ur

ed
 L

P

continuation



55
h t t p : / / w w w . kmf.kz Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

03
Financial PerformanceAbout KMF MFI

01
Service and Digitalization

02
Corporate Governance

04
Risk Management

05 
Social Responsibility

06 
Appendices

07 

5.3 RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS 

KMF’s social responsibility and customer protection principles are 
defined in the Company’s internal documents, which are subject to 
appropriate monitoring. In addition, the company has repeatedly passed 
an international social rating assessment, including for compliance with 
the principles of customer protection, confirmed by Microfinanza Rating. 
The company received the highest rating of ‘AA-’ in 2019.

Credit risk management is defined as a set of measures that can help 
avoid or mitigate foreseeable risks and make adequate reserves.

KMF manages the probability of default of individual clients through a 
set of underwriting policies and provisions (analysis and evaluation of 
a loan application). Each borrower and each loan and its restructuring 
/ disbursement of a new tranche under a credit line is subject to 
verification of all criteria for compliance with the requirements of the 
financial analysis methodology, as well as a risk analysis of the relevant 
business or household.

The portfolio risk indicator is PaR 30, calculated as the ratio of the 
principal amount of all loans that are 30 or more days past due as of the 
reporting date to the outstanding principal of the entire loan portfolio.

The expected credit losses are calculated in line with IFRS 9 based on 
the company’s internal methods.

KMF, as a financial institution, takes actions to collect overdue loans, 
however, the company does not adhere to the strict practice of “chasing 
up debts” from customers. All processes are regulated and carried out 

in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan and in 
the spirit of the social profile of KMF as a development institution.

For delinquency management purposes, KMF seeks to restructure loans 
when the client is able and willing to make loan payments in line with 
the revised repayment schedule.

In 2021, the portfolio of restructured loans has decreased substantially, 
and the measures taken to improve underwriting in 2020 led to a lesser 
risk in 2021. 

The key risk factors affecting the credit risk of a company’s portfolio are, but 
are not limited to:

 ▼ Deterioration of macroeconomic indicators across the country;
 ▼ External and internal shocks that can affect the income of medium and 

micro businesses;
 ▼  Wage cuts or late payment of wages in the formally employed sector;
 ▼ Decrease in prices for products in the agricultural sector;
 ▼ Increasing operating costs of business and agricultural clients;
 ▼ Exchange rate volatility;
 ▼ Lockdowns and closures of trade markets, border closures;
 ▼ Political instability in the country or regions.

OPERATIONAL RISKS

KMF defines operational risk as the possibility of losses caused by inadequate 
or failed internal processes, people and systems, or external events. This 
definition includes legal risk but excludes strategic and general business 
risk. Legal risk includes, but is not limited to: exposure to fines, penalties 
and other punitive damages resulting from supervisory actions in relation to 
KMF, as well as from losses in the settlement of private claims. The definition 
of operational risk adopted by KMF also highlights the potential damage to 
its reputation among customers, investors, national authorities and other 
stakeholders that may result from the realization of operational risks.

Depending on the nature of their impact on KMF, operational risk events are 
classified similarly to the widely used classification of the Basel Committee.

KMF maintains zero tolerance to operational risk due to potential regulatory 
and reputational consequences, even if the incident itself is initially 
considered negligible. Any form of fraud by KMF employees constitutes is a 
critical violation and is unacceptable.

The internal control environment includes, but is not limited to: 
systematically organized, clear and specific internal documents that define 
the terms and conditions and describe all products and services; powers and 
responsibilities of subdivisions and employees; and policies and procedures 
that define how those roles and responsibilities are to be performed. The 
internal control environment includes the creation and promotion of a risk 
management culture that guides the actions of each individual employee 
and is also supported and determined by the Supervisory Board (SB), the 

continuation
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Risk Committee under the SB, the Management Board and all heads of 
structural subdivisions of branches and the Head Office.

The operational risk control system of KMF includes current control 
(monitoring) – ongoing control of operational risk indicators, and in-depth 
assessment – a periodic assessment of the effectiveness of control and 
organization of the operational risk management system.

Ongoing monitoring is aimed at timely identification of changes in risk 
levels and exceeding limits, if any. Ongoing monitoring of key operational 
risks is part of the day-to-day activities of KMF’s business / operational 
subdivisions. Controls and tools for ongoing monitoring of their effectiveness 
are embedded at the level of business processes. 

The company conducts an in-depth risk assessment in areas that are 
inherent with high risks, where key risk indicators have gone way beyond 
acceptable limits, or negative trends have been identified that have not 
been eliminated by business / operational subdivisions, and risks have not 
been covered by controls,.

The entire risk management process is regularly monitored and adjusted, 
as necessary. Risk monitoring and control data are used to make timely 
decisions to reduce the level of operational risks and, in general, to adjust 
and improve the risk management system.

A special role in the process of managing operational risks is given to 
communications and training for the first line of defense. The company is 

intensively developing its internal corporate portal, arranging trainings for 
employees and informing the staff about zero tolerance for violations, in 
order to prevent the emergence of risks in the future.

In 2019, the company introduced a risk self-assessment system; in 2021 
this process was fully automated; the company developed a risk map, 
risk response and prevention mechanisms and launched control over the 
implementation of measures.   

ASSET AND LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

Asset and liability management risks include liquidity risks, counterparty 
credit risks in the investment portfolio, as well as market risks arising from 
changes in interest rates and movements in foreign exchange rates.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is defined as the possibility of a negative impact on the 
Company’s profits and business reputation due to the potential inability of 
KMF to meet current payment obligations in a timely manner.

The Company defines liquidity management as a continuous process of 
planning the need for financing and borrowing both at the operational 
(planning period up to 1 month) and tactical level (planning period up to 1 
year), and at the strategic level (planning period over 1 year).

5.3 RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

The main goal of liquidity management is to ensure sustainable growth 
of KMF’s operating assets and provide for timely fulfillment of all KMF 
obligations to third parties.

KMF finances its operations mainly with medium-term loans in tenge and in 
foreign currency received from financial institutions both within Kazakhstan 
and abroad.

In addition to standard loans, KMF uses capital calls.

KMF is developing a contingency financing plan to manage the response 
to early withdrawal of obligations, which will be triggered in the event of an 
emergency liquidity shortage.

In addition, the Company keeps a constant share of liquid assets established 
by the internal requirements of the Supervisory Board and adheres to it on 
a daily basis.

Liquid assets are placed with commercial banks in line with internal limits, 
as well as in the securities market, as per the approved list of admissible 
financial instruments. Only highly liquid financial instruments are used to 
place liquid assets, mainly government securities and repos.

Concentration risk in the commercial banks is managed by monitoring and 
regularly reviewing counterparty limits. 

continuation
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INTEREST RISK

Interest risk in KMF is defined as the possibility of an adverse impact on net 
interest income and on the market value of assets and liabilities in response 
to changes in market interest rates.

KMF’s business model assumes the emergence of interest rate risk mainly 
due to a discrepancy in the timing of the revision of interest rates on the loan 
portfolio and on loans through which KMF finances its lending activities.

In accordance with the legislation of Kazakhstan, there is a cap for increasing 
lending rates on microloans; therefore, raising loan interest rates cannot be 
used as a permanent tool for managing interest rate risk. Loans from KMF 
always have a fixed interest rate over the term of the microloan, while KMF 
liabilities can be at either fixed or floating rate.

During 2021, KMF MFI LLC did not violate any legal requirements, and 
therefore was not filed any claims for the payment of fines, and was not 
under any non-financial sanctions, including any restrictive measures.

Also, during the reporting year, KMF MFI LLC was not involved in any cases 
related to obstruction of competition or violation of antimonopoly legislation.

All sanctions and restrictive measures applied to financial institutions can 
be found on the official website:  https://www.gov.kz/memleket/entities/
ardfm/sanctions?lang=ru.

CURRENCY RISK MANAGEMENT

KMF’s business model assumes the emergence of foreign exchange risk 
due to the fact that KMF disburses loans only in tenge, although part of 
its funding is received from foreign currency loans. KMF has no business 
objective to speculate on FX rates; the goal of KMF is to minimize the currency 
risk in relation to profitability and cost of capital through available financial 
instruments.

Currency risk is managed by using a system of open currency position limits; 
over the past few years, the company has maintained an almost zero open 
currency position. 

5.3 RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

5.4 COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATION

continuation

CURRENCY POSITION AS A SHARE OF EQUITY  
(AT THE END OF 2021)

0.2 
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Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

The Company’s personnel management is built taking into account the need 
to protect the rights of employees provided for by the legislation of Kazakhstan 
and aims to maintain partnerships with employees in resolving social issues 
and be in line with and improve social protection standards.

PERSONNEL STRUCTURE AND HEADCOUNT

At the end of 2021, the actual headcount of the Company is 1,990 employees, 
including 4 senior managers, 420 middle managers and 1,378 engineering 
and technical personnel. Locations-wise there are 409 employees in the 
Head Office and 1,581 employees in branches across the country. The share of 
female and male employees is 52% and 48%, accordingly. The average age of 
the staff is 34 years.

In order to ensure a fair approach to decision-making, the company has 
a Conciliation Commission which operates in line with the grievance 
mechanism and includes representatives of employees and the employer, 
in equal numbers.

In 2021, there were no cases of violation of the employee rights or elements 
of discrimination; no complaints were filed related to employment practices.

The staff turnover rate is determined on an annual basis. Every year, the 
company develops measures to reduce the turnover based on an analysis of 
the causes of turnover, and conducts thorough exit interviews and automated 
surveys. In 2021, turnover rate was 27%; currently, effective measures have 
been taken to reduce it. Recruiting is carried out solely on the basis of job 
profiles and recruitment applications from subdivisions. Also, the company 
is in the process of introducing onboarding automation to identify the real 

THE TOTAL HEADCOUNT OF THE COMPANY AS OF THE REPORTING DATE, BY AGE GROUPS AND GENDER

6.1 PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT

Head Office  409 under 25 y/o 180

25 to 40 y/o 1,382

40 to 55 y/o 370

over 55 y/o 58

Male   Female

TOTAL HEADCOUNT  1,990

HIRED   

AGE   

953  1,037 ACCEPTED EMPLOYEES IN 202134
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reasons for dismissal and is drafting internal normative documents and 
working on a mentoring project that provides for the transfer of experience 
and skills to newcomers from experienced and successful colleagues.

HIRING POLICY

The company places great emphasis on the issue of hiring employees. 
In addition to qualification requirements and high personal traits, the 
company values fitness to the corporate culture. Different position levels 
require specific recruiting methods, which are aimed at assessing the full 
compliance of candidates with what the company requires.

The company maintains a comprehensive employee onboarding procedure, 
automates adaptation processes and provides both functional and socio-
psychological orientation.

At KMF, staff is trained and developed on a permanent systemic basis – this 
is a part of the corporate culture. The front office training system is crucial 
for the company and is multi-stage and systematic. The Company uses a 
training platform with permanently available e-courses. 

6.1 PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT

TRAINING AND EDUCATION

In the Company, training is categorized according to the length of service of 
the employee and the area of his/her competence. Training programs were 
created for:

 ▼ consultants;
 ▼ transaction experts;
 ▼ tellers;
 ▼ specialists of the credit administration section;
 ▼ loan officers;
 ▼ subgroup managers (supervisors of loan officers.

There are also mandatory trainings on safety precautions, combating 
money laundering and terrorist financing, which are regulated by external 
regulators (the Ministry of Labor, the National Bank of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan, etc.).

In general, during the year the company trained:

INCENTIVE SCHEME

KMF runs a transparent and fair incentive scheme, which is aimed at 
achieving the company’s business goals and retaining qualified employees. 
The front office employees are eligible for monthly incentives.

At the end of the reporting year, the Company’s employees are paid an 
annual bonus, which is determined by the rating system. The purpose 
of the rating system is to evaluate the performance of subdivisions and 
compensate the Company’s employees for the results achieved. In addition, 
the Company pays a project bonus, a cash reward payable to project team 
upon the project completion.

SOCIAL PACKAGE FOR КМF EMPLOYEES

The social package offered by the Company is aimed at providing social 
support to the staff, caring for the health of employees and their family 
members, maintaining a work-life balance, and providing opportunities for 
the development of employees and their children.

The social package includes additional benefits based on the cafeteria 
principle, where each employee can put together a set of benefits for 
himself, which are paid by the Company in the amount of the established 
limits. 

EMPLOYEES 
IN PERSON1,521
EMPLOYEES 
REMOTELY1,348

continuation
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The corporate culture in the Company has been a key success factor for many 
years. It is based on the deliberate need to benefit society and contribute to 
the prosperity of customers and employees.

The key instrument of the Company’s corporate and business culture is the 
Code of Business Ethics, which contains the basic principles and rules for 
stakeholder relations and the norms of business ethics in the Company.

The corporate culture and its processes are based on the values accepted 
in all areas of the Company’s activities.

Commitment to the values of the Company gives rise to a sense of pride in 
our employees and awakens the desire to achieve the best results.

6.1 PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT

The corporate culture and team spirit of the Company are based on:

 ▼ constant efforts of the heads of all structural subdivisions to create a 
team of followers united by a common vision;

 ▼ principles of respect, courtesy, goodwill, fairness, self-esteem and ethical 
attitude of the Company’s employees towards colleagues, clients and 
other people;

 ▼ committed participation of employees in maintaining corporate 
traditions, which contributes to the improvement of corporate culture 
and internal cooperation;

 ▼ real concern for the professional development and career growth of 
staff through training, mentoring, consulting. On the first working day, 
every new hire takes an onboarding course “Welcome to KMF!”, which 
helps them understand that the Company is willing to share knowledge 
and trains employees from the first day;

 ▼ formation of the personnel reserve of the Company from among the 
ambitious professional employees;

 ▼ clear internal communications, eliminating the possibility of discretionary 
interpretation, distortion or misinterpretation of information;

 ▼ application of uniform standards in hiring, performance evaluation of 
each employee, promotion of the Company’s employees based on 
transparent criteria.

continuation
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Knowledge Motivation Freedom
Over twenty years of responsible and high-quality work, we have 

accumulated unique experience and knowledge. This helped us become 

a leader in the microfinance market. However, we do not rely only on the 

success of the past. The unquenchable thirst for new knowledge is an 

important driving force of KMF.

We motivate clients, because our service is aimed at their development. Our 

innovative products make workflows more flexible, convenient and efficient. 

And the success of our clients motivates our entire team.

We help our clients and employees find the freedom to achieve their goals. 

Financial freedom is built on the principles of transparency and mutual trust. 

And truly solid trust is based not only on mere business agreements, but also 

on a caring attitude.

Uniqueness Innovation Transparency
Knowledge of our business, combined with the fact that we understand, 

appreciate and develop the personality of each member in the team, allows us 

to create a unique and demanded offer on the market.

We are inspired by the new. We are constantly looking for fresh, bold, more 

productive solutions, tools, technologies.

Everything we do is honest, open and transparent. We have nothing to hide. It 

gives us confidence, freedom from negative emotions.

Responsibility Development Care
We know how much depends on us, and we realize that responsibility is the 

basis of long-term success. We understand that we are responsible to

 ▼ our clients and partners

 ▼ our team

 ▼ our city, region, country (development of local communities and economics, 

prudence, environmental friendliness)

We are focused on continuous development of business, our products, 

our customers. We don’t stand still. We sincerely believe that continuous 

development is the key to our success. We are energetic and efficient because 

our development affects the well-being of our customers and our employees.

Sincerely caring about our customers and staff, we help them feel comfortable 

and free. Customer care definitely includes an individual approach to each, 

and faith in their success.

Quality Flexibility Trust
We apply the best international microfinance practices. We understand 

the criteria for high quality and strive to meet them as much as possible in 

everything we do.

We are open to changes. We do not give up in the face of unpredictability. We 

are always ready to be flexible, try again and again, look at the problem from a 

different angle, see new opportunities, change ourselves and achieve success.

We trust people. We believe in those whom other financial institutions don’t 

– because we are free from stereotypes. We are sure that everyone has one 

more chance, everyone can become better.

K
Knowledge

M
Motivation

F
Freedom
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The company constantly supports various projects in financial literacy, 
women’s entrepreneurship, support for children and families, and sports.

Charity takes an important place in the company’s social life. Employees 
share and support this vision of the company. 

 ▼ In 2020, KMF started cooperation with the Red Cross and Crescent. 
During the state of emergency in March-May 2020, the company 
allocated 4 million tenge to purchase 800 food packages for people who 
became unemployed and needed food and essentials. The company 
also allocated 10 million tenge from the reserve fund for the purchase of 
special protective suits for medical workers.

 ▼ We also supported the children’s basketball team in Turkestan and 
bought jerseys for the students. In May 2021, the team reached the final 
of the republican women championship. The Company also supported 
two children’s hockey teams from Almaty by paying for their participation 
in the Hockey Planet tournament in Nur-Sultan.

6.2 CHARITY AND SPONSORSHIP
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Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

FINANCIAL LITERACY PROJECT

The social responsibility of the company determines not only the provision 
of financial services, but also free financial literacy training.

Since 2013, KMF, with the support of its major shareholder, KMF-Demeu 
Fund, has been implementing “Increasing the financial literacy of people in 
Kazakhstan” project. Lessons / consultations are available not only to clients, 
but also to any willing citizens of Kazakhstan. By January 1, 2022, the project 
covered more than 165,000 people. About 8,000 KMF borrowers attended 
seminars on financial literacy in business management.

SUPPORT FOR VULNERABLE FAMILIES

The company has traditionally been helping low-income families and 
vulnerable children as part of the “Road to School” project, when school 
supplies, uniforms, winter clothing and footwear are purchased for 
children from low-income families throughout Kazakhstan. The company’s 
employees cater to veterans of the Second World War, large families and 
shelters.

Since 2020, the Company has been supporting “Mama Pro” Foundation for 
the Support and Development of Vulnerable Women through financing a 
project of psychological adaptation courses for children with disabilities and 
courses for parents raising children with disabilities. In 2021, 2.5 million tenge 
was allocated to implement the fund’s projects: arrange financing courses 
for children with disabilities and their mothers. More than 40 women with 
children with disabilities took courses funded by KMF.

The company provided financial assistance to “Bereke” public fund in the 
amount of 2 million tenge for the renovation of a 300 m2 building, which will 
accommodate a center for providing additional education for children from 
low-income families. The training center can already accept 180 children of 
the fund and several hundred children of the area.

Support for Salutaris Foundation. 2mn tenge assistance was provided 
to children diagnosed with cerebral palsy (CP) to participate in the BDA 
(Biomechanical Approach to Development) rehabilitation course offered by 
Biodevel Professional.

Support for Tassaryk Special Social Services Center in Turkestan region. The 
company allocated 657,000 tenge to purchase 8 carpets and 45 bed covers. 
The center accommodates disabled children diagnosed with CP.

Support for a special boarding school in Peschanoye village, Pavlodar region. 
The company helped purchasing a frame pool for disabled children. The 
amount of assistance was 250 thousand tenge.

Support for “KZ” Public Fund in the form of 1,3mn tenge assistance to 
purchase school uniform for 68 low-income children.
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Support for “Global Success of People” International Fund. Partial financial 
assistance in the amount of 1mn tenge to purchase and maintain a house 
for the Children’s Palliative Care Center.

Kovcheg Orphanage in Talgar, Almaty region, was given 2.3 million tenge 
to renovate a sports hall. The funds were used to significantly improve the 
acoustics in the hall, dismantle the old non-operating stove, install heating 
pipes, change the electrics, refresh and repaint the walls and ceiling, restore 
the windows.

As an in-house charity fundraising initiative, KMF employees donated 4.5 
million tenge for the medical treatment of a colleague’s child diagnosed 
with bone sarcoma. KMF management allocated another 5.5 million tenge. 
The total fundraising amount of 10 million tenge was transferred to the 
child’s father for arranging treatment in Turkey.

The company also provides charitable assistance to needy families in 
various regions of Kazakhstan. In Sarkand (Almaty region) and Kyzylorda,  
the company helped purchasing food baskets to low-income families for 
585,000 tenge.

The company supported Psychological, Medical and Pedagogical  
Consultation Center of Zhalagash district and presented New Year gifts to 
needy children for 148,500 tenge.

The company supported “Omirge sen” Public Fund and purchased food 
baskets as part of the “New Year’s Good Deeds” campaign for needy families 
with children. The amount of assistance was 1 million tenge.

6.2 CHARITY AND SPONSORSHIP

continuation
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The company held the first republican competition among women 
entrepreneurs for “KMF Isker Hanymy 2021” award (“KMF Business Lady 
2021”). The organizers, KMF MFI and KMF-Demeu Fund, accepted over 
1,000 applications, and during the selection process increased the number 
of nominations from 5 to 14, and increased the prize pool to 3.9 million 
tenge. The competition started in July 2021, and in December awards were 
presented to the best business representatives in their field and active KMF 
clients in four nominations, on top of which the judges set apart a special 
prize. The winners of the competition received certificates of 500 thousand 
tenge to buy equipment for business development, household appliances 
and tourist trips. Grand Prix was 1 million tenge.

«Since the country has gained independence, it is women who 
have been actively involved in the new economy and become 
entrepreneurs. Today, they create and develop a great number 
of micro-businesses, supported by families, each contributing 
to the overall development of the economy. Therefore, all these 
years we have been investing heavily not only in lending to 
women, but also in their training, development of their skills and 
competencies»

Shalkar Zhussupov
CEO of KMF.

«The purpose of our award is to draw attention to the 
development of women’s entrepreneurship and identify leaders 
among businesswomen in Kazakhstan. In just three months 
we accepted 1,066 applications from all over the country. Of 
them, 791 applications were marked as meeting the selection 
criteria, which were then narrowed to 35 challengers according 
to the rating system, and finally the judges selected the five best 
entrepreneurs»

Assel Shegebayeva 
CEO of KMF-Demeu Fund.

According to the organizers of the award, most of the applications for 
participation in the competition were filed from the cities of Almaty, 
Taldykorgan and Shymkent and Turkestan region. The judges included 
Gulzira Amanturlina from the Association of Social Entrepreneurs, and 
Bettina Wittlinger de Lima, gender expert from the Frankfurt School of 

Finance and Management. The Grand Prix of the KMF Isker Hanymy Award 
went to Maira Seisengaliyeva from Turgen village in Almaty region, who has 
been cultivating apple trees with the help of KMF’s funding for more than 
17 years. She grows about 7 thousand fruit trees on a land plot of 8 hectares.

In the course of reviewing the applications, the team and the judges 
decided to distinguish women entrepreneurs with special nominations for 
the achievements in their field of business. As a result, another 9 women 
received 100,000 tenge certificates for household appliances.
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In its activities KMF complies with the requirements of the basic 
environmental protection principles:

 ▼ priority of protection of human life and health, preservation and 
restoration of the environment favorable for life, work and recreation of 
the population;

 ▼ prevention of potential harm to the environment.

The activities of KMF as a financial institution do not have a significant impact 
on the environment in terms of such indicators as accidental and irregular 
discharges of pollutants / wastewater discharges / emissions of greenhouse 
gases and other pollutants into the atmosphere.

At the same time, the Company takes all measures to prevent excessive 
consumption of renewable resources. For the rational use of paper, the 
company switched to electronic document management and all internal 
official documents (memos, orders and other regulatory documents) are 
drafted and stored electronically. To save water and electricity in the offices, 
the plumbing is being reviewed and repaired in a timely manner, energy-
saving light sources and motion sensors are being installed.

The internal documents of KMF reflect the rules prohibiting the financing of 
KMF projects, the implementation of which is harmful to the environment, 
human life and health.

When reviewing loan applications, KMF pays special attention to 
environmental aspects in the activities of borrowers (applicants) and 
supports environmentally oriented projects.

One of the forbidden lending areas is financing projects that cause serious 
damage to the environment, human life and health.

KMF takes appropriate measures to avoid legal, financial and reputational 
consequences for KMF related to environmental and social issues.

KMF uses all reasonable efforts to ensure the continuous functioning of the 
environmental and social management system in order to identify, assess 
and manage environmental and social impacts.

In the course of its activities, the Company ensures a careful and rational 
attitude towards the environment and the use of resources.

The buildings of KMF’s Head Office and branches are equipped with 
automated water, electricity and heat supply systems. In line with the 
Environmental Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan, hazardous wastes 
are collected for subsequent recycling and disposal (lead batteries, 
accumulators, oily wastes, pneumatic tires, household garbage, mercuric 
lamps, exhaust oils).

6.3 ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

ПОТРЕБЛЕНИЕ ЭЛЕКТРОЭНЕРГИИ И ТЕПЛА
Потребление электроэнергии, кВт

Данные предоставлены по расходам собственных зданий, не учитывая расходы арендных помещений

Данные предоставлены по расходам собственных зданий, не учитывая расходы арендных помещений

Отопление, Гкал

1616,77

1644718,7

2020

1980,37

1919251

2021

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

ПОТРЕБЛЕНИЕ ВОДЫ
Отведение сточных вод, м.кубПотребление воды, м.куб

11339

9384

2020

12702

10419

2021

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

ЭЛЕКТР ЭНЕРГИЯСЫ МЕН ЖЫЛУДЫ ТҰТЫНУ
Электр энергиясын тұтыну, кВт

Деректер жалға берілетін үй-жайлардың шығыстарын ескермей, меншікті ғимараттардың шығыстары бойынша берілді

Деректер жалға берілетін үй-жайлардың шығыстарын ескермей, меншікті ғимараттардың шығыстары бойынша берілді

Жылумен қамту, Гкал

1616,77

1644718,7

2020

1980,37

1919251

2021

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

СУДЫ ТҰТЫНУ
Ақпа суды әкету, текше м.Суды тұтыну, текше м. 

11339

9384

2020

12702

10419

2021

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

ELECTRICITY AND HEAT CONSUMPTION
Electricity consumption, kW

Data on the costs of own buildings, net of the costs of rented premises

Data on the costs of own buildings, net of the costs of rented premises

Heating, Gcal

1616,77

1644718,7

2020

1980,37

1919251

2021

129,2 147,6

136 411 339

WATER CONSUMPTION
Wastewater disposal, m3Water consumption, m3

11339

9384

2020

12702

10419

2021

'

''
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“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Financial statements for 2021 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
(In thousands of tenge) 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements. 2 

 Note 2021 2020 
Interest revenue calculated using effective interest rate    
Cash and cash equivalents  449,623 631,659 
Loans to customers 19 53,679,123 48,766,478 
Investment securities  416,954 421,650 

  54,545,700 49,819,787 
Interest expense calculated using effective interest rate    
Amounts due to credit institutions  (16,061,417) (17,218,993) 
Debt securities issued  (395,099) − 
Repurchase agreements  (963) (14,545) 
  (16,457,479) (17,233,538) 
     
Lease liabilities 11 (89,741) (82,020) 
  (16,547,220) (17,315,558) 
Net interest income  37,998,480 32,504,229 
     
Credit loss expense 20 (1,175,431) (4,170,298) 
Net interest income after credit loss expense  36,823,049 28,333,931 
     
Net (losses)/gains on transactions with financial instruments 

at fair value through profit or loss 6 (609,302) 115,846 
Net losses from foreign currencies:    
- translation differences  (210,465) (836,416) 
- dealing   (33,092) (91,237) 
Net (losses)/gains on initial recognition of financial instruments 

measured at amortised cost  (82,019) 492,546 
Other income  175,715 168,102 
Personnel expenses 21 (12,944,271) (9,202,243) 
Other operating expenses 21 (5,418,537) (3,959,523) 
Other expense  (191,245) (119,599) 
Profit before corporate income tax expense  17,509,833 14,901,407 
     
Corporate income tax expense 15 (3,481,657) (3,823,543) 
Profit for the year  14,028,176 11,077,864 
     
Other comprehensive income for the year    
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods    
Net change in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through 

other comprehensive income 8 8,543 376 
Changes in allowance for expected credit losses of debt instruments 

at fair value through other comprehensive income 8 4,618 4,013 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  13,161 4,389 
Total comprehensive income for the year  14,041,337 11,082,253 
 
 

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Financial statements for 2021 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
(In thousands of tenge) 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements. 3 

 Note 
Charter  
capital 

Reserve 
funds 

Fair value 
reserve 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total  
equity 

         
As at 1 January 2020  14,430,993 721,550 − 70,296 21,239,114 36,461,953 
         
Profit for the year  − − − − 11,077,864 11,077,864 
Other comprehensive income 

for the year  − − 4,389 − − 4,389 
Total comprehensive 

income for the year  − − 4,389 − 11,077,864 11,082,253 
         
Transfer of revaluation reserve 

to retained earnings 9 − − − (7,967) 7,967 − 
Transfer to reserve funds 17 − 254,668 − − (254,668) − 
As at 31 December 2020  14,430,993 976,218 4,389 62,329 32,070,277 47,544,206 
         
Profit for the year  − − − − 14,028,176 14,028,176 
Other comprehensive income 

for the year   − − 13,161 − − 13,161 
Total comprehensive 

income for the year  − − 13,161 − 14,028,176 14,041,337 
         
Dividends declared 17 − − − − (19,133,039) (19,133,039) 
Transfers to the reserve funds 17 − 221,558 − − (221,558) − 
As at 31 December 2021  14,430,993 1,197,776 17,550 62,329 26,743,856 42,452,504 
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“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Financial statements for 2021 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
(In thousands of tenge) 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 5 to 48 are an integral part of these financial statements. 4 

 Note 2021 2020 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Interest received on cash and cash equivalents  449,622 655,486 
Interest received on loans to customers   54,475,133 43,172,040 
Interest received on investments securities  338,260 251,754 
Other income received  139,201 134,739 
Interest paid on amounts due to credit institutions  (15,394,379) (17,114,465) 
Interest paid on repurchase agreements  (963) (14,546) 
Net realised losses from dealing in foreign currencies  (33,092) (91,237) 
Net payments on derivative financial instruments  (906,499) (431,588) 
Personnel expenses paid  (10,728,917) (8,836,382) 
Other operating expenses paid  (3,691,260) (2,885,660) 
Taxes other than corporate income tax and social security 

contributions paid  (1,069,816) (1,074,021) 
Cash flows from operating activities before changes in 

operating assets and liabilities  23,577,290 13,766,120 
     
Net (increase)/decrease in operating assets    
Amounts due from credit institutions  (244) (18,021) 
Loans to customers  (27,481,895) (2,250,553) 
Other assets  28,420 138,843 
     
Net (decrease)/increase in operating liabilities    
Other liabilities  (701,210) 63,878 
Net cash flows from operating activities before corporate 

income tax  (4,577,639) 11,700,267 
     
Corporate income tax paid  (3,839,669) (3,729,849) 
Net cash flows (used in) / from operating activities  (8,417,308) 7,970,418 
     
Cash flows from investing activities    
Purchase of property and equipment  (1,623,083) (2,830,644) 
Purchase of intangible assets  (168,676) (165,686) 
Purchase of investments securities  (459,888) (3,945,774) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   31,304 90,174 
Proceeds from sale of investment property  − 20,638 
Net cash flows used in investing activities  (2,220,343) (6,831,292) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities    
Receipt of amounts due to credit institutions 26 73,564,151 45,277,381 
Repayment of amounts due to credit institutions 26 (51,842,724) (50,293,917) 
Debt securities issued  9,975,221 − 
Payment of dividends 17 (19,133,039) − 
Repayment of lease liabilities 11 (423,370) (442,116) 
Net cash flows from / (used in) financing activities  12,140,239 (5,458,652) 
    
Effect of expected credit losses on cash and cash equivalents 5 (1,209) 46,740 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (59,704) 32,418 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,441,675 (4,240,368) 
     
Cash and cash equivalents, as at 1 January  4,815,542 9,055,910 
Cash and cash equivalents, 31 December  5 6,257,217 4,815,542 
     
Non-cash transactions    
Withholding tax on short-term amounts due from credit institutions  33,577 44,415 
 

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
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1. Principal activities 
“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company (hereinafter − the “Company”) was established in 2006 in 
accordance with legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan as “Microcredit organisation “KazMicroFinance” Limited Liability 
Company. 

In connection with the introduction of the Law of the Republic of Kazakhstan On Microfinance Organizations dated 
26 November 2012, on 5 January 2015 the Company was officially re-registered in the Ministry of Justice of the Republic of 
Kazakhstan as a regulated microfinance organisation “Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company. 
The Company’s activities are supervised and regulated by the Agency of the Republic of Kazakhstan for Regulation and 
Development of Financial Market (hereinafter − the “Agency”).  

The Company’s principal activity is granting micro loans to customers. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company 
has 14 branches and 103 outlets throughout Kazakhstan. Branches are located in the following cities: Almaty, Nur-Sultan, 
Aktobe, Karaganda, Kokshetau, Kostanay, Kyzylorda, Pavlodar, Semey, Taldykorgan, Taraz, Turkestan, Ust-Kamenogorsk 
and Shymkent. The Company’s activities are located and carried out in the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Registered and actual address of the Company’s head office is: 50 Nazarbayev ave., 050004, Almaty, the Republic of 
Kazakhstan. 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company’s charter capital belonged to the following participants (hereinafter − 
“shareholders”): 

 Ownership in % 

Name 
31 December  

2021 
31 December  

2021 

Corporate Fund “KMF-Demeu” 45.435 45.435 
Multi Concept Fund Management S.A  

(former − responsAbility Management Company S.A.) 18.127 18.127 
Triodos Funds B.V. (former − Triodos Custody B.V.) 12.085 12.085 
Triodos SICAV II 12.085 12.085 
Management and employees of the Company 6.226 6.226 
responsAbility SICAV (Lux) 6.042 6.042 
 100.000 100.000 

Kazakhstan business environment 

The Company’s activities are carried out in the Republic of Kazakhstan. Consequently, the Company is exposed to the 
economic and financial risks at the markets of Kazakhstan which display characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax 
and regulatory frameworks continue its development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes which 
together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Republic of 
Kazakhstan. The financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of Kazakhstan business environment 
on the operations and the financial position of the Company. The actual influence of future business environment may differ 
from management’s assessment. 

2. Basis of preparation 

General 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except as mentioned in “Summary of accounting 
policies”, for instance, financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and investment securities measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income have been measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in thousands of tenge (“tenge” or “KZT”), unless otherwise indicated. 

Effect of COVID-19 pandemic 

Due to the rapid spread of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, which continued in 2021, many governments, including the Republic 
of Kazakhstan Government, have introduced various measures to combat the outbreak, including travel restrictions, 
quarantines, closure of business and other venues and lockdown of certain areas. These measures have affected the global 
supply chain, demand for goods and services, as well as the scale of business activity. It is expected that the pandemic itself as 
well as the related public health and social measures may contninue to influence the business of entities in a wide range of 
industries.  

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

6 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 

Effect of COVID-19 pandemic (continued) 

Support measures were introduced by the Government and the Agency to counter the economic downturn caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic. These measures include, among others, subsidised lending to affected industries and individuals, 
payment holidays and easing of certain regulatory restrictions to help the financial sector maintain its capabilities to provide 
resources and to help customers avoid liquidity shortages as a result of the COVID-19 containment measures. 

The Company continues to assess the effect of the pandemic and changing economic conditions on its activities, financial 
position and financial results.  

To the extent that information is available as at 31 December 2021, the Company has reflected revised estimates of expected 
future cash flows in its expected credit loss (ECL) assessment (Note 7).  

3. Summary of accounting policies 

Changes in accounting policies 

The Company applied for the first time certain amendments to the standards, which are effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2021. The Company has not early adopted any other standard, clarification or amendment that has been 
issued but is not yet effective. 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform − Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate 
(IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR). The amendments include the following practical 
expedients: 

• A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by the reform, 
to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest; 

• Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without the 
hedging relationship being discontinued; 

• Entities are granted a temporary relief from complying with the requirement for separately identifiable components 
when an instrument with a risk-free rate is designated at the entity's discretion as a risk component in a hedging 
relationship. 

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements  

COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions effective after 30 June 2021 − Amendments to IFRS 16 

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions - Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases. The amendments 
provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a 
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a 
COVID-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any 
change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the change 
under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification. 

The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is continuing, on 
31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient to 30 June 2022. 

The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. The Company has not received 
COVID 19-related rent concessions but plans to apply the practical expedient if it becomes applicable within allowed period 
of application. 

Fair value measurement 

The Company measures financial instruments carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and non-financial assets such as investment property, at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to 
sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  
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(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Fair value measurement (continued) 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. All 
assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair 
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a 
whole: 

• Level 1 − quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2 − valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is directly or indirectly observable; 

• Level 3 − valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether 
transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

Financial assets and liabilities 

Initial recognition  

Date of recognition 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that 
the Company commits to purchase the asset or liability. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets and liabilities that require delivery of assets and liabilities within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace. 

Initial measurement 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model for 
managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value and, except in the case of financial 
assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount.  

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The Company classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s 
contractual terms, measured at either: 

• Amortised cost; 

• FVOCI; 

• FVPL. 

The Company classifies and measures its derivative at FVPL. The Company may designate financial instruments at FVPL, if 
so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. 

Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortised cost or at FVPL when 
they are held for trading, are derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied. 
  

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Initial measurement (continued) 

Amounts due from credit institutions and loans to customers at amortised cost 

The Company only measures amounts due from credit institutions, loans to customers and other financial investments at 
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows; 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 

The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

Business model assessment 

The Company determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve 
its business objective. 

The Company’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated 
portfolios and is based on observable factors such as: 

• How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated and 
reported to the entity’s key management personnel; 

• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 
and, in particular, the way those risks are managed; 

• How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair value of 
the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected); 

• The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Company’s assessment. 

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios 
into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Company’s original 
expectations, the Company does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, 
but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward. 

The SPPI test 

As a second step of its classification process the Company assesses the contractual terms of financial asset to identify whether 
they meet the SPPI test. 

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may change 
over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the premium/discount). 

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of 
money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Company applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as 
the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set. 

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash 
flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 

Debt instruments at FVOCI  

The Company measures debt instruments at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met: 

• The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Initial measurement (continued) 

Debt instruments at FVOCI (continued) 

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. On derecognition, cumulative gains or losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or loss. 

ECL for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the statement 
of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were 
measured at amortised cost is recognised in other comprehensive income as an accumulated impairment amount, with a 
corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the 
profit and loss upon derecognition of the asset.  

Credit related commitments 

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the 
Company is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial guarantee contracts, these 
contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements. 

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 

The Company does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the exceptional 
circumstances in which the Company changes the business model for managing financial assets. Financial liabilities are never 
reclassified. The Company did not reclassify any of its financial assets and liabilities in 2021. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, current accounts, and amounts due from credit institutions that mature 
within ninety (90) days of the date of origination and are free from contractual encumbrances. 

Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements 

Sale and repurchase agreements (“repos”) are treated as secured financing transactions. Securities sold under sale and 
repurchase agreements are retained in the statement of financial position and, in case the transferee has the right by contract 
or custom to sell or repledge them, reclassified as securities pledged under sale and repurchase agreements. The corresponding 
liability is presented within amounts due to credit institutions or customers. Securities purchased under agreements to resell 
(“reverse repo”) are recorded within cash and cash equivalents or amounts due from credit institutions or loans to customers 
as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest revenue and accrued over the life of 
repo agreements using the effective interest method.  

Securities lent to counterparties are retained in the statement of financial position. Securities borrowed are not recorded in 
the statement of financial position, unless these are sold to third parties. In this case the purchase and sale are recorded within 
gains less losses from trading securities in the statement of profit or loss. The obligation to return them is recorded at fair 
value as a trading liability. 

Derivative financial instruments  

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various derivative financial instruments, including forwards and 
swaps on currency markets to reduce foreign exchange risk exposure. Such financial instruments are recorded at fair value 
through profit and loss. The fair value is estimated based on quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account 
the current market and contractual prices of the underlying instruments and other factors. Derivatives are carried as assets 
when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Gains and losses resulting from these instruments are 
included in the statement of comprehensive income as net gains/(losses) on transactions with financial instruments at fair 
value through profit or loss.  



75
h t t p : / / w w w . kmf.kz Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

Appendices

03
Financial PerformanceAbout KMF MFI

01
Service and Digitalization

02
Corporate Governance

04
Risk Management

05 
Social Responsibility

06 07 08 

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

10 

3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Borrowings  

Issued financial instruments or their components are classified as liabilities, where the substance of the contractual 
arrangement results in the Company having an obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy 
the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own 
equity instruments. Such instruments include amounts due to credit institutions and debt securities issued. After initial 
recognition, borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the borrowings are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process. 

Leases 

i. Company as a lessee  

The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 
of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 
the right to use the underlying assets.  

Right-of-use assets 

The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Unless the Company is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, 
the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and 
the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. 

Lease liabilities 

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) 
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably 
certain to be exercised by the Company and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects 
the Company exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are 
recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease 
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, 
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In 
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change 
in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease 
of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered of low value (i.e., below 
KZT 1,900 thousand). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

ii. Operating − Company as a lessor  

Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are 
classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included 
in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis 
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The right of set-off must not be contingent on a future event and must be 
legally enforceable in all of the following circumstances: 

• The normal course of business; 

• The event of default; and 

• The event of insolvency or bankruptcy of the entity and all of the counterparties.  

These conditions are not generally met in master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross 
in the statement of financial position. 

Renegotiated loans 

The Company will seek to restructure loans in cases where a borrower is unable to adhere to an agreed repayment schedule 
due to objective changes in circumstances, but the Company deems that the borrower is able to repay the loan in full with a 
modified repayment schedule. Restructuring may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan 
conditions.  

The Company derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been 
renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a derecognition gain or 
loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 
for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI). When 
assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Company considers the following factors: 

• Change in currency of the loan; 

• Change in counterparty; 

• If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion. 

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in 
derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate, the Company records a 
modification gain or loss, presented within interest revenue calculated using effective interest rate in the statement of profit 
or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. 

For modifications not resulting in derecognition, the Company also reassesses whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk or whether the assets should be classified as credit-impaired. Once an asset has been classified as credit-impaired 
as the result of modification, it will remain in Stage 3 for a minimum 2-month probation period. In order for the restructured 
loan to be reclassified out of Stage 3, regular payments of principal and interest have been made during the probation period 
in accordance with the modified payment schedule.  

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
where: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

• The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the right to receive cash flows 
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 
“pass-through” arrangement; and 

• The Company either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over 
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration that the Company could be required to repay.   
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar 
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset 
that the Company may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar 
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of 
the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 

Write-off 

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Company deems that recovery is unlikely. 
If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to 
the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss 
expense. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.  

Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability 
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

Taxation 

The current corporate income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the tax legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 

Deferred corporate income tax assets and liabilities are calculated in respect of all temporary differences using the liability 
method. Deferred corporate income taxes are provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes, except where the deferred corporate income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

A deferred corporate income tax asset is recorded only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred corporate income tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

The Republic of Kazakhstan also has various operating taxes that are assessed on the Company’s activities. These taxes are 
recorded in the statement of comprehensive income within other operating expenses. 

Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are carried at cost, excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of equipment when that cost is incurred if the 
recognition criteria are met. 

The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the following 
estimated useful lives: 

 Years 
   
Buildings 40 
Computer hardware 2-7 
Vehicles 5-7 
Office furniture and equipment 5-10 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each financial year-end. 

Costs related to repairs and renewals are charged when incurred and included in the statement of comprehensive income 
within other operating expenses, unless they qualify for capitalisation.  
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Investment property 

Investment property is land or building or a part of building held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation and which 
is not used by the Company or held for the sale in the ordinary course of business. Property that is being constructed or 
developed or redeveloped for future use as investment property is also classified as investment property.  

Investment property is initially recognised at cost, including transaction costs, and subsequently remeasured at fair value 
reflecting market conditions at the end of the reporting period. Fair value of the Company’s investment property is determined 
on the base of various sources including reports of independent appraisers, who hold a recognised and relevant professional 
qualification and who have recent experience in valuation of property of similar location and category. 

Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property or for which the market has become 
less active continues to be measured at fair value. Earned rental income is recorded in the statement of profit or loss within 
other income. Gains and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of investment property are recorded in profit or loss 
and presented within other income or other operating expense. 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with it will flow to 
the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. If 
an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified to premises and equipment, and its carrying amount at 
the date of reclassification becomes its deemed cost to be subsequently depreciated. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets include software and are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised over the 
useful economic lives from 5 to 10 years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset 
may be impaired. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the amount of obligation can be made. 

Retirement and other employee benefit obligations 

The Company does not have any pension arrangements separate from the State pension system of the Republic of Kazakhstan, 
which requires current contributions by the employer calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments. Such 
expenses are charged in the period the related salaries are earned. In addition, the Company has no significant post-retirement 
benefits. 

Charter capital 

Charter capital 

Authorised capital is classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of additional charter capital are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

Dividends 

Dividends are recognised as liabilities and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they are declared before or on 
the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting date or proposed or declared after 
the reporting date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue. The ability of the Company to declare and pay 
dividends is subject to the rules and regulations of the Republic of Kazakhstan legislation. 

Contingent asset and liabilities 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but is disclosed unless the possibility of any 
outflow in settlement is remote. Contingent asset is not recognised in the statement of financial position but is disclosed when 
an inflow of economic benefits is almost certain.  
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Recognition of income and expenses 

Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the income 
can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Interest and similar income and expense 

The Company calculates interest revenue on debt financial assets measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than credit-impaired assets. Effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 
The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) and 
includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if 
the Company revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original 
effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest revenue or expense. 

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired, the Company calculates interest revenue by applying the effective interest 
rate to the net amortised cost of the financial asset. If the financial assets cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the Company 
reverts to calculating interest revenue on a gross basis. 

For POCI financial assets, the Company calculates interest revenue by calculating the credit-adjusted effective interest rate 
and applying that rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The credit-adjusted effective interest rate is the interest rate that, at 
original recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortised cost of the POCI 
assets. 

Foreign currency translation 

The financial statements are presented in tenge, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Transactions 
in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the official exchange rate established by the Kazakhstan 
Stock Exchange (hereinafter − the “KASE”) and communicated by the NBRK, at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the 
reporting date. Gains and losses resulting from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognised in the statement 
of comprehensive income as net gains/(losses) from foreign currencies. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. 
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the official exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. Differences between the contractual exchange rate of a transaction in a foreign currency 
and the official exchange rate on the date of the transaction are included in net gains or losses from dealing in foreign 
currencies. 

The official exchange rate established by KASE as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were KZT 431.80 and KZT 420.91 to  
USD 1, respectively. 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the 
Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these new and amended standards and 
interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective. 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  

In May 2017, the IASB issued IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance 
contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 
Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct 
insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to certain guarantees and financial 
instruments with discretionary participation features. 

A few scope exceptions will apply. IFRS 17 introduces new accounting requirements for banking products with insurance 
features that may affect the determination of which instruments or which components thereof will be in the scope of IFRS 9 
or IFRS 17.  
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued) 

Credit cards and similar products that provide insurance coverage: most issuers of these products will be able to continue with 
their existing accounting treatment as a financial instrument under IFRS 9. IFRS 17 excludes from its scope credit card 
contracts (and other similar contracts that provide credit or payment arrangements) that meet the definition of an insurance 
contract if, and only if, the entity does not reflect an assessment of the insurance risk associated with an individual customer 
in setting the price of the contract with that customer. 

When the insurance coverage is provided as part of the contractual terms of the credit card, the issuer is required to:  

• Separate the insurance coverage component and apply IFRS 17 to it;  

• Apply other applicable standards (such as IFRS 9, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets) to the other components.  

Loan contracts that meet the definition of insurance but limit the compensation for insured events to the amount otherwise 
required to settle the policyholder’s obligation created by the contract: issuers of such loans − e.g. a loan with waiver on 
death − have an option to apply IFRS 9 or IFRS 17. The election would be made at a portfolio level and would be irrevocable. 

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures required. Early 
application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 on or before the date it first applies IFRS 17. 

The Company is currently in the process of assessing the impact of adopting IFRS 17 on its financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 

• What is meant by a right to defer settlement; 

• That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period; 

• That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; 

• That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability 
not impact its classification. 

These amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be applied 
retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the possible impact the amendments will have on current liabilities and 
whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation. 

Reference to the Conceptual Framework − Amendments to IFRS 3 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations - Reference to the Conceptual Framework. The 
amendments are intended to replace a reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, issued 
in 1989, with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in March 2018 without significantly changing 
its requirements. 

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses 
arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred 
separately. 

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for contingent assets that would not be affected by 
replacing the reference to the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements. 

These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be applied prospectively. 
These amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use − Amendments to IAS 16 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Property, Plant and Equipment − Proceeds before Intended Use, which prohibits entities deducting from 
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  
  



77
h t t p : / / w w w . kmf.kz Q U A L I T Y  U S E  SCALE

Appendices

03
Financial PerformanceAbout KMF MFI

01
Service and Digitalization

02
Corporate Governance

04
Risk Management

05 
Social Responsibility

06 07 08 

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

16 

3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use − Amendments to IAS 16 (continued) 

Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling such items, and the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be applied 
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period 
presented when the entity first applies the amendments. 

These amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 

Onerous Contracts − Costs of Fulfilling a Contract − Amendments to IAS 37 

In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37 to specify which costs an entity needs to include when assessing whether 
a contract is onerous or loss-making. 

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”. The costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or 
services include both incremental costs and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. General and 
administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the 
counterparty under the contract. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. The Company will apply 
these amendments to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting 
period in which it first applies the amendments. 

Amendment to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards − Subsidiary as a First-Time Adopter 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. The amendment permits a subsidiary that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) 
of IFRS 1 to measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by the parent, based on the parent’s date 
of transition to IFRS. This amendment is also applied to an associate or joint venture that elects to apply paragraph D16(a) 
of IFRS 1. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is permitted. 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments − Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 9. The 
amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability 
are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or received 
between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. 
An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early adoption is permitted. 
The Company will apply the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of 
the annual reporting period in which the Company first applies the amendment.  

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, which introduce the definition of “accounting estimates”. The 
amendments clarify the difference between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies and correction 
of errors. In addition, the document explains how entities use measurement methods and inputs to develop accounting 
estimates. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 2023, and apply to changes in 
accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start date of the specified period. Earlier 
application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. 

These amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company. 
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3. Summary of accounting policies (continued) 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

Disclosure of Accounting Policies − Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements, in which 
it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The 
amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for 
entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and 
adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. 

The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier application 
permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the application of the 
definition of material to accounting policy information, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. 

The Company is currently assessing the impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on the Company’s 
accounting policy disclosures. 

4. Significant accounting judgements and estimates 

Judgements  

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart from 
those involving estimates, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options 

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an 
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease, 
if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

The Company has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional term of three to five years. The 
Company applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to renew. That is, the 
Company considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After the 
commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is 
within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy). 

Estimation uncertainty 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has used its judgements and made estimates in 
determining the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The most significant use of judgements and estimates are as 
follows: 

Leases − estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate 
(IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when 
no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The 
Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make 
certain entity-specific estimates. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

Where the fair values of financial instruments recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from active 
markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical models. The input 
to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is 
required in establishing fair values. Additional details are provided in Note 23. 
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4. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued) 

Estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Expected credit losses on financial assets 

The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the estimation 
of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessment 
of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in 
different levels of allowances. In addition, large-scale business disruptions may give rise to liquidity issues for some entities 
and consumers. Deterioration in credit quality of loan portfolios (amongst other items) as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 
may have a significant impact on the Company’s ECL measurement. The Company’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex 
models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. 
Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and estimates include: 

• The Company’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial 
assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment. 

• The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis. 

• Development of ECL models, including the various formulae and the choice of inputs. 

• Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as GDP and the effect 
on PDs. 

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings to derive the economic inputs 
into the ECL models. 

Taxation 

The Republic of Kazakhstan currently has a single Tax Code that regulates main taxation matters. The existing taxes include 
value added tax, corporate income tax, social and other taxes. Implementation of these regulations is often unclear or 
non-existent and only an insignificant number of precedents have been established. Often, differing opinions regarding legal 
interpretation exist both among and within government ministries and organisations; thus creating uncertainties and areas of 
conflict. Tax declarations, together with other legal compliance areas (as examples, customs and currency control matters) are 
subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities, which are enabled by law to impose severe fines, penalties and 
forfeits. These facts create tax risks in the Republic of Kazakhstan substantially more significant than typically found in 
countries with more developed tax systems. 

Management believes that the Company is in compliance with the tax laws of the Republic of Kazakhstan regulating its 
operations. However, the risk remains that relevant authorities could take differing positions with regard to interpretive tax 
issues. 

5. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

 
31 December  

2021 
31 December  

2020 
    
Cash on hand 95,366 42,259 
Cash in transit 45,221 54,066 
Current accounts with banks 236,927 380,949 
Current accounts with other credit institutions 949 3,805 
Time deposits with banks up to 90 days 3,924,228 1,595,427 
Reverse repurchase agreements with credit institutions up to 90 days 1,957,374 2,740,675 
 6,260,065 4,817,181 
    
Less: ECL allowance (2,848) (1,639) 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,257,217 4,815,542 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company entered into reverse repurchase agreements on the KASE. The subject of these 
agreements are treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Notes of the NBRK with fair value 
of KZT 1,959,677 thousand (as at 31 December 2020: KZT 2,740,062 thousand). 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents (continued) 
All balances of cash equivalents are allocated to Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes. An analysis of changes in the ECL 
allowances during 2021 is as follows: 

 2021 2020 
    
ECL allowance as at 1 January (1,639) (48,379) 
Net changes in ECL (Note 20) (1,209) 46,740 
As at 31 December (2,848) (1,639) 

Concentration of cash and cash equivalents 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company has no accounts with credit institutions which balances individually exceed 10% of 
the Company’s equity. 

6. Derivative financial instruments 
The Company enters into transactions with the use of derivative financial instruments for decreasing the currency risk. 
The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities, together with their 
notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or 
index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume 
of transactions outstanding at the year end and are not indicative of the credit risk. 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 
Notional 

amount  
Fair value Notional 

amount  
Fair value 

Asset Liability Asset Liability 
Currency agreements       
Currency swaps 17,811,750 485,041 − 7,411,650 187,845 − 
 17,811,750 485,041 − 7,411,650 187,845 − 

Currency swaps 

Currency swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange notional principal and interest amounts in two 
currencies at specified future payment dates and fixed exchange rates. 

In 2021, the Company had a tenge denominated loan in the amount of KZT 1,098,000 thousand received from a local bank 
and security deposits denominated in US Dollars in the amount of USD 2,609 thousand, which serve as security against this 
loan. Since the contractual effect of these loans and deposits is equivalent to a currency swap, the said transactions have been 
treated as a derivative. Also as at 31 December 2021, the Company had a currency swap agreement with an international 
organization in the amount of USD 41,250 thousand with the condition on exchange for KZT 17,250,025 thousand 
(as at 31 December 2020: currency swap agreement with an international organization in the amount of USD 15,000 thousand 
with the condition on exchange for KZT 5,804,700 thousand). 

Net loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income in 2021 
include loss from changes in fair value of currency swaps in the amount of KZT 609,302 thousand (in 2020: gain from changes 
in fair value of currency swaps in the amount of KZT 115,846 thousand). 

7. Loans to customers 
Loans to customers comprise the following: 

 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
    
Retail trade, services and production loans 87,688,773 73,977,746 
Agricultural loans 66,551,757 57,079,996 
Consumer loans 15,071,514 13,055,629 
Total loans to customers 169,312,044 144,113,371 
    
Less: ECL allowance (7,558,963) (7,799,632) 
Loans to customers 161,753,081 136,313,739 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, loans to customers mainly comprise loans issued to individuals. 
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7. Loans to customers (continued) 

ECL allowance of loans to customers 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance in relation to retail trade, services and 
production loans during the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

Retail trade, services and production loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2021 67,844,587 921,844 5,211,315 73,977,746 
New assets originated 110,244,091 − − 110,244,091 
Assets repaid (93,167,665) (136,656) (1,703,017) (95,007,338) 
Net change in accrued interest (794,449) 70,453 (11,082) (735,078) 
Transfers to Stage 1 2,783,604 (770,265) (2,013,339) − 
Transfers to Stage 2 (2,056,095) 2,085,919 (29,824) − 
Transfers to Stage 3 (1,910,887) (1,936,594) 3,847,481 − 
Unwinding of discount − − 1,069,541 1,069,541 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 4,646 (4,200) (2,728) (2,282) 
Recoveries − − 190,697 190,697 
Amounts written off − − (2,048,604) (2,048,604) 
As at 31 December 2021 82,947,832 230,501 4,510,440 87,688,773 
 
Retail trade, services and production loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 (655,748) (421,265) (3,879,214) (4,956,227) 
New assets originated (810,601) − − (810,601) 
Assets repaid 742,255 60,689 1,069,909 1,872,853 
Transfers to Stage 1 (1,575,889) 370,823 1,205,066 − 
Transfers to Stage 2 580,709 (599,301) 18,592 − 
Transfers to Stage 3 68,276 872,671 (940,947) − 
Impact on period end ECL of exposures 

transferred between stages during the period 1,504,623 (354,937) (1,231,244) (81,558) 
Unwinding of discount − − (1,069,541) (1,069,541) 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 1,496 1,885 1,409 4,790 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations (756,781) (43,788) (601,505) (1,402,074) 
Recoveries  − − (190,697) (190,697) 
Amounts written off − − 2,048,604 2,048,604 
As at 31 December 2021 (901,660) (113,223) (3,569,568) (4,584,451) 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance in relation to agricultural loans during the 
year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

Agricultural loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2021 53,983,773 583,127 2,513,096 57,079,996 
New assets originated 83,414,936 − − 83,414,936 
Assets repaid (72,207,250) (76,470) (983,577) (73,267,297) 
Net change in accrued interest (381,397) 36,471 98,340 (246,586) 
Transfers to Stage 1 2,218,896 (530,640) (1,688,256) − 
Transfers to Stage 2 (1,377,834) 1,381,463 (3,629) − 
Transfers to Stage 3 (1,991,995) (1,255,113) 3,247,108 − 
Unwinding of discount − − 536,118 536,118 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition (2,532) 2,154 187 (191) 
Recoveries  − − 152,688 152,688 
Amounts written off − − (1,117,907) (1,117,907) 
As at 31 December 2021 63,656,597 140,992 2,754,168 66,551,757 
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7. Loans to customers (continued) 

ECL allowance of loans to customers (continued) 

Agricultural loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 (255,653) (233,136) (1,709,049) (2,197,838) 
New assets originated (310,521) − − (310,521) 
Assets repaid 302,918 30,866 566,833 900,617 
Transfers to Stage 1 (1,155,463) 217,783 937,680 − 
Transfers to Stage 2 317,869 (319,784) 1,915 − 
Transfers to Stage 3 36,394 505,863 (542,257) − 
Impact on period end ECL of exposures 

transferred between stages during the period 1,124,342 (239,405) (1,131,859) (246,922) 
Unwinding of discount − − (536,118) (536,118) 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 1,276 722 56 2,054 
Changes to model and inputs used for ECL 

calculations (382,936) (22,916) (545,455) (951,307) 
Recoveries  − − (152,688) (152,688) 
Amounts written off − − 1,117,907 1,117,907 
As at 31 December 2021 (321,774) (60,007) (1,993,035) (2,374,816) 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance in relation to consumer loans during the 
year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows: 

Consumer loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2021 12,096,637 90,533 868,459 13,055,629 
New assets originated 17,495,262 − − 17,495,262 
Assets repaid (14,863,190) (26,751) (376,788) (15,266,729) 
Net change in accrued interest (65,868) 13,938 12,168 (39,762) 
Transfers to Stage 1 249,029 (79,766) (169,263) − 
Transfers to Stage 2 (431,488) 432,719 (1,231) − 
Transfers to Stage 3 (159,695) (374,559) 534,254 − 
Unwinding of discount − − 166,300 166,300 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition (3,123) (97) (1,176) (4,396) 
Recoveries  − − 38,285 38,285 
Amounts written off − − (373,075) (373,075) 
As at 31 December 2021 14,317,564 56,017 697,933 15,071,514 
 
Consumer loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 (62,930) (29,265) (553,372) (645,567) 
New assets originated (68,985) − − (68,985) 
Assets repaid 70,769 8,461 200,346 279,576 
Transfers to Stage 1 (108,365) 27,357 81,008 − 
Transfers to Stage 2 83,476 (84,086) 610 − 
Transfers to Stage 3 5,200 122,619 (127,819) − 
Impact on period end ECL of exposures 

transferred between stages during the period 101,512 (58,781) (100,421) (57,690) 
Unwinding of discount − − (166,300) (166,300) 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 249 22 543 814 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations (117,407) (6,892) (152,035) (276,334) 
Recoveries  − − (38,285) (38,285) 
Amounts written off − − 373,075 373,075 
As at 31 December 2021 (96,481) (20,565) (482,650) (599,696) 
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7. Loans to customers (continued) 

ECL allowance of loans to customers (continued) 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance in relation to retail trade, services and 
production loans during the year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows: 

Retail trade, services and production loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2020 65,978,999 233,615 3,911,053 70,123,667 
New assets originated 75,597,057 − − 75,597,057 
Assets repaid (72,218,662) (405,303) (1,125,842) (73,749,807) 
Net change in accrued interest 3,920,294 196,209 599,974 4,716,477 
Transfers to Stage 1 6,863,435 (5,153,219) (1,710,216) − 
Transfers to Stage 2 (8,060,446) 8,317,008 (256,562) − 
Transfers to Stage 3 (2,309,306) (2,228,422) 4,537,728 − 
Unwinding of discount − − 849,952 849,952 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition (1,926,784) (38,044) (12,758) (1,977,586) 
Recoveries − − 66,216 66,216 
Amounts written off − − (1,648,230) (1,648,230) 
As at 31 December 2020 67,844,587 921,844 5,211,315 73,977,746 
 
Retail trade, services and production loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 (512,344) (111,248) (2,823,998) (3,447,590) 
New assets originated (273,905) − − (273,905) 
Assets repaid 763,457 186,488 679,178 1,629,123 
Transfers to Stage 1 (3,358,356) 2,395,772 962,584 − 
Transfers to Stage 2 1,063,954 (1,207,037) 143,083 − 
Transfers to Stage 3 141,361 1,055,149 (1,196,510) − 
Impact on period end ECL of exposures 

transferred between stages during the period 3,216,452 (2,570,225) (1,338,552) (692,325) 
Unwinding of discount − − (849,952) (849,952) 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 28,059 18,056 7,177 53,292 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations (1,724,426) (188,220) (1,044,238) (2,956,884) 
Recoveries  − − (66,216) (66,216) 
Amounts written off − − 1,648,230 1,648,230 
As at 31 December 2020 (655,748) (421,265) (3,879,214) (4,956,227) 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance in relation to agricultural loans during the 
year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows: 

Agricultural loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2020 46,609,102 192,253 1,853,893 48,655,248 
New assets originated 62,574,988 − − 62,574,988 
Assets repaid (54,205,433) (142,932) (654,339) (55,002,704) 
Net change in accrued interest 2,253,048 53,055 483,002 2,789,105 
Transfers to Stage 1 1,978,728 (1,197,435) (781,293) − 
Transfers to Stage 2 (2,792,997) 2,864,716 (71,719) − 
Transfers to Stage 3 (1,313,447) (1,171,986) 2,485,433 − 
Unwinding of discount − − 384,550 384,550 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition (1,120,216) (14,544) (4,401) (1,139,161) 
Recoveries  − − 27,285 27,285 
Amounts written off − − (1,209,315) (1,209,315) 
As at 31 December 2020 53,983,773 583,127 2,513,096 57,079,996 
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7. Loans to customers (continued) 

ECL allowance of loans to customers (continued) 

Agricultural loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 (148,770) (72,277) (1,197,017) (1,418,064) 
New assets originated (140,657) − − (140,657) 
Assets repaid 227,162 53,755 342,952 623,869 
Transfers to Stage 1 (851,351) 465,542 385,809 − 
Transfers to Stage 2 364,022 (397,287) 33,265 − 
Transfers to Stage 3 46,776 448,656 (495,432) − 
Impact on period end ECL of exposures 

transferred between stages during the period 821,397 (690,123) (717,416) (586,142) 
Unwinding of discount − − (384,550) (384,550) 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 8,709 5,325 2,152 16,186 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations (582,941) (46,727) (860,842) (1,490,510) 
Recoveries  − − (27,285) (27,285) 
Amounts written off − − 1,209,315 1,209,315 
As at 31 December 2020 (255,653) (233,136) (1,709,049) (2,197,838) 

An analysis of changes in gross carrying value and corresponding ECL allowance in relation to consumer loans during the 
year ended 31 December 2020 is as follows: 

Consumer loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
Gross carrying value as at 1 January 2020 18,629,939 62,883 691,523 19,384,345 
New assets originated 10,892,863 − − 10,892,863 
Assets repaid (16,953,941) (40,508) (349,117) (17,343,566) 
Net change in accrued interest 455,497 48,515 165,472 669,484 
Transfers to Stage 1 462,133 (247,701) (214,432) − 
Transfers to Stage 2 (717,902) 732,513 (14,611) − 
Transfers to Stage 3 (351,335) (457,733) 809,068 − 
Unwinding of discount − − 147,234 147,234 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition (320,617) (7,436) (2,924) (330,977) 
Recoveries  − − 45,548 45,548 
Amounts written off − − (409,302) (409,302) 
As at 31 December 2020 12,096,637 90,533 868,459 13,055,629 
 
Consumer loans Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
      
ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 (64,523) (20,761) (416,865) (502,149) 
New assets originated (38,412) − − (38,412) 
Assets repaid 60,966 12,772 152,022 225,760 
Transfers to Stage 1 (154,028) 73,193 80,835 − 
Transfers to Stage 2 115,987 (121,570) 5,583 − 
Transfers to Stage 3 8,263 149,113 (157,376) − 
Impact on period end ECL of exposures 

transferred between stages during the period 146,040 (111,380) (172,352) (137,692) 
Unwinding of discount − − (147,234) (147,234) 
Changes to contractual cash flows due to 

modifications not resulting in derecognition 1,367 2,344 1,155 4,866 
Changes to models and inputs used for ECL 

calculations (138,590) (12,976) (262,894) (414,460) 
Recoveries  − − (45,548) (45,548) 
Amounts written off − − 409,302 409,302 
As at 31 December 2020 (62,930) (29,265) (553,372) (645,567) 
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7. Loans to customers (continued) 

ECL allowance of loans to customers (continued) 

As at 31 December 2020, the Company has introduced certain changes in its process of estimation of ECL in the context of 
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In particular, it has revised indicators of significant increase in credit risk and does not 
automatically consider the credit risk to have significantly increased in the case of a loan modification being part of the 
Government support measures. The Company also updated forward-looking information, including forecasts of 
macroeconomic indicators and scenarios weights. 

In 2021, the Company did not apply changes introduced in its process of estimation of expected credit losses arising due to 
the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 

Modified and restructured loans 

The Company derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been 
renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as a derecognition gain or 
loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 
for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be POCI. 

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not result in 
derecognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate, the Company records 
a modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. 

During 2021, the Company has modified the terms and conditions of certain loans, including introduction of payments 
holidays, as part of the measures introduced by the Government related to consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The Company considered these modifications to be non-substantial. As a result, the Company recognised loss on modification 
of loans to customers, not resulting in derecognition in the amount of KZT 6,869 thousand.  

 2021 2020 
Loans to customers modified during the period   
Amortised cost before modification 17,066,704 92,665,058 
Net losses on modification of loans to customers  

not resulting in derecognition (6,869) (3,447,724) 

Collateral and other credit enhancements  

The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. Guidelines are 
implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters. 

The main types of collateral obtained are as follows: 

• Guarantees; 

• Inventory; 

• Real estate; 

• Vehicles; 

• Other. 

Recoverability of loans mainly depends on creditworthiness of the borrower rather than on collateral. The Company’s policy 
provides for foreclosure by selling the collateral in exceptional cases. This is supported by previous experience of obtaining 
and selling the collateral in the event of the borrower’s inability to meet its obligations to the Company at maturity. Thus, in 
many cases, the Company believes that the value of collateral should not be taken into account when assessing the impairment, 
and comes from the fact that the collateral has zero financial impact for credit risk mitigation. 

Concentration of loans to customers 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company has no borrowers or groups of interrelated borrowers whose loan balances 
exceed 10% of its equity. In accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the maximum loan amount 
issued by microfinance organizations as at 31 December 2021 was KZT 58,340 thousand (as at 31 December 2020: 
KZT 55,560 thousand). 
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8. Investment securities 
Investment securities comprise the following: 

Debt securities measured at FVOCI 
31 December  

2021 
31 December  

2020 
    
Treasury bills of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan 4,671,853 2,090,882 
Corporate bonds − 2,029,176 
 4,671,853 4,120,058 
    
Less: ECL allowance (8,631) (4,013) 
Investment securities 4,663,222 4,116,045 

All balances of debt securities measured at FVOCI are allocated to Stage 1 for the purpose of measuring ECL. An analysis of 
changes in the gross carrying values and associated ECLs in relation to debt securities at FVOCI is as follows: 

Debt securities measured at FVOCI 2021 2020 
    
Gross carrying value as at 1 January  4,116,045 − 
New assets originated or purchased 4,403,690 7,573,991 
Assets repaid (3,938,889) (3,739,800) 
Net change in accrued interest 73,833 281,478 
Change in fair value 8,543 376 
As at 31 December 4,663,222 4,116,045 
 
Debt securities measured at FVOCI 2021 2020 
    
ECL as at 1 January  (4,013) − 
Net change in ECL (Note 20) (4,618) (4,013) 
As at 31 December (8,631) (4,013) 

9. Investment property 
The movements in investment property were as follows: 

 2021 2020 
    
As at 1 January 52,992 63,810 
Dsiposals − (20,638) 
Revaluation surplus 13,966 9,820 
As at 31 December 66,958 52,992 

In January 2019, the Company decided to lease an office building and land in Uzynagash village, 44 Tole bi street. In connection 
with the change in the intended use of this facility, the Company reclassified the building and land as investment property. 

As at the date of transfer, the amount of positive difference between the carrying amount of the land plot in Uzynagash village 
in accordance with IAS 16 and its fair value in the amount of KZT 9,959 thousand before income tax was recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Impairment loss for the building in Uzynagash in the amount of KZT 24,991 thousand was recognised 
in profit or loss as other expense. 

On 5 June 2021, the Company sold the above mentioned investment property with a carrying amount of KZT 20,638 thousand. 

Upon derecognition of the asset, the gain from its revaluation previously recognised in equity in the amount of 
KZT 7,967 thousand was transferred to retained earnings. 

In December 2021, the Company revalued investment property in Taldykorgan city, with the involvement of an independent 
appraisal company, Market Consulting LLP. Based on the results of the revaluation, the Company recognised a gain in the 
amount of KZT 13,966 thousand in profit or loss as other income. 

 2021 2020 
    
Rental income derived from investment property 9,600 9,773 
Total 9,600 9,773 

The Company has no restrictions on sale of its investment properties and no contractual obligations to either purchase, 
construct or develop investment properties or for repairs, maintenance and enhancements. 
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10. Property and equipment 
Movements in property and equipment were as follows: 

 Land Buildings 
Computer 
hardware  Vehicles 

Office furniture 
and equipment 

Construction- 
in-progress Total 

Cost        
As at 1 January 2020 82,681 2,322,821 1,292,553 416,850 1,151,814 30,454 5,297,173 
Additions 5,327 3,295,416 370,064 174,045 229,281 12,453 4,086,586 
Disposals − (1,294) (26,791) (117,540) (19,448) (42,907) (207,980) 
As at 31 December 2020 88,008 5,616,943 1,635,826 473,355 1,361,647 − 9,175,779 
         
Additions − − 319,390 96,033 335,030 209,984 960,437 
Transfers − 135,625 6,527 338 1,132 (143,622) − 
Disposals − (107) (41,902) (33,276) (26,351) − (101,636) 
As at 31 December 2021 88,008 5,752,461 1,919,841 536,450 1,671,458 66,362 10,034,580 
         
Accumulated depreciation         
As at 1 January 2020 − (197,607) (613,384) (164,555) (425,939) − (1,401,485) 
Depreciation charge − (105,091) (235,093) (70,707) (171,135) − (582,026) 
Disposals  − 848 24,917 71,268 14,909 − 111,942 
As at 31 December 2020 − (301,850) (823,560) (163,994) (582,165) − (1,871,569) 
         
Depreciation charge  − (121,465) (245,628) (78,018) (190,267) − (635,378) 
Disposals  − 35 38,794 28,139 21,115 − 88,083 
As at 31 December 2021 − (423,280) (1,030,394) (213,873) (751,317) − (2,418,864) 
         
Net carrying amount        
As at 1 January 2020 82,681 2,125,214 679,169 252,295 725,875 30,454 3,895,688 
As at 31 December 2020 88,008 5,315,093 812,266 309,361 779,482 − 7,304,210 
As at 31 December 2021 88,008 5,329,181 889,447 322,577 920,141 66,362 7,615,716 

As at 31 December 2021, the cost of fully depreciated property and equipment in use of the Company amounted to KZT 46,734 thousand (as at 31 December 2020: KZT 33,970 thousand).  
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13. Other assets and liabilities 
Other assets comprise the following: 

 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
Other financial assets   
Receivables from employees  18,432 26,251 
Receivables from collector organization  9,479 28,790 
Other 90,966 56,796 
 118,877 111,837 
    

Less: ECL allowance (52,831) (43,663) 
Total other financial assets 66,046 68,174 
    
Other non-financial assets   
Advances to suppliers 383,187 277,347 
Inventories 189,090 121,696 
Prepaid taxes and other payments to budget 26,178 22,769 
Total other non-financial assets 598,455 421,812 
Other assets 664,501 489,986 

Other liabilities comprise the following: 

 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
Other financial liabilities   
Payables to employees  2,059,351 971,107 
Overpayments of loans to customers  1,420,780 1,358,597 
Payables for purchased building  653,570 1,109,113 
Payables to suppliers 386,256 144,410 
ECL allowance on contingent liabilities (Note 18) 15,169 − 
Other 73,690 25,216 
Total other financial liabilities 4,608,816 3,608,443 
    
Other non-financial liabilities   
Accrued expenses on unused vacations 480,177 406,555 
Taxes other than corporate income tax payable 506,092 306,569 
Total other non-financial liabilities 986,269 713,124 
Other liabilities 5,595,085 4,321,567 

In March 2020 the Company purchased building, located at 50 Nazarbayev avenue, Almaty, in instalments. The Company’s 
liability under this transaction was initially recognised at far value using the discount rate of 13% per annum. 

Gain on initial recognition of the liability amounted to KZT 285,486 thousand and was recognised in profit or loss as gain on 
initial recognition of financial instruments measured at amortised cost. 

14. Amounts due to credit institutions 
Amounts due to credit institutions comprise the following: 

 
31 December 

2021 
31 December  

2020 
    

Loans from financial institutions, other than banks, of OECD countries 59,148,096 52,339,372 
Loans from local banks and financial institutions 34,418,076 14,253,484 
Loans from banks of OECD countries 30,332,777 35,235,136 
Amounts due to credit institutions 123,898,949 101,827,992 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had borrowings from five banks and six other financial institutions (as at 31 December 
2020: three banks and two other financial institutions) whose balances individually exceeded 10% of its equity. As at 
31 December 2021, the total aggregate balance of liabilities to the above counterparties amounts to KZT 92,595,396 thousand 
(as at 31 December 2020: KZT 55,742,446 thousand). 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company complied with all financial covenants implied by loan agreements with credit 
institutions.  

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

29 

15. Taxation 
The corporate income tax expense comprises thefollowing: 

 2021 2020 
    
Current corporate income tax charge 3,626,371 3,641,042 
Deferred corporate income tax (benefit)/charge −  

origination and reversal of temporary differences (144,714) 182,501 
Corporate income tax expense 3,481,657 3,823,543 

The Republic of Kazakhstan is the only tax jurisdiction in which the Company’s income is taxable. In accordance with tax 
legislation the applied corporate income tax rate is 20% in 2021 and 2020. 

The reconciliation between the corporate income tax expense in the accompanying financial statements and profit before 
corporate income tax multiplied by the statutory tax rate for the years, ended 31 December, is as follows: 

 2021 2020 
    
Profit before corporate income tax expense 17,509,833 14,901,407 
Statutory rate 20% 20% 
Theoretical corporate income tax expense at the statutory rate 3,501,967 2,980,281 
    
Non-taxable income on state securities and securities listed at KASE (83,391) (81,421) 
Non-taxable income from finance lease (23,807) − 
Non-deductible credit loss expense − 230,249 
Non-deductible loss on modification of terms of loans to customers 1,374 689,545 
Non-deductible other expenses 85,514 4,889 
Corporate income tax expense 3,481,657 3,823,543 

As at 31 December 2021 current corporate income tax assets comprised KZT 256,837 thousand (as at 31 December 2020: 
KZT 43,539 thousand). 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 

Temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements and the 
amounts used for the purposes of calculation of taxable base, give rise to net deferred tax assets and liabilities 
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The future tax benefits will only be received in the event that there are no changes in the 
legislation of Kazakhstan that would adversely affect the Company’s ability to utilise such benefits in future periods. 

Deferred corporate income tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December and their movements for the respective years comprise: 

 2019 

Origination 
and reversal 

of temporary 
differences 

in profit 
or loss 2020 

Origination 
and reversal 

of temporary 
differences 

in profit 
or loss 2021 

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences      
Accrued expenses on unused vacations and bonuses  356,966 (101,861) 255,105 208,948 464,053 
Amounts due to credit institutions 1,622 13,715 15,337 11,408 26,745 
Lease liabilities 137,086 (20,605) 116,481 5,172 121,653 
Other liabilities 5,947 169 6,116 4,461 10,577 
Deferred corporate income tax assets 501,621 (108,582) 393,039 229,989 623,028 
       
Tax effect of taxable temporary differences      
Property and equipment and intangible assets  (213,512) (103,033) (316,545) (76,790) (393,335) 
Right-of-use assets (126,330) 20,966 (105,364) (5,692) (111,056) 
Investment property (10,112) 8,148 (1,964) (2,793) (4,757) 
Deferred corporate income tax liabilities (349,954) (73,919) (423,873) (85,275) (509,148) 
Net deferred corporate income tax 

assets/(liabilities)  151,667 (182,501) (30,834) 144,714 113,880 
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11. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
Movements in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities were as follows: 

 
Right-of-use 

assets (building) 
Lease  

liabilities 
    
As at 1 January 2020 631,654 685,432 
Additions 340,879 340,879 
Disposals (83,808) (83,808) 
Depreciation expense (361,903) − 
Interest expense − 82,020 
Payments − (442,116) 
As at 31 December 2020 526,822 582,407 
    
Additions 360,366 360,366 
Disposals (876) (876) 
Depreciation expense (331,030) − 
Interest expense − 89,741 
Payments − (423,370) 
As at 31 December 2021 555,282 608,268 

The Company recognised rent expense from short-term leases of KZT 183,731 thousand for the year ended 31 December 
2021 (in 2020: KZT 149,256 thousand) (Note 21). 

12. Intangible assets 
Movements in intangible assets were as follows: 

 Software 
Cost  
As at 1 January 2020 744,276 
Additions 165,686 
As at 31 December 2020 909,962 
   
Additions 168,676 
As at 31 December 2021 1,078,638 
   
Accumulated amortisation  
As at 1 January 2020 (362,762) 
Amortisation charge (114,522) 
As at 31 December 2020 (477,284) 
   
Amortisation charge (131,815) 
As at 31 December 2021 (609,099) 
   
Net carrying amount  
As at 1 January 2020 381,514 
As at 31 December 2020 432,678 
As at 31 December 2021 469,539 
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18. Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

Legal issues 

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management believes that the 
ultimate liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints will not have a material adverse effect on the financial 
condition or the results of future operations of the Company, no provision was recognised in the financial statements. 

Tax contingencies 

Various types of legislation and regulations are not always clearly written and their interpretation is subject to the opinions of 
the local tax inspectors and the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Instances of inconsistent opinions between 
local, regional and national tax authorities are not unusual. The current regime of penalties and profit related to reported and 
discovered violations of Kazakh laws, decrees and related regulations are severe. Penalties include confiscation of the amounts 
at issue (for currency law violations), as well as fines of generally 50% of the taxes unpaid.  

The Company believes that it has paid or accrued all taxes that are applicable. Where practice concerning tax application is 
unclear, the Company has accrued tax liabilities based on management’s best estimate. The Company’s policy is to recognize 
provisions in the accounting period in which a loss is deemed probable and the amount is reasonably determinable. 

Because of the uncertainties associated with the Kazakhstan tax system, the ultimate amount of taxes, penalties and fines, if 
any, may be in excess of the amount expensed to date and accrued at 31 December 2021. Although such amounts are possible 
and may be material, it is the opinion of the Company’s management that these amounts are either not probable, not 
reasonably determinable, or both. 

Commitments and contingencies 

The Company has contingent liabilities to provide credit resources. These credit related contingencies provide for issuance of 
credit resources in the form of approved credit facilities. 

In providing credit related contingencies, the Company applies the same risk management policies and procedures used when 
issuing loans to customers. 

The contractual amounts of credit related contingencies are set out in the table below. The amounts reflected in the table for 
credit related contingencies assume that the indicated contingencies will be fully settled. 

 
31 December  

2021 
31 December  

2020 
Credit related commitments   
Undrawn loan commitments 14,602,183 13,135,111 
Commitments and contingencies 14,602,183 13,135,111 
    
ECL allowances for credit related commitments (15,169) − 

The agreements on the provision of credit lines provide for the right of the Company to unilaterally withdraw from the 
contract in the event of any adverse conditions. At the same time, the Company carries out an analysis of the borrower’s credit 
risk before the date of provision of funds within the framework of credit lines. Therefore, the Company’s management believes 
that the Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited by the contractual period for filing a notice on cancellation of an unused 
portion of a credit line.  

As a result of this contingency, the above amounts do not necessarily represent the future cash outflow. Measurement of 
the ECL allowance for such facilities is made only for issued loan tranches. 

In 2021, it was decided, with regards to loans issued to borrowers classified as small and medium-sized businesses, to provide 
tranches under the credit line without a preliminary analysis of the financial condition, provided that the analysis and issuance 
of the last tranche are given within less than 6 months prior to the date of the next issuance. ECL allowance were formed by 
the Company for such credit lines. 

19. Interest revenue on loans to customers 
In 2021, interest revenue on loans to customers comprised KZT 53,679,123 thousand (in 2020: KZT 48,766,478 thousand), 
including net modification loss arising from changes in contractual cash flows of loans to customers not resulting in 
derecognition of KZT 6,869 thousand (in 2020: net modification gain of KZT 3,447,724 thousand). 

In 2020, losses on modification of contractual terms of loans to customers were mainly a result of suspension of payments of 
principal and interest amounts on loans to customers affected by imposition of the state of emergency in the Republic of 
Kazakhstan due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  
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20. Credit loss expense 
The table below shows the ECL charges on finance instruments recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for 
the year ended 31 December 2021: 

 Note 
2021 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
       
Cash and cash equivalents 5 (1,209) − − (1,209) 
Amounts due from credit institutions  17 − − 17 
Loans to customers 7 1,402,209 (624,074) (1,923,423) (1,145,288) 
Investment securities 8 (4,618) − − (4,618) 
Other financial assets  6,566 − (15,730) (9,164) 
Contingent liabilities 13 (15,169) − − (15,169) 
Credit loss expense  1,387,796 (624,074) (1,939,153) (1,175,431) 

The table below shows the ECL charges on finance instruments recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for 
the year ended 31 December 2020: 

 Note 
2020 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
       
Cash and cash equivalents 5 46,740 − − 46,740 
Amounts due from credit institutions  367 − − 367 
Loans to customers 7 2,374,678 (3,340,911) (3,211,658) (4,177,891) 
Investment securities 8 (4,013) − − (4,013) 
Other financial assets  (35,501) − − (35,501) 
Credit loss expense  2,382,271 (3,340,911) (3,211,658) (4,170,298) 

21. Personnel and other operating expenses 
Personnel and other operating expenses comprise the following 

 2021 2020 
    
Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 11,890,782 8,328,778 
Social security contribution 1,053,489 873,465 
Personnel expenses 12,944,271 9,202,243 
    
Payment processing services 1,226,666 493,530 
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 10, 11 and 12) 1,098,223 1,058,451 
Professional services 861,431 537,235 
Security 338,559 268,045 
Communication and information services 239,329 232,714 
Office supplies 236,585 253,420 
VAT expense 212,848 177,920 
Lease 183,731 149,256 
Taxes other than corporate income tax 179,571 189,047 
Repair and maintenance 149,681 55,106 
Advertising and marketing 143,114 98,352 
Business trips 132,573 49,424 
Bank fees 117,506 93,300 
Insurance 66,729 64,453 
Transportation 63,049 56,697 
Other 55,750 68,245 
Encashment 53,262 58,298 
Expenses for corporate events 27,089 1,053 
Trainings for personnel 15,068 8,437 
Brokerage service 12,635 6,819 
Membership fees 3,251 14,888 
Charity 1,887 24,833 
Other operating expenses 5,418,537 3,959,523 
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16. Debt securities issued 
Debt securities issued comprise: 

 2021 2020  
    
Debt securities issued at KASE 10,404,322 − 
Less: unamortised discount (34,000) − 
 10,370,322 − 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company’s debt securities comprise unsecured coupon bonds placed under the first bond 
program with the aggregate nominal value of KZT 10,000,000 thousand. The bonds are denominated in tenge, bear interest 
rate of 13% per annum and mature in 2023. 

17. Equity 

Charter capital 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company’s paid and outstanding charter capital was equal to 
KZT 14,430,993 thousand.  

Dividends 

In accordance with Kazakhstan legislation, the Company’s distributable funds are limited to the balance of retained earnings 
as recorded in the Company’s statutory financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS or the amount of profit for 
the year in case of the accumulated loss. Distribution will not be performed if the amount of Company’s equity becomes 
negative as a result of the distribution, or entails the insolvency and bankruptcy of the Company. 

In accordance with the requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan legislation, as at 31 December 2021 the funds available 
for distribution amounted to KZT 26,743,856 thousand (as at 31 December 2020: KZT 32,070,277 thousand). 

In accordance with the decision of the General Shareholders’ Meeting held on 22 April 2021 and 23 July 2021, the Company 
declared and paid dividends in cash in the amount of KZT 19,133,039 thousand. No dividends were declared or paid in 2020. 

Reserve funds 

In accordance with the decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders held on 4 May 2012, the reserve fund is formed 
during the year and should be at least 5% of the charter capital at the beginning of the reporting year. 

In 2021, the Supervisory Board of the Company approved the transfer to the amount of KZT 221,558 thousand from retained 
earnings to reserve fund (in 2020: KZT 254,668 thousand). As at 31 December 2021 the reserve fund amounted to 
KZT 1,197,776 thousand (in 2020: KZT 976,218 thousand). 

18. Commitments and contingencies 

Political and economic environment 

The Republic of Kazakhstan continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as 
required by a market economy. The future stability of the Kazakhstan economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and 
developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the Government. 

Due to continuing COVID-19 pandemic, there remains uncertainty about further development of the pandemic and its 
duration, as well as the extent of possible economic recovery in the near term. The Government continues to take various 
measures, and their influence continues to develop. Therefore, the management of the Company continuously assesses the 
increased risks, as well as the consequences of the pandemic and the measures taken by the government. 

Insurance 

The insurance industry in the Republic of Kazakhstan is in a developing stage and many forms of insurance protection 
common in other parts of the world are not yet generally available. The Company does not have full coverage for business 
interruption, or third party liability in respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on the Company 
property or relating to the Company operations. Until the Company obtains adequate insurance coverage, there is a risk that 
the loss or destruction of certain assets could have a material adverse effect on operations and financial position of the 
Company. 
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Market risk (continued) 

Currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The amounts in USD are presented below: 

 
31 December 

2021 
31 December 

2020 
Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 97,555 249,972 
Other assets 18,747 2,105 
Total assets 116,302 252,077 
    
Liabilities   
Amounts due to credit institutions 18,069,524 7,723,188 
Other liabilities 3,795 201 
Total liabilities 18,073,319 7,723,389 
Net position (17,957,017) (7,471,312) 
    
Impact of derivative financial instruments held for the purpose of risk 

management 17,811,750 7,411,650 
Net position adjusted for impact of derivative financial instruments  

held for the purpose of risk management (145,267) (59,662) 

The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Company had significant exposure at 31 December on its non-trading 
monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement 
of the currency rate against tenge, with all other variables held constant on profit or loss (due to the fair value of currency 
sensitive non-trading monetary assets and liabilities). The effect on equity does not differ from the effect on the statement of 
profit or loss. All other variables are held constant. The negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in profit 
or loss or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. 

 2021 

Currency 

Change in 
exchange rates  

in % 
Effect on profit 

before tax 

Change in 
exchange rates  

in % 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
      
US dollar 13.00% (18,885) -10.00% 14,527 
 
 2020 

Currency 

Change in 
exchange rates  

in % 
Effect on profit 

before tax 

Change in 
exchange rates  

in % 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
      
US dollar 14.00% (8,353) -11.00% 6,563 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Company will incur a loss because its customers or counterparties failed to discharge their 
contractual obligations. The Company manages and controls credit risk by using the approved policies and procedures that 
include the requirements for setting limits on concentration of the risk exposure and establishment of the credit committees, 
the functions of which include active monitoring of credit risks. The credit policy is approved by the shareholders.  

Credit policy includes the following information: 

• Procedures for consideration and approval of loan applications; 

• Methodology for assessing creditworthiness of borrowers; 

• Methodology for evaluating proposed collateral; 

• Requirements for the loan documentation; 

• Procedures for ongoing monitoring of loans and other products exposed to the credit risk.  
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Introduction (continued) 

Risk management structure (continued) 

Risk mitigation 

As part of its overall risk management, the Company uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures resulting 
from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies and exposures arising from forecast transactions. 

Excessive risk concentration 

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same 
geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be 
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the 
Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. 

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risks, the Company’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines to focus 
on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market 
prices. Market risks comprise currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. Market risk arises from open positions in 
interest rate, currency and equity financial instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and 
changes in the level of volatility of market prices. 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, whilst 
optimising the return on risk. 

The ALCO headed by the Chairman of the Management Board is responsible for market risk management. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 
The Company is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position 
and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes, but may also reduce or create losses in the event 
that unexpected movements occur. 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The management of interest rate risk, based on an interest rate gap analysis, is supplemented by monitoring the sensitivity of 
financial assets and liabilities. An analysis of the sensitivity of profit or loss before taxes and equity to changes in interest rates 
(interest rate risk), based on a simplified scenario of a 100 basis point symmetrical fall or rise in all positions of interest − 
bearing assets and liabilities with floating interest rate existing as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, is as follows: 

 2021 2020 

 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
Effect on profit 

before tax 
    
100 basis point parallel increase (53,330) (31,320) 
100 basis point parallel decrease 53,330 31,320 

 
  

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

33 

22. Risk management 

Introduction 

Risk management is inherent in the Company’s activities and is an essential element of the Company’s operations. Market 
risk, which includes interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, form the major risk faced by the 
Company in the course of its activities. The Company’s risk management policies aim to identify, analyse and manage the risks 
faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor continuously risk levels and adherence to 
limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and 
services offered and emerging best practice. 

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment, technology and 
industry. They are monitored through the Company’s strategic planning process. 

Risk management structure 

Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk strategies and 
principles. 

Board Risk Committee 

The Risk Committee has the overall responsibility for the development of the risk strategy and principles, frameworks, policies 
and limits. It is responsible for the fundamental risk issues and manages and monitors relevant risk decisions. 

Board Audit Committee  

The main purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the effective implementation of control functions over the financial 
and economic activities of the Company by the Supervisory Board, evaluate the adequacy of the internal control system, and 
monitor the effectiveness of internal and external audit activities. 

Management Board 

The Management Board has the responsibility to monitor and manage the overall risk process within the Company. 

Executive Assets and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) 

The management level Assets and Liability Management Committee (hereinafter − the “ALCO”) of the Company is 
responsible for the overall assets and liability management, for control of prudential norms and covenants, for managing 
funding strategy, for managing and reporting on financial and non-financial risks. 

Treasury 

The Company’s Treasury is responsible for carrying out the transactional aspects of assets and liability management and for 
managing the balance sheet structure. It is also primarily responsible for implementing the funding and liquidity strategy of 
the Company. 

Internal control (audit) 

Risk management processes throughout the Company are audited by the internal audit function, that examines both the 
adequacy of the procedures and the Company’s compliance with the procedures. Internal Audit discusses the results of all 
assessments with management, and reports its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee. 

Risk measurement and reporting systems 

Credit, market and liquidity risks are managed and controlled through a system of Credit Committees and the ALCO, both at 
the portfolio and individual transaction levels. For improving the efficiency of decision-making process, the Company has 
established a hierarchy of credit committees depending on the type and amount of risk exposure. Both external and internal 
risk factors are identified and managed throughout the organisational structure of the Company. 

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Company. These limits reflect the 
business strategy and market environment of the Company as well as the level of risk that the Company is willing to accept, 
with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition the Company monitors and measures the overall risk bearing 
capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and activities. 

For all levels throughout the Company, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure that 
all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information.  
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

The Company monitors individual loans and other credit risks on an ongoing basis. 

In addition to the analysis of individual borrowers, the Company evaluates the total loan portfolio in terms of the credit and 
market risk exposure. 

The maximum level of the Company’s credit risk is best reflected in the carrying value of financial assets in the statement of 
financial position and amounts of unrecognised contractual obligations. The possibility of offsetting assets and liabilities is 
not material for reducing potential credit risk. 

Where financial instruments are measured at fair value through profit and loss, the carrying value represents the current credit 
risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 

Impairment assessment  

The Company calculates ECL on a group basis according to the mirgation matrix adjusted for the impact of the 
macroeconomic factors to measure the expected cash shortfalls, discounted at the effective interest rate or its approximate 
value. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key 
elements are as follows: 

Probability of Default (PD) 

The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only happen at 
a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously derecognised and is still in the portfolio. 

Exposure at Default (EAD) 

The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes in the 
exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, 
expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed payments. 

Loss Given Default (LGD) 

The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from the 
realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. 

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit loss 
or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance is based 
on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The 12mECL is the portion of LTECL that represent the ECLs that result 
from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both LTECL 
and 12mECL are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of the underlying 
portfolio of financial instruments.  

The Company has established a methodology to perform an assessment at the end of each reporting period, of whether a 
financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of 
default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. Based on the above process, the Company groups its 
loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described below: 

Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Company recognises an allowance based on 12mECL. Stage 1 loans also 
include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2 and/or 
Stage 3. 

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Company records an allowance 
for the LTECL. Stage 2 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been 
reclassified from Stage 3. 

Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The Company records an allowance for the LTECL. 

POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial 
recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and interest income is subsequently 
recognised based on a credit-adjusted effective interest rate. ECL are only recognised or released to the extent 
that there is a subsequent change in the lifetime ECL. During 2021 and 2020 and as at 31 December 2021 and 
2020, the Company did not have any POCI loans.  
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Impairment assessmet (continued) 

Definition of default and cure 

The Company considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL calculations in the 
following cases: 

• The borrower becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments; 

• The borrower is deceased; 

• A material decrease in the underlying collateral value where the recovery of the loan is expected from the sale of the 
collateral; 

• Suspension of accrual of nominal interest on the loan because of deterioration of the borrower’s financial condition 
or filing a lawsuit; 

• The loan is restructured because of deterioration of financial condition of the borrower; 

• The borrower (or any legal entity within the borrower’s group) filing for bankruptcy. 

The Company considers amounts due from credit institutions defaulted and takes immediate action when by closing of the 
business day there is a default on the bank’s obligations to pay interests and principal amount of the deposit, as well as 
non-execution of money transfers according to the payment orders of the Company for more than 60 days, as well 
downgrading of the credit ratings assigned by international rating agencies. 

It is the Company’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3 when none 
of the default criteria have been present for at least two consecutive months.  

Exposure at default 

The EAD represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to the impairment calculation, addressing 
both the client’s ability to increase its exposure while approaching default and potential early repayments too. To calculate the 
EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Company assesses the possible default events within 12 months for the calculation of the 
12mECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI financial assets, the exposure at default is considered for events over the lifetime of 
the instruments. 

The Company determines EADs by analyzing statistical information on previous repayments on each loan in order to 
determine the average EAD ratio by product. The PDs are then assigned to each loan depending on the region of segmentation 
and product according to the PD calculation model based on the migration matrix.  

The credit facility agreements stipulate the right of the Company to unilaterally withdraw from the agreement should any 
conditions unfavourable to the Company arise. Thus, the agreements do not represent a firm commitment of the Company 
to provide a loan. Measurement of credit loss allowance for such facilities is made only for issued loan tranches.  

The interest rate used to discount the ECLs for loans is based on the average effective interest rate that is expected to be 
charged over the expected period of exposure to the facilities.  

Loss given default 

LGD rates are estimated for all assets. LGD is measured at least once a year by the risk management specialists and is revised 
and approved by the Company’s Management Board based on the results of validation of the allowance assessment models. 

The credit risk assessment is based on a standardised LGD assessment framework. The LGD rates take into account the 
expected EAD in comparison to the amount expected to be recovered or realised from any debt collection. 

For LGD assessment purposes the Company uses historical data on the repayments of defaulted loans segmented by product 
type. The Company rarely faces the sale of collateral, therefore, in the LGD model, the Company does not use the expected 
cash flows from its sale, but uses statistical recovery payments made by the borrowers after default. Analysis of macroeconomic 
factors showed the absence of a linear correlation of LGD and macroeconomics. Segmentation by geographical location of 
borrowers as well as type of collateral, does not provide a proper statistical result, however, the LGD model undergoes a 
standard annual validation process in order to determine whether new dependencies and segmentation can improve the 
accuracy of the model. 
  

“Microfinance organization “KMF” Limited Liability Company Notes to the financial statements for 2021 

(In thousands of tenge, unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

38 

22. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Impairment assessmet (continued) 

Significant increase in credit risk 

In order to determine whether an instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12mECL or LTECL, the Company 
assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Company deems that the 
credit risk have increased significantly since initial recognition in the following cases:  

• Contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. 

• Existing or projected adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to significantly 
change the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 

• Actual or expected adverse change in the regulatory, economic or technological environment of the borrower’s 
operation, etc. 

• Downgrading of the credit rating of a credit institution, in which there are balances on deposits and current accounts, 
to “CCC” level. 

• Non-fulfillment by the credit institution of obligations to pay interests and principal amount on the deposit, as well as 
non-execution of money transfers according to the payment orders of the Company for more than 30 days. 

In 2021, the Company revised indicators of significant increase in credit risk and does not automatically consider the credit 
risk to have significantly increased in the case of a loan modification being part of the Government support measures. 

Grouping financial assets measured on a collective basis 

Dependent on the factors below, the Company calculates ECLs either on a collective or on an individual basis.  

Asset classes where the Company calculates ECL on an individual basis include: 

• Treasury and interbank relationships (such as amounts due from credit institutions and cash equivalents). 

• Exposures that have been classified as POCI when the original loan was derecognised and a new loan was recognised 
as a result of a credit driven debt restructuring. 

Stage 3, significant individual loans, as well as assets placed in other credit institutions, are assessed for impairment taking into 
account the scenario analysis. 

For all other classes of asset, the Company calculates ECL on a collective basis. 

The Company groups these exposures into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on a combination of internal and external 
characteristics of the loans, for example, product type and borrower’s industry. 

Forward-looking information and multiple economic scenarios 

For the purposes of calculating the ECL allowance as at 31 December 2021, the Company took into account the expected: 

• Measures of state support to the population and business; 

• Impact of changes in the economic environment on various sectors of the economy; 

• Updated forecast of changes in GDP. 

The Company obtains the forward-looking information from third party sources (external rating agencies, governmental 
bodies e.g. national banks, and international financial institutions). 

Macroeconomic forecast data affect both the main components of ECL (for example, PD assessment) and assessment of 
factors used for collective measurement at the stage. 

During development of the model and its subsequent validation (at least on an annual basis), both the completeness of used 
components of ECL exposed to the significant influence of macroeconomic factors, and the significance of used macro 
variables are verified. This process is described in the qualitative part of the validation methodology. The results of this 
verification may lead to identification of additional macroeconomic factors that require forecasting. 

The validation process also helps to determine the extent to which the use of a single scenario will not be sufficient due to the 
non-linear influence of macroeconomic factors on the estimated credit losses.  
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Impairment assessmet (continued) 

Forward-looking information and multiple economic scenarios (continued) 

As at 31 December 2021, the Company applied the baseline and pessimistic scenario for determining PD. To calculate PD 
under the baseline scenario, the Company used the GDP forecast for 2022 as a macroeconomic factor, which is equal to 2.6% 
(in 2020 2.45%). To calculate PD under the pessimistic scenario, the Company used its own historical statistics of defaults 
during the crisis periods. The effect of the implementation of the pessimistic scenario as at 31 December 2021 is equal to 
KZT 131.686 thousand (as at 31 December 2020 KZT 221,686 thousand). 

Credit quality by class of financial assets  

The table below presents an analysis of credit quality by class of financial assets as at 31 December 2021. 

 Note  
High 
grade 

Standard 
grade 

Sub-
standard 

grade Impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents, except 

for cash on hand 5 Stage 1 − 6,161,851 − − 6,161,851 
Amounts due from credit 

institutions  Stage 1 − 23,854 − − 23,854 
Loans to customers: 7       
- Retail trade, services and 

production loans 
 Stage 1 − 81,557,309 488,863 − 82,046,172 
 Stage 2 − − 117,278 − 117,278 
 Stage 3 − − − 940,872 940,872 

- Agricultural loans  Stage 1 − 63,203,005 131,818 − 63,334,823 
 Stage 2 − − 80,985 − 80,985 
 Stage 3 − − − 761,133 761,133 

- Consumer loans  Stage 1 − 14,110,751 110,332 − 14,221,083 
 Stage 2 − − 35,452 − 35,452 
 Stage 3 − − − 215,283 215,283 

Investment securities 8 Stage 1 4,663,222 − − − 4,663,222 
Other financial assets 13 Stage 1 − 63,318 − 2,728 66,046 
Total   4,663,222 165,120,088 964,728 1,920,016 172,668,054 

The table below presents an analysis of credit quality by class of financial assets as at 31 December 2020. 

 Note  
High 
grade 

Standard 
grade 

Sub-
standard 

grade Impaired Total 
Cash and cash equivalents, except 

for cash on hand 5 Stage 1 − 4,773,283 − − 4,773,283 
Amounts due from credit 

institutions  Stage 1 − 23,608 − − 23,608 
Loans to customers: 7       
- Retail trade, services and 

production loans 
 Stage 1 − 67,053,358 135,481 − 67,188,839 
 Stage 2 − − 500,579 − 500,579 
 Stage 3 − − − 1,332,101 1,332,101 

- Agricultural loans  Stage 1 − 53,652,690 75,430 − 53,728,120 
 Stage 2 − − 349,991 − 349,991 
 Stage 3 − − − 804,047 804,047 

- Consumer loans  Stage 1 − 11,998,815 34,892 − 12,033,707 
 Stage 2 − − 61,268 − 61,268 
 Stage 3 − − − 315,087 315,087 

Investment securities 8 Stage 1 2,090,882 2,025,163 − − 4,116,045 
Other financial assets 13 Stage 1 − 51,459 − 16,715 68,174 
Total   2,090,882 139,578,376 1,157,641 2,467,950 145,294,849 

In the table above cash and cash equivalents (excluding cash on hand), amounts due from credit institutions and loans 
customers of high grade are those having a minimal level of credit risk, normally with a credit rating on or close to sovereign 
level or very well collateralised. Credit institutions and borrowers with good financial position and good debt service are 
included in the standard grade. Sub-standard grade comprises loans below standard grade but not individually impaired.  

See Note 7 for more detailed information with respect to the ECL allowance of loans to customers.  
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Credit quality by class of financial assets (continued) 

Grace period and concessional financing 

Support for individuals, small- and medium-sized businesses following imposition of the state of emergency 

In accordance with the Order of the Chairman of the Agency No. 167 dated 26 March 2020 On Approval of the Procedure for 
Suspension of Payments of Principal Amounts and Interest on Loans to Customers, Small- and Medium-sized Businesses Affected by Imposition 
of the State of Emergency (taking into account amendments and additions No. 193 dated 17 April 2020 and No. 223 dated 26 May 
2020), the grace period for repayment of the principal and interest under microcredit agreements was provided for payments 
for the period from 16 March 2020 to 15 June 2020, with the allocation of deferred payments for future periods. 

In accordance with the Order of the Chairman of the Agency No. 251 dated 15 June 2020 On Additional Measures to Support 
Small- and Medium-sized Businesses (subject to amendments and additions No. 311 dated 3 August 2020), the grace period for 
repayment of the principal amount under microcredit agreements was provided for payments falling for the period from 
15 June 2020 to 1 October 2020 (but not less than 3 months, unless otherwise specified in the borrower’s application), the 
grace period for repayment of interest under microcredit agreements was provided for payments falling for the period from 
15 June 2020 to 1 October 2020, with the allocation of deferred payments for future periods. 

Payments of principal and interest during grace periods from 16 March 2020 to 15 June 2020 (inclusive) and from 15 June 
2020 to 1 October 2020 (inclusive) were deferred as follows: 

• On unsecured loans to individual borrowers, the interest accrued on the outstanding balance during the grace period 
was spread until the end of the term of the contract. To maintain the debt burden and prevent an increase in the 
monthly payment, the loan term was extended for the corresponding period; 

• For secured loans of individuals, the interest accrued on the outstanding balance within the grace period was spread 
until the end of the term of the contract. To maintain the debt burden and prevent an increase in the monthly payment, 
the loan term was extended for the corresponding period; 

• On overdue loans as at 16 March 2021, the amount of overdue principal, overdue interest and interest accrued on 
overdue principal were spread until the end of the loan term. The decision to grant deferral on loans with overdue for 
more than 90 days to borrowers who are not socially vulnerable, recipients of targeted social aid, registered unemployed, 
was made by the authorised body of the Company individually for each loan. 

The Company did not charge any commissions or other fees for consideration of the application for granting a grace period.  

The grace period was granted on the basis of the borrower’s application (in any form containing the reason for the suspension 
of payments) and submitted to the Company by any available means in the period from 16 March 2021 to 1 October 2021 
(inclusive). At that, it was not required to receive an application from borrowers belonging to socially vulnerable segments of 
the population, recipients of targeted social aid, and registered unemployed, but with the information and consent of the 
borrower in accessible ways, without the requirement of supporting documents; 

Granting of the grace period was carried out: 

a) Without receiving and attaching conclusions of expert units to the credit files; 

b) Without signing additional agreements with borrowers and without applying commission and other fees to borrowers. 
Additional agreements with a new repayment schedule were signed with borrowers after cancellation of the emergency 
when the borrower applied to the Company’s branch. 

The table below shows the number of client accounts that are subject to the government programs as at 31 December 2020: 

 

Retail trade, 
services and 

production 
loans 

Agricultural 
loans 

Consumer 
loans Total 

Grace period     
Number of pending applications − − − − 
Number of approved applications 33,914 21,480 9,458 64,852 
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

Credit quality by class of financial assets (continued) 

Grace period and concessional financing (continued) 

Support for individuals, small- and medium-sized businesses following imposition of the state of emergency (continued) 

The table below shows the gross carrying amount and the corresponding ECL by Stages for loans to customers that are subject 
to grace period provided under the government programs as at 31 December 2020: 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Grace period     
Retail trade, services and production loans     
Gross carrying value 21,347,719 859,969 1,712,302 23,919,990 
ECL allowance (271,605) (394,429) (1,074,167) (1,740,201) 
      
Agricultural loans     
Gross carrying value 12,305,471 541,850 677,071 13,524,392 
ECL allowance (81,919) (217,733) (380,658) (680,310) 
      
Consumer loans     
Gross carrying value 2,827,017 68,911 254,359 3,150,287 
ECL allowance (21,803) (21,701) (123,801) (167,305) 
      
Total     
Gross carrying value 36,480,207 1,470,730 2,643,732 40,594,669 
ECL allowance (375,327) (633,863) (1,578,626) (2,587,816) 

The carrying amount of components of the statement of financial position, including derivatives, without the influence of risk 
mitigation through the use of master netting agreements and collateral agreements, most accurately reflects the maximum 
credit exposure on these components. 

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value, their carrying amounts represent the current credit risk exposure but 
not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values. 

For more detail on the maximum exposure to credit risk for each class of financial instrument, references shall be made to 
the specific notes. 

As at 31 December 2021, the above government support programs have been completed. 

The geographical concentration of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is set out below: 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 Kazakhstan OECD 

CIS and  
other foreign 

countries Total Kazakhstan OECD 

CIS and  
other foreign 

countries Total 
Assets         
Cash and cash 

equivalents 6,257,217 − − 6,257,217 4,815,542 − − 4,815,542 
Amounts due from 

credit institutions 23,854 − − 23,854 23,608 − − 23,608 
Derivative financial 

assets − 485,041 − 485,041 − 187,845 − 187,845 
Loans to customers 161,753,081 − − 161,753,081 136,313,739 − − 136,313,739 
Investment securities 4,663,222 − − 4,663,222 4,116,045 − − 4,116,045 
Other financial assets 66,046 − − 66,046 68,174 − − 68,174 
 172,763,420 485,041 − 173,248,461 145,337,108 187,845 − 145,524,953 
Liabilities         
Amounts due to credit 

institutions 34,418,076 89,480,873 − 123,898,949 14,253,484 87,574,508 − 101,827,992 
Debt securities issued 10,370,322 − − 10,370,322 − − − − 
Lease liabilities 608,268 − − 608,268 582,407 − − 582,407 
Other financial 

liabilities 4,605,021 2,455 1,340 4,608,816 3,608,443 − − 3,608,443 
 50,001,687 89,483,328 1,340 139,486,355 18,444,334 87,574,508 − 106,018,842 
Net assets/ 

(liabilities) 122,761,733 (88,998,287) (1,340) 33,762,106 126,892,774 (87,386,663) − 39,506,111 
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events. When controls fail to 
perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or can lead to financial loss. 
The Company cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but a control framework and monitoring and responding to 
potential risks could be effective tools to manage the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access rights, 
authorization and reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk exists when the emperical maturities of 
assets exceed the maturities of liabilities. The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of 
assets and liabilities is fundamental to liquidity risk management. It is unusual for financial institutions ever to be completely 
matched since business transacted is often of an uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially 
enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses. 

The Company maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be available at all times to honour 
all cash flow obligations as they become due. Liquidity management policy is reviewed and approved by the Management 
Board. 

The Company seeks to actively support a diversified and stable funding base comprising long-term and short-term loans from 
other banks, as well as diversified portfolios of highly liquid assets, in order to be able to respond quickly and smoothly to 
unforeseen liquidity requirements. 

The liquidity management policy requires: 

• Projecting cash flows by major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary in relation thereto. 

• Maintaining a diverse range of funding sources. 

• Managing the concentration and profile of debts. 

• Maintaining debt financing plans. 

• Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any interruption 
to cash flow. 

• Maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans. 

• Monitoring liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements. 
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22. Risk management (continued) 

Liquidity risk (continued) 

Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities  

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 December based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 

As at 31 December 2021 
On demand and 

less than 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 6 months 6 to 12 months From 1 to 5 years Total 
        
Financial liabilities       
Amounts due to credit institutions 7,178,064 12,790,318 19,384,814 35,592,386 65,572,033 140,517,615 
Debt securities issued − 649,791 − 649,791 11,299,525 12,599,107 
Lease liabilities 29,577 86,861 86,101 161,792 366,393 730,724 
Other financial liabilities 3,955,246 134,011 137,490 287,074 149,759 4,663,580 
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 11,162,887 13,660,981 19,608,405 36,691,043 77,387,710 158,511,026 
 

As at 31 December 2020 
On demand and 

less than 1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 6 months 6 to 12 months From 1 to 5 years Total 
        
Financial liabilities       
Amounts due to credit institutions 3,180,824 12,412,490 14,461,602 29,673,930 59,796,071 119,524,917 
Lease liabilities 31,649 94,097 88,855 153,003 342,078 709,682 
Other financial liabilities 1,540,336 178,007 986,357 250,173 653,570 3,608,443 
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 4,752,809 12,684,594 15,536,814 30,077,106 60,791,719 123,843,042 
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23. Fair value measurements 
The estimate of fair value is intended to approximate the amount for which a financial instrument can be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. However, considering the uncertainties and the use of 
judgements, the fair value should not be interpreted as realisable within the framework of an immediate sale of assets or the 
transfer of liabilities. 

The estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities are calculated using discounted cash flow techniques based on 
estimated future cash flows and discount rates for similar instruments at the reporting date. 

Fair value hierarchy 

For the purpose of disclosing the fair values, the Company determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the assets and 
liabilities nature, characteristics and risks as well as the hierarchy of fair value sources. 

 Date of valuation 

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 

(Level 1) 

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2) 

Significant 
non-

observable 
inputs 

(Level 3) Total 
As at 31 December 2021      
Assets measured at fair value      
Investment securities 31 December 2021 4,663,222 − − 4,663,222 
Derivative financial assets 31 December 2021 − 485,041 − 485,041 
Investment property 15 December 2021 − − 66,958 66,958 
       
Assets for fair which values are 

disclosed      
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 2021 − 6,257,217 − 6,257,217 
Amounts due from credit 

institutions 31 December 2021 − 23,854 − 23,854 
Loans to customers 31 December 2021 − − 161,489,975 161,489,975 
Other financial assets 31 December 2021 − − 66,046 66,046 
       
Liabilities for which fair values 

are disclosed      
Amounts due to credit institutions 31 December 2021 − 121,475,815 − 121,475,815 
Debt securities issued 31 December 2021 − 10,370,322 − 10,370,322 
Lease liabilities 31 December 2021 − − 608,268 608,268 
Other financial liabilities 31 December 2021 − − 4,608,816 4,608,816 
       
As at 31 December 2020      
Assets measured at fair value      
Investment securities 31 December 2020 2,090,882 2,025,163 − 4,116,045 
Derivative financial assets 31 December 2020 − 187,845 − 187,845 
Investment property 1 December 2020 − − 52,992 52,992 
       
Assets for fair which values are 

disclosed      
Cash and cash equivalents 31 December 2020 − 4,815,542 − 4,815,542 
Amounts due from credit 

institutions 31 December 2020 − 23,608 − 23,608 
Loans to customers 31 December 2020 − − 136,263,870 136,263,870 
Other financial assets 31 December 2020 − − 68,174 68,174 
       
Liabilities for which fair values 

are disclosed      
Amounts due to credit institutions 31 December 2020 − 98,082,671 − 98,082,671 
Lease liabilities 31 December 2020 − − 582,407 582,407 
Other financial liabilities 31 December 2020 − − 3,608,443 3,608,443 

During 2021 and 2020, the Company did not make transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments.  
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23. Fair value measurements (continued) 

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value 

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments that 
are not carried at fair value in the statement of financial position. The table does not include the fair values of non-financial 
assets and non-financial liabilities. 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Fair  
value 

Unrecogni-
sed gain/ 

(loss) 
Carrying 
amount 

Fair  
value 

Unrecogni-
sed gain/ 

(loss) 
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 6,257,217 6,257,217 − 4,815,542 4,815,542 − 
Amounts due from credit 

institutions 23,854 23,854 − 23,608 23,608 − 
Loans to customers 161,753,081 161,489,975 (263,106) 136,313,739 136,263,870 (49,869) 
Other financial assets 66,046 66,046 − 68,174 68,174 − 
        
Financial liabilities       
Amounts due to credit 

institutions 123,898,949 121,475,815 2,423,134 101,827,992 98,082,671 3,745,321 
Debt securities issued 10,370,322 10,370,322 − − − − 
Lease liabilities 608,268 608,268 − 582,407 582,407 − 
Other liabilities 4,608,816 4,608,816 − 3,608,443 3,608,443 − 
Total unrecognised 

change in fair value   2,160,028   3,695,452 

Methods of measurement and assumptions 

The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments 
which are not recorded at fair value in these financial statements. 

Assets and liabilities for which fair value approximates to carrying value 

For financial assets and financial liabilities that are liquid or having a short term maturity (less than three months) it is assumed 
that the carrying amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and savings 
accounts without a specific maturity. 

Derivatives 

Derivatives valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs are mainly currency swaps. The most frequently 
applied valuation techniques include swap models using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs 
including the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves. 

Investment securities 

Fair value of the quoted bonds is based on price quotations at the reporting date. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 

The fair value of unquoted instruments, including loans to customers, amounts due from credit institutions, amounts due to 
credit institutions, other financial assets and lease liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates as at 
measurement date for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. 
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24. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled. See 
Note 22 for the Company’s contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 
Within  

one year 
More than 

one year Total 
Within  

one year 
More than 

one year Total 
        
Cash and cash equivalents 6,257,217 − 6,257,217 4,815,542 − 4,815,542 
Amounts due from credit 

institutions 23,854 − 23,854 23,608 − 23,608 
Derivative financial assets − 485,041 485,041 − 187,845 187,845 
Loans to customers 61,449,652 100,303,429 161,753,081 56,084,990 80,228,749 136,313,739 
Investment securities 191,818 4,471,404 4,663,222 4,116,045 − 4,116,045 
Investment property − 66,958 66,958 − 52,992 52,992 
Property and equipment − 7,615,716 7,615,716 − 7,304,210 7,304,210 
Right-of-use assets − 555,282 555,282 − 526,822 526,822 
Intangible assets − 469,539 469,539 − 432,678 432,678 
Current corporate income tax assets 256,837 − 256,837 43,539 − 43,539 
Deferred corporate income tax 

assets − 113,880 113,880 − − − 
Other assets 663,270 1,231 664,501 489,986 − 489,986 
Total 68,842,648 114,082,480 182,925,128 65,573,710 88,733,296 154,307,006 
        
Amounts due to credit institutions 65,480,014 58,418,935 123,898,949 49,865,412 51,962,580 101,827,992 
Debt securities issued 404,322 9,966,000 10,370,322 − − − 
Current corporate income tax 

liabilities − − − − 30,834 30,834 
Lease liabilities 271,788 336,480 608,268 280,199 302,208 582,407 
Other liabilities 5,456,278 138,807 5,595,085 3,667,997 653,570 4,321,567 
Total 71,612,402 68,860,222 140,472,624 53,813,608 52,949,192 106,762,800 
Net position (2,769,754) 45,222,258 42,452,504 11,760,102 35,784,104 47,544,206 

25. Related party transactions 
In accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering 
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. 

Related parties may enter into transactions which unrelated parties might not. Transactions between related parties may not 
be effected on the same terms, conditions and amounts as transactions between unrelated parties. 

Major shareholder 

Major shareholder of the Company is Corporate Fund “KMF-Demeu” (the “Fund”). 

The founder of the Fund is ACDI/VOCA, a non-profit organization registered in the United States of America, which 
prepares its financial statements available to external users. 

Transactions with shareholders 

Transactions with other related parties comprise transactions with the Company’s shareholders (Note 1). 

The balances and average effective interest rates as well as the corresponding gain or loss on transactions with other related 
parties are as follows: 

 Shareholders 

 
31 December 

2021 
Average annual 
interest rate, % 

31 December 
2020 

Average annual 
interest rate, % 

Statement of financial position     
Liabilities     
Amounts due to credit institutions in tenge 22,790,390 13.18% 8,131,840 17.17% 
      
Statement of comprehensive income     
Interest expense (2,650,696) − (1,272,137) − 
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25. Related party transactions (continued) 

Transactions with the members of key management personnel, including the Company’s participants 

Below is the information about compensation of 9 members of key management personnel: 

 2021 2020 
    
Salaries and other short-term benefits 447,434 289,291 
Social security costs 34,518 27,639 
Total compensation to the key management personnel 481,952 316,930 

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, key management personnel did not receive any non-cash remuneration. 

 
31 December  

2021 
Average annual 
interest rate, %  

31 December  
2020 

Average annual 
interest rate, % 

Statement of financial position     
Assets     
Loans to customers  14,652 19.1% 69,099 19.44% 

Amounts included in profit or loss in relation to transactions with members of the key management personnel, including the 
Company’s participants, are as follows: 

 2021 2020 
Statement of comprehensive income   
Interest revenue 6,678 8,912 

26. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities during the year ended 31 December 
2021 is as follows: 

 
1 January  

2021 
Net cash 

flows  

Foreign 
currency 

translation  Other  
31 December  

2021 
Amounts due to credit 

institutions 101,827,992 21,721,427 239,505 110,025 123,898,949 
Debt securities issued − 9,975,221 − 395,101 10,370,322 
Total liabililities from 

financing activities 101,827,992 31,696,648 239,505 505,126 134,269,271 

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities during the year ended 31 December 
2020 is as follows: 

 
1 January  

2020 
Net cash 

flows  

Foreign 
currency 

translation  Other  
31 December  

2020 
Amounts due to credit 

institutions 106,473,047 (5,016,536) 855,636 (484,155) 101,827,992 
Total liabililities from 

financing activities 106,473,047 (5,016,536) 855,636 (484,155) 101,827,992 

The “Other” line includes the effect of accrued, but not yet paid interest on amounts due to credit institutions. The Company 
classifies interest paid as cash flows from operating activities. 

27. Capital adequacy 
In accordance with the Law of the Republic of Kazakhsan On Microcredit Organisations dated 26 November 2012, the Company 
is obliged to have the charter capital paid in the amount not less than 30,000 times the monthly calculation index (MCI) equal 
to 2,917 tenge as at 31 December 2021 (as at 31 December 2020: 2,778 tenge). 

In addition, in accordance with the credit agreements with certain foreign financial institutions, the Company must maintain 
a ratio of capital to total assets at the level of not less than 15%. 
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28. Capital adequacy (continued) 
The Company maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of the 
Company’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios established by the NBRK in supervising the 
Company. 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company had complied with all its externally imposed capital requirements. 

The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management are to ensure that the Company complies with externally 
imposed capital requirements and that the Company maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to 
support its business and to maximise profit for shareholders. 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of its activities.  

The NBRK requires microfinance organizations to maintain a Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio in the amount of not less than 
10% of the assets. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company’s capital adequacy ratio based on the NBRK methodology 
exceeded the statutory minimum. 

The Company’s capital adequacy ratio, computed in accordance with the NBRK requirements as at 31 December, comprise: 

 
31 December  

2021 
31 December  

2020 
    
Tier 1 capital 42,452,504 47,544,206 
Total assets 182,925,128 154,307,006 
Tier 1 capital ratio 0.23 0.31 

28. Subsequent events 
On 2 January 2022 protests started in Mangystau region of Kazakhstan related to significant increase in the liquified natural 
gas retail price. These protests spread to other cities and resulted in riots, damage to property and loss of life. On 5 January 
2022 the government declared a state of emergency. 

As a result of the above protests and state of emergency the President of Kazakhstan has made certain public announcements 
regarding possible measures including amendments to the tax legislation, introducing measures for financial stability, 
controlling and stabilizing the inflation rate and the tenge exchange rate. 

On 19 January 2022 the state of emergency was lifted in all regions. The Company is currently unable to quantify what the 
impact, if any, may be on the the Company’s financial position of any new measures the government may take or any impact 
from the effect on the Kazakhstan economy as a result of the above protests and state of emergency. 

In February 2022, due to the conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine, numerous sanctions were announced 
against the Russian Federation by the US, EU and UK. These sanctions aim to have a negative economic impact on the 
Russian Federation.  

Due to the growth of geopolitical tension, there has been a significant growth of volatility in the stock and currency markets, 
as well as a significant depreciation of tenge against the US dollar and Euro since February 2022. On 24 February 2022, the 
Monetary Policy Committee of the National Bank of Kazakhstan made an extraordinary decision to raise the base rate to 
13.5% per annum with an interest band of +/-1%. 

The Company considers these events as non-adjusting events after the reporting period, the quantitative effect of which 
cannot be reliably measured at the moment. 

The Company’s management is currently assessing the degree of impact of micro and macroeconomic conditions on the 
Company’s financial position and results of its operations. 
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